Climate and Land Use Planning:

A Policy Guide for U.S. States and Territories



Climate and Land Use Planning:

A Policy Guide for U.S. States and Territories

Acknowledgements

We are grateful for expert contributions from many individuals. Mark Teschauer, senior policy advisor, Transportation and Cassaundra Rose, policy advisor, Natural & Working Lands at the U.S. Climate Alliance, led this work with support from staff at Climate Resilience Consulting and Smart Growth America.

This guide was informed by interviews with 29 experts from academia, city and state governments, federal agencies, city and county associations, and environmental and conservation organizations, as well as guidance and direction from an advisory committee comprised of Alliance state staff. They include Kelly Blynn, Colorado Energy Office; Dunbar Carpenter, Massachusetts Executive Office of Energy & Environmental Affairs; Bronwyn Cooke, Vermont Department of Housing and Community Development; Judith C. East, Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation & Forestry; Rachel Lamb, Maryland Department of the Environment; Dan Lawler, Washington Department of Ecology (formerly); Cody Meyer, Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development; Bailey Recktenwald, North Carolina Office of the Governor (formerly); and Doug Scott, Illinois Commerce Commission. Staff across Alliance member government agencies and offices also provided valuable feedback and input during draft reviews.

For more information, see www.usclimatealliance.org

Published February 2025. Copyright © 2025 United States Climate Alliance. All Rights Reserved.

Photo Credits: All photos are sourced from iStock unless noted otherwise.

Table of Contents

Abbreviations and Acronyms	
Executive Summary	5
1. Introduction	8
2. Foundational Principles	11
2.1 Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Sequester Carbon, and Improve Climate Resilience	12
2.2 Protect Natural and Working Lands	15
2.3 Transform Systems to Build Social Equity	16
3. Policy Outcomes	18
3.1 Location-Efficient Development	19
3.2 Healthy and Resilient Natural and Working Lands	29
3.3 Climate-Resilient Development	34
4. Governance Strategies	41
4.1 Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning	43
4.2 Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making	50
4.3 Stakeholder Engagement and Partnership	55
Conclusion	60
References	61

Abbreviations and Acronyms

CFA	Climate-Friendly Areas
CFEC	(Oregon's) Climate Friendly and Equitable Communities
CRD	Climate-resilient development
DelDOT	Delaware Department of Transportation
DOT	Department of Transportation
EV	Electric vehicle
FEMA	Federal Emergency Management Agency
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GW	Gigawatts
HMDRRI	(North Carolina) Hurricane Matthew Disaster Recovery and Resilience Initiative
LED	Location-efficient development
LMI	Low- and moderate-income
MBTA	Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority
MiPlace	The Community Development Unit of Michigan's Economic Development Corporation
MPO	Metropolitan Planning Organization
MVP	(Massachusetts) Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness (Program)
NBS	Nature-based solutions
NWL	Natural and working lands
SC-GHG	Social cost of greenhouse gases
SGP	Sustainable Growth Policy (of Maryland)
SLR	Sea level rise
TDR	Transfer of development rights
TOD	Transit-oriented development
UGB	Urban growth boundary
VMT	Vehicle miles traveled
WSDOT	Washington State Department of Transportationland-urban interface
WUI	Wild-urban interface
ZEI	Zero-emissions infrastructure



Executive Summary

Land use planning is a powerful tool to help states meet their greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions targets and become more climate resilient. Lands and land use patterns play a significant role in managing GHG emissions and carbon sequestration. How lands are used and managed informs and affects decarbonization efforts and long-term climate resilience across nearly every economic sector.

The complex intersectional and interdisciplinary nature of land use policy means these decisions create widespread effects on the economy, environment, and society. State and territory ("state") efforts to address climate change through land use policies offer significant co-benefits that can improve quality of life and well-being in communities and ecosystems. These co-benefits may include improved housing affordability and job accessibility, clean energy siting, clean drinking water, flood and coastal zone management, reduced wildfire risk exposure, access to open space and recreational opportunities, and an increased focused on equity.

This *Climate and Land Use Planning Guide* ("Guide") will help states understand how they can use and manage lands in ways that support meeting cross-sectoral climate resilience goals and net-zero targets. The Guide provides policy recommendations for states and territories that build on a Land Use Planning Framework ("Framework") grounded in three Foundational Principles designed to encourage systems thinking and collaborative action. Using these principles, states will better understand the implications of policy choices and actions, as well as how to overcome challenges they may face in implementing climate-resilient policies.

The three Foundational Principles of climate-aligned land use planning are:

- Reduce GHG Emissions, Sequester Carbon, and Improve Climate Resilience: Prioritizing emissions reductions, carbon sequestration, and climate resilience across all sectors in land use planning can help states realize their climate goals. Co-benefits of committing to these efforts can include enhanced quality of life in many communities.
- 2. Protect Natural and Working Lands (NWL): Elevating protection of NWL in land use planning encourages more efficient land use by prioritizing development opportunities in existing communities and on already developed or disturbed lands. A dedicated focus on protecting NWL also helps ensure their consideration in land use planning across all sectors.
- 3. Transform Systems to Build Social Equity: Focusing on social equity in climate and land use policies ensures that communities most vulnerable to climate change impacts are centered in policy decisions and climate actions. A social equity focus creates opportunities for states to address historical injustices stemming from past discriminatory land use policy decisions and practices, while avoiding perpetuation of these inequities.

Policy Outcomes for Land Use Planning

Building on these three Foundational Principles, the Guide also includes a suite of policies for states to consider to help meet their climate goals. Policy focus areas include:

1. Location-Efficient Development (LED): LED helps ensure that the design and development of communities and infrastructure work together to reduce GHG emissions and avoid the conversion of NWL. LED includes considerations around infill and compact development, clean and renewable energy and infrastructure siting, and integrated transportation and land use planning. Through LED, states can expand access to affordable energy-efficient housing and lower-carbon transportation options, increase community resilience by avoiding development in high-risk areas, and address a wide range of social equity considerations. LED policies can help states:

- Leverage regulatory and legislative tools to remove barriers to locationefficient housing and infrastructure.
- Develop programs and policies to mitigate displacement.
- Encourage infrastructure siting in ways that minimize land conversion.
- Provide funding and other incentives for location-efficient housing projects and infrastructure.
- Integrate location efficiency requirements and considerations in local and regional planning.
- Support and link investments in transportation infrastructure and accessibility with climate and land use.
- 2. Healthy and Resilient Natural and Working Lands: Preservation of NWL, including restoration, conservation, and protection from conversion to development, helps enhance their ability to deliver emissions reductions, carbon sequestration, and adaptation benefits while remaining ecologically functional and viable. Healthy NWL provide key climate services for communities and ecosystems, including carbon storage, flood mitigation, local food, improved air and water quality, connected habitat, and more. These lands also increase access to green spaces and ease disproportionate impacts of extreme heat, contributing to improved social equity outcomes. Healthy NWL policies can help states:
 - Incorporate NWL and natural climate solutions into state planning and investments.
 - Utilize zoning and nature conservation policies to realize NWL protection and restoration.
 - Incentivize and fund programs to support private landowner and municipal conservation.
 - Promote strategic land management and conservation to meet multiple climate goals.
 - Maximize nature-based solutions (NBS) to climate risks.
 - Support ecosystem resilience and habitat.
- Climate-Resilient Development (CRD): CRD helps ensure that communities and infrastructure are more resilient to a changing climate and extreme weather events. CRD integrates climate resilience considerations and requirements throughout

the development process, including urban planning, infrastructure development, natural resource management, and long-term disaster recovery. CRD policies can help states:

- · Leverage land use policy to support climate resilience and preparedness.
- Reduce disparate outcomes of disaster recovery systems.
- · Limit new development and siting of buildings and assets in high-risk areas.
- Consider community-centered relocation and managed retreat tools, programs, and policies to support high-risk communities.
- Leverage NBS for adaptation benefits.
- Integrate climate resilience in local and regional planning.

Governance Strategies for Land Use Planning

The Guide also offers Governance Strategies that can help states facilitate climate- and land use-informed decision- and policymaking. Recommended Governance Strategies focus on:

- Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning: Collaboration among government teams and leaders in various sectors helps identify land use policies and actions to address the climate crisis. Practices that foster collaboration lead to strategic alignment among a diverse group of leaders and experts, leveraging the specific expertise of each contributor to realize climate and land use policy outcomes. Cross-sectoral and intergovernmental planning strategies enable states to:
 - · Develop an actionable state-level framework around climate and land use.
 - Support climate action in local and regional planning.
 - Create flexibilities and opportunities for customizable local and regional government programs and requirements.
 - Provide technical assistance and support to local and regional planning organizations and elevate regional programs.
 - Integrate and coordinate climate and land use with housing and infrastructure policies.
 - Establish forums for consensus-building and collaboration with interdisciplinary and intergovernmental partners.

- 2. Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making: Incorporating tools to project, measure, and evaluate the potential impacts of land use policy interventions can help states create decision frameworks to determine which policies can best support climate and land use efforts. Data-informed approaches include quantifying impacts and benefits (such as GHG emissions, non-GHG emissions, and cobenefits), using data to guide decision-making, and tracking progress over time to determine success. With data-driven planning and decision-making, states can:
 - Foster a culture of developing policies and making decisions based on informed projections and demonstrated outcomes.
 - Prioritize comprehensive emissions quantification methods and approaches, including for carbon sequestration.
 - Leverage cost-benefit analyses and other impact quantification approaches.
 - Incentivize or require data-driven land use decision-making at the local level.
 - Establish or contribute to centralized open-source data platforms to promote transparency and accessibility to the public.
 - Identify metrics and establish performance targets around climate, land use, and equity.
- 3. Stakeholder Partnership and Engagement: Establishing partnerships and engaging with stakeholders helps shape, advance, and communicate the benefits of climate and land use planning. Engagement strategies can help states connect stakeholders to these efforts, work through and address stakeholder concerns, and develop effective relationships with communities and other groups. Stakeholder partnership and engagement efforts help ensure that states can:
 - Partner with Tribes, Tribal Governments, and Indigenous Peoples.
 - Empower communities and build capacity.
 - Support models of equitable local engagement and community understanding.
 - Communicate the benefits of climate and land use planning outcomes to broad audiences.

Using the Foundational Principles, Policy Outcomes, and Governance Strategies detailed in this Guide, states can build on this Framework, which supports efforts to protect NWL, maximizes emissions reductions, and builds ecosystem and community resilience.



1. Introduction

Land use planning is a powerful tool to help states meet their greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions targets and become more climate resilient. Lands and land use patterns play a significant role in managing GHG emissions and carbon sequestration, and help communities strengthen their ability to prevent, reduce, withstand, and recover from climate-related impacts. The complex, intersectional, and interdisciplinary nature of land use policy means that these decisions have widespread effects on the economy, environment, and society. Additionally, state and territory ("state")ⁱ efforts to address climate change through land use policy provide opportunities to address other policy challenges, such as housing affordability, clean energy siting, clean drinking water, flood and coastal zone management, wildfire risk exposure, access to open space and recreational opportunities, and equity, providing significant co-benefits that can improve quality of life and well-being of communities and ecosystems.

i While there may be instances where "state" is referring to an individual state, all other future instances of the words "state" or "states" moving forward are inclusive of "territory" or "territories" as well.

Terminology Used In This Guide

This Climate and Land Use Planning Guide ("Guide") discusses land use and land management in the context of state and local planning processes. The phrase "land use" may evoke connotations of unsustainable or extractive practices among some communities and cultures in the United States. Some readers may instead prefer the term "land management" to emphasize a lens of reciprocity and responsibility for sustained care and management. Use of the term "land use" in this Guide is intended to refer generally to how states plan for the management, use, or disuse of lands to achieve climate goals, and aims to be inclusive of the preferred terminology in respective states.

This Guide offers a roadmap for understanding how land use planning and policies can facilitate the achievement of emissions reduction targets and climate resilience outcomes across all sectors. It leverages systems thinking to navigate the complex landscape of land use policy, illustrating different policy options and implementation strategies across sectors and throughout all levels of government. The Guide recognizes that while differing land use policy goals may create cross-sectoral tensions, states can use the approaches outlined here to help balance market and policy trade-offs; work with local and regional governing bodies toward shared goals; serve different constituent needs; create complementation challenges and opportunities.

The policy options in this Guide are built on a Land Use Planning Framework ("Framework") illustrated in Figure 1. The themes outlined in Figure 1 are addressed in this Guide. The Foundational Principles provide a Framework to foster systems thinking in climate and land use efforts.^{II} Each Foundational Principle informs the menu of options highlighted in the Policy Outcomes and Governance Strategies sections. The Policy Outcomes establish a vision for the long-term effects of intentional climate and land use policies. The Governance Strategies help refine this vision with state-level context, consensus-building, and examples of action. The Policy Outcomes section includes a suite of policies that can help states meet climate goals. Policy focus areas include:

- 1. Location-Efficient Development: The design_and development of communities and infrastructure in a manner that reduces GHG emissions while avoiding the conversion of natural and working lands (NWL).
- 2. Healthy Natural and Working Lands: Land use decisions that enhance the ability of NWL to deliver emissions reductions, carbon sequestration, and climate adaptation benefits while remaining ecologically functional and viable.
- 3. Climate-Resilient Development: The intentional design and development of communities and infrastructure to make them more resilient to a changing climate, reduce their exposure to extreme weather events, and help keep people safe from harm.

Similarly, the Governance Strategies section includes approaches states can use to facilitate climate- and land use-informed decision- and policymaking. These strategies include:

- 1. **Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning:** Establishing practices that foster cross-sectoral and intergovernmental collaboration around common goals to address the climate crisis through land use.
- 2. Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making: Using tools to guide, measure, and evaluate the impacts and benefits of potential land use policy interventions and create decision frameworks to determine which policies best support climate and land use efforts.
- 3. Stakeholder Partnership and Engagement: Creating partnerships and working with stakeholders to shape, advance, and communicate the benefits of climate and land use planning.

Using the Foundational Principles, Policy Recommendations, and Governance Strategies detailed in this Guide, states can build on this Framework, which supports efforts to protect NWL, maximizes emissions reductions, and builds ecosystem and community resilience.

ii The Foundational Principle, "Transform Systems to Build Social Equity," is one of four U.S. Climate Alliance Member Commitments.

FIGURE 1 Framework for conceptualizing climate and land use planning in the Guide



Foundational Principles foster systems thinking.

- 1. Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Sequester Carbon, and Improve Climate Resilience
- 2. Protect Natural and Working Lands
- 3. Transform Systems to Build Social Equity

Policy Outcomes establish a long-term vision.

- 1. Location-Efficient Development
- 2. Healthy Natural and Working Lands
- 3. Climate-Resilient Development

Governance Strategies

facilitate and realize policy outcomes.

- 1. Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning
- 2. Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making
- 3. Stakeholder Partnership and Engagement



2. Foundational Principles

The Foundational Principles of land use planning in this Guide help encourage systems thinking and collaborative action around climate and land use policies. They inform recommendations for states to consider as they establish and move toward land use planning goals. Using these principles better positions states to understand the implications of various policy actions and to overcome challenges they may face in achieving long-term policy success.

2.1	2.1 Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Sequester Carbon,		
	and Improve Climate Resilience	12	
2.2	Protect Natural and Working Lands	15	
2.3	Transform Systems to Build Social Equity	16	

2.1 Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Sequester Carbon, and Improve Climate Resilience

Prioritizing emissions reductions, carbon sequestration, and climate resilience across all sectors is critical to land use planning that helps realize climate goals. Doing so can also provide significant co-benefits that enhance quality of life in communities. States may encounter trade-offs in realizing emissions reductions and resilience across sectors and in balance with other state goals. Systematic approaches to informed decision-making, cross-sectoral and intergovernmental collaboration, and stakeholder engagement can help facilitate achieving climate goals and objectives. The following are emissions benefits by sector, along with resilience benefits of integrating climate considerations into land use planning efforts.

Transportation

Location-efficient development (LED) policies provide for community design, development, and infrastructure investments that bring people, destinations, and services closer together. In practice, LED translates to more compact land development that enables and supports greater multimodal and lower-carbon transportation, such as active transportation, micromobility, and public transportation. This reduces the need for, and length of, car trips, which reduces vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and thus emissions.¹ Creating communities where people can live, work, shop, and access services within proximity, such as transit-oriented development (TOD), helps reduce reliance on cars, expand transportation choice, and provide opportunities to improve physical and mental health outcomes in the process.^{2.3,4}

LED policies also support and complement vehicle electrification efforts. Zoning and permitting reforms can facilitate faster deployment of electric vehicle (EV) charging

infrastructure. Shorter-range, light-duty EVs with a lower total cost of ownership may become a more practical EV option for consumers as driving distances decrease,⁵ helping make EV ownership more affordable and accessible while combating concerns around range anxiety. Reduced driving demand will also reduce the amount of needed materials and critical minerals for all types of light-duty vehicles,^{6,7,8} helping to avoid associated manufacturing and end-of-life processing emissions while increasing critical mineral availability for other battery applications (e.g., medium- and heavy-duty EVs, grid energy storage). Additionally, as more consumers adopt EVs, reduced driving demand from more compact development will decrease charging loads on power grids.⁹

Siting development and transportation infrastructure away from high climate risk areas also creates opportunities for more compact development in lower-risk areas, reducing transportation emissions and improving community resilience. Efforts to leverage naturebased solutions (NBS) can help increase access to natural amenities in more compactly developed communities, improving quality of life and providing opportunities to improve active transportation safety outcomes.^{10,11,12}

Power and Industry

Within the power and industry sectors, several states have established renewable energy standards, 100 percent clean energy goals, and programs for carbon capture and storage, along with hydrogen and biofuel production and transportation. These initiatives may include location efficiency considerations, such as how and where to site zero-emissions infrastructure (ZEI) to complement efforts to protect NWL and maximize benefits to ecosystems and communities. Such initiatives must balance these efforts against the need to deploy these technologies at the rate required to meet climate and energy goals. Distributed energy resources, such as onsite solar, battery storage, and associated management systems, can encourage homeowners, businesses, and other facilities to produce and store energy onsite, reducing demand for grid electricity. These efforts help reduce the large-scale generation and transmission capacity needed to meet clean energy goals, as well as excess land consumption.

More compact development also encourages greater resource efficiency by reducing the emissions associated with manufacturing building and infrastructure materials such as concrete, steel, glass, and asphalt, as well as those from infrastructure operations and maintenance. Location-efficient communities require less infrastructure development for their maintenance versus location-inefficient communities where buildings are spread out and infrastructure requirements such as roads, water, sewer, and power are greater to serve fewer people on a per-mile basis.^{13,14,15} Similarly, co-located industrial facilities (industrial clusters), particularly those that support ZEI, can leverage shared infrastructure and resources, and increase process efficiencies, to help reduce emissions and advance decarbonization solutions.^{16,17}

Natural and Working Lands

Siting development away from areas at high risk for climate impacts and ecologically sensitive areas is highly complementary to advancing NWL sectoral goals. Limiting the conversion of NWL and encouraging development in strategic areas helps maintain natural carbon sinks, protect water sources and water quality, maintain floodplains, and preserve habitat for biodiversity. More compact development patterns and co-location of assets and facilities help reduce development pressure on NWL, particularly where development on already developed or disturbed lands is prioritized over greenfield development.^{III} Transportation investments that better support compact development also reduce pressure to develop NWL for roadways and highways.¹⁸

Preserving and restoring NWL for their resiliency benefits enhances their ability to support carbon sequestration, habitat and species resilience, biodiversity, and natural

resource-dependent industries such as farming, fishing, and forestry, as well as other intersectional goals. Natural areas help reduce energy and other resources required to treat drinking water sources. When conversion is unavoidable, prioritizing native plantings and vegetation cover advances emissions reductions and improves carbon storage in NWL. Additionally, maximizing NBS and increasing access to natural amenities in urban areas provides opportunities for physical exercise, social interaction, and quiet that improves quality of life and increases livability in more compactly developed communities.^{19,20}

Buildings

Location efficiency encourages energy- and resource-efficient building development. It reduces upstream emissions from materials because compact housing is often less material intensive,²¹ and can reduce operational emissions through more efficient building types, such as smaller housing units that consume less energy.²² Increasing opportunities for LED can provide communities with a mechanism to construct more buildings with stronger building codes and more efficient appliances. These opportunities offer health and safety benefits, increased energy efficiency, and the opportunity to support the Alliance goal of deploying at least 20 million heat pumps by 2030.²³ LED also creates opportunities for networked geothermal in building heating and cooling applications, which can be more energy efficient that conventional air-source heat pumps and reduce demand for additional grid generation and distribution.²⁴ Additionally, LED reduces water consumption by decreasing water use for lawn and landscape irrigation and reducing non-revenue water losses and associated wasted energy from leaking pipes.²⁵

Efforts to improve community resilience also offer energy-efficiency benefits for buildings. For example, urban tree planting provides a climate resilience function through evapotranspiration, which cools air and shades buildings, improving operations efficiency and reducing energy demand for cooling. Encouraging heat-resilient design in buildings can also improve building energy efficiency and weatherize homes.

For purposes of this Guide, greenfield development is synonymous with the conversion of NWL (i.e., "greenfields") to non-NWL uses.

Resilience

More compact development patterns reduce community climate exposure by decreasing the need for developments in areas that are highly susceptible to climate impacts, such as floodplains, wetlands, and the wildfire-prone wildland-urban interface (WUI).²⁶ Compact development, particularly with integrated green infrastructure, helps lessen the severity of extreme weather events on a regional scale and mitigate:

- Extreme heat and urban heat island effects, by decreasing the amount of developed land area that can absorb and amplify solar heat.²⁷
- Flooding severity, by decreasing the overall amount of impervious cover in watersheds and creating more permeable surfaces that can absorb, retain, and slowly release rain and floodwater.²⁸
- Declining water quality and quantity, by decreasing impervious cover and reducing stormwater runoff, as well as reduced pressure on green infrastructure.²⁹

Reducing car dependency and driving distances through more compact development can also mitigate urban heat island effects, since internal combustion engine vehicles radiate heat during and after operation.³⁰ Even when consumers drive more EVs powered by clean electricity, modeling suggests that a reduction in car dependency still contributes to reduced urban heat island effects.³¹ Additionally, siting power and industrial infrastructure away from high-risk areas, planning for climate-related disruptions, deploying hardening strategies like buried power lines, and mitigating risk in coastal zones when their development is unavoidable helps protect critical assets and investments built specifically for clean energy generation, distribution, and manufacturing. For example, planning for proper transmission siting and protection can reduce the need for public safety power shutoffs in conditions with increased wildfire risk, helping improve grid reliability when clean energy loads are added to transmission and distribution systems. These practices also protect community and ecosystem health by reducing the risk of unintentional releases of hazardous materials into the environment.

Improving the health of NWL contributes to improved resilience outcomes and mitigated risk. Wetlands can absorb energy and floodwaters to reduce adjacent and downstream flooding. As precipitation increases and sea levels rise, strategic NWL protection allows inland migration of coastal wetlands and preserves freshwater wetlands for their

hydrologic and habitat values, contributing to greater community resilience against storm surge force during extreme weather events. Natural areas also help protect water sources that may be in greater demand during drought. Healthy NWL practices such as regenerative and climate-smart agriculture improve the resilience of communities that depend on working lands protected through state land use policy decisions. NWL also ensure that residents have environments in which to recreate, which is important for mental and physical health.

At the community- and site-level, integrating natural features like native plantings, urban trees, and green roofs — and preserving natural drainage and stormwater pathways where possible — creates opportunities to increase resilience at smaller scales. Reducing impervious cover and the implementation of green infrastructure to avoid, reduce, or manage stormwater pollution helps to enhance water quality, protecting drinking water sources and supporting aquatic, marine, and terrestrial resources. Deploying heat-resilient design measures and technologies like heat pumps can achieve GHG emissions reductions and strengthen community resilience by making cost-effective cooling more available during heat waves. Because LED helps reduce water consumption, it empowers communities to better manage and conserve their water resources.

More compact development may also improve disaster response outcomes. Removing barriers to location-efficient and transit-oriented housing production helps people and communities displaced by natural disasters and mitigates housing affordability challenges after these disasters.³² Compact development can increase access to multimodal mobility options and increase redundancy in transportation networks, making communities less reliant on a single transportation mode or route in the network before, during, and after extreme weather events.³³ LED also makes it easier for community members to access critical services and resources such as cooling centers and resilience hubs, helping reduce their vulnerability.³⁴

2.2 Protect Natural and Working Lands

NWL are one of the most cost-effective and enduring solutions to the climate crisis. Framing climate and land use planning around their protection encourages more efficient use of land by prioritizing development opportunities in existing communities and on lands that are already developed or disturbed. Strategies such as LED can also help protect NWL by limiting greenfield development.

Protecting NWL preserves their climate benefits, and land use planning that prioritizes NWL maintenance helps protect communities from potential impacts associated with their conversion, including lost carbon storage, degraded ecosystem health and biodiversity, loss of access to nature and recreation, and less storage of floodwater and water filtration, among others. Protecting these lands to preserve their carbon, ecosystem, and extreme weather resilience services can also help communities and states reach their climate goals, protect built infrastructure, and reduce disaster recovery costs. As noted previously, climate-resilient development can advance efforts to protect NWL by leveraging their resiliency benefits and ability to mitigate impacts from extreme weather events.

Engaging state agencies, local and regional governments, Tribes, community partners, and other stakeholders with substantial interest in NWL in conversations about climate and land use policies offers opportunities to consider challenges and solutions for NWL protection across all sectoral planning processes. Preserving NWL not only supports efforts to achieve robust climate goals but also supports the health of native plant and animal species, promotes biodiversity, and strengthens ecosystems. Greater collaboration and decision-making frameworks across sectors and between levels of government can build a wider base of support for protecting NWL in a climate-aligned



manner. Intergovernmental and cross-sectoral coalitions can leverage comprehensive resources and policy tools to support climate and land use efforts that benefit NWL and achieve climate goals.

2.3 Transform Systems to Build Social Equity

A social equity focus in climate and land use policies helps ensure that communities most at risk from climate change impacts remain centered in discussions of the benefits of climate action. Communities of color and low-and moderate-income (LMI) communities are disproportionately exposed to climate risk and are overburdened by climate impacts in part because of discriminatory land use policies. Incorporating climate into land use policies creates opportunities for states to address historical injustices stemming from past discriminatory land use policy decisions and practices. It also helps ensure that future land use decisions do not further perpetuate these inequities. Designing policies with vulnerable communities in mind can lead to more sustainable and resilient climate solutions in the long term.

The current U.S. housing shortage has raised the profile of LED practices in many states interested in reducing barriers to housing development and increasing housing supply.^{iv} With greater housing development on less land, compact development creates conditions that allow increased affordable housing availability and production, particularly housing that is more energy efficient and thus more cost effective. LED also increases access to more affordable multimodal mobility options, giving those who cannot drive (due to disability, age, or other conditions or barriers) or cannot afford car ownership broader access to employment opportunities, as well as goods and services, even in rural communities.³⁵ LED also creates opportunities to reduce disparities in public

school performance and increase student access to higher-performing public schools.³⁶ With housing and transportation costs comprising about 50 percent of an average American household's expenditures,³⁷ LED practices help reduce the cost of living for all households, particularly LMI households. These practices also begin to address historical injustices stemming from past discriminatory land use and zoning policy decisions.^{38,39} LED efforts that leverage robust stakeholder engagement can help alleviate gentrification pressure and improve quality of life in communities while avoiding displacement.⁴⁰ This can help preserve the cultural identity of communities and avoid negative impacts associated with potential relocation to less location-efficient places.

LED strategies provide an opportunity to transform energy systems to build equity and achieve multiple climate and social objectives. Distributed energy systems such as rooftop solar on LMI households, recently boosted in 23 Alliance member states by the Solar For All program,⁴¹ can reduce household energy costs while reducing the need for new power generation or distribution. Building renewable energy facilities on previously disturbed lands, such as abandoned mines or brownfields, helps maximize land efficiency and turn blighted lands into community assets. These building practices can also address environmental injustices, potentially creating new jobs and economic development opportunities in communities. Pairing such practices with community solar programs can help consumers save money on energy bills if they are unable to install solar panels on their roofs. Community benefits agreements in clean energy project development increase opportunities to support a just transition and other equity benefits to communities.

iv Several examples exist, but for illustrative purposes some of these include: Colorado Office of Governor Polis, "More Housing Now: Governor Polis Signs Bills to Legalize ADUs and Create More Housing Near Transit," May 13, 2024; Maine Office Of Governor Mills, "Governor Mills Signs Bills to Address Maine's Housing Shortage," April 27, 2022; Maryland Office of Governor Moore, "Governor Moore Signs Housing Legislation to Make Maryland More Atfordable," April 25, 2024; Washington Office of Governor Inslee, "Washington "goes big" on housing in 2023," May 8, 2023.



NWL and NBS can support and build social equity by providing access to green spaces and local food sources, improving water and air quality, supporting rural and natural resource-dependent jobs, and increasing community resilience by mitigating urban heat, flooding, and other climate impacts. Greater access to natural amenities and facilities like parks and green spaces is also linked with improved mental and physical health.⁴² Yet access to nature and its benefits is distributed unequally across race and income.⁴³ For example, neighborhoods "redlined" under racially discriminatory housing policies from the 1930s through the 1960s tend to have less urban tree canopy today and are more vulnerable to extreme heat events.⁴⁴ Policies outlined in this Guide can support state efforts to address these and other access and equity issues in land use. These may include programs and funds that support equitable access to NWL, alongside conservation and restoration programs such as Great Outdoors Colorado,⁴⁵ California's Outdoor Equity Grants Program,⁴⁶ and the New Mexico Outdoor Equity Fund.⁴⁷ Protecting healthy NWL supports good water and soil quality and healthy drinking water for communities — particularly important issues in many disadvantaged communities.

While climate change affects all communities, LMI and disadvantaged communities bear a disproportionate share of these impacts and historically have fewer household and community resources to recover from disasters.⁴⁸ More climate-resilient development provides opportunities to address marginalization of LMI populations and disadvantaged

communities. These communities are often located in areas more prone to climate risk (such as floodplains), lack other protections afforded to more moderate- or higher-income communities (such as urban tree canopy), or are overburdened by poor air quality and pollution.

Transparent public processes to engage a range of state agencies, local and regional governments, and community partners on climate change and land use policies — and in developing equity-centered land use approaches — will help expand understanding of social equity's value in realizing long-term decarbonization goals and community resilience. These strategies will also enable states to better measure the equity implications of their work and foster deeper engagement with decision-makers in LMI and disadvantaged communities. Intergovernmental planning can help encourage collaboration between non-traditional partners; for example, between social service-focused departments and infrastructure departments, elevating the visibility of equity considerations in governance. Additionally, these strategies help facilitate state efforts to ensure that the needs of LMI communities are addressed in land use planning and help empower these communities to realize climate and land use goals.



3. Policy Outcomes

Policy Outcomes reflect the results of implementing the climate and land use planning practices detailed in the Guide, in accordance with each Foundational Principle. For each Policy Outcome, this Guide provides:

Overview: A high-level overview of the policy outcome the approach seeks to accomplish.

Policy Options: Policies that states can adopt and implement to achieve specific climate and land use outcomes, along with examples of policy approaches states have used.

3.1	Location-Efficient Development	19
3.2	Healthy and Resilient Natural and Working Lands	29
3.3	Climate-Resilient Development	34

3.1 Location-Efficient Development

Overview

Location-efficient development (LED) addresses the siting, development, and design of communities and infrastructure in a way that reduces GHG emissions and avoids the conversion of NWL. This approach prioritizes development and siting outcomes that:

- Improve land use efficiency, including minimizing land areas required to support development through more compact development, infill development, or co-location, as well as use of existing assets and infrastructure.
- Improve resource use efficiency in the process by reducing the amount of energy, water, materials, and other infrastructure needed to support development.

While the terms "location efficiency" and LED may be more commonly understood in the context of community and urban planning, and subsequently in transportation-sector decarbonization efforts,⁴⁹ this Guide also applies the idea of location efficiency in ZEI efforts, such as clean and renewable energy infrastructure siting, given the similar barriers and approaches to implementing LED efforts. Given the scale of clean energy deployment needed to meet state climate and clean energy goals, states may need to prioritize ZEI expansion over the protection of NWL in some areas while also considering impacts such as consumer electricity affordability. The policy recommendations in this Guide can help states leverage their efforts and minimize the need for NWL conversion for clean energy and other ZEI siting.

Policy Options

3.1.1

Leverage regulatory and legislative tools to remove barriers to location-efficient housing and infrastructure

Zoning and land use decisions are often controlled at the local level. Yet states have legislative and regulatory authorities that can reduce or remove barriers to LED. States can consider a suite of legislative actions and zoning reforms to overcome these barriers. In the transportation sector, approaches to reducing barriers may include revising single family-only zoning by allowing up to a certain number of units on single-family lots or allowing accessory dwelling units as a permitted use in most residential zones. Other approaches include eliminating or reducing minimum parking requirements, and allowing housing development in non-residential zones such as commercial or office zones, adaptive reuse, or on properties owned by faith-based institutions. States could explore opportunities outlined in the American Planning Association's Equity in Zoning Policy Guide to address barriers associated with lot and building dimensional standards, including minimum setbacks, maximum building coverage, maximum building heights, and minimum lot sizes to more readily allow the construction of affordable housing options in communities.⁵⁰ Vermont's Act 47, the HOME Act,^v as an example, establishes a state-level minimum lot size requirement of at least five dwelling units per acre for residential lots located in areas served by municipal water and sewer infrastructure.⁵¹

v The HOME Act also includes several of the housing-related zoning reforms described in this section.

Reforms in existing communities and designated growth areas — such as those already served by water and sewer infrastructure — can further encourage infill development. States may choose to target reforms in strategic locations, such as allowing mixed-use or large multifamily housing development within a certain distance of public transportation stops or stations, or within a certain distance of a community's central business district. Such reforms can include efforts to allow, or explore, building code changes that make it easier and more affordable to construct a wider range of multifamily buildings on a greater number of parcels, such as allowing single-stair multifamily buildings.⁵² States could also explore opportunities to translate the recommendations outlined in the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development's *Eliminating Zoning Barriers to Affordable Housing Guidebook* into municipal practice.⁵³ Several states, including non-Alliance members, have leveraged these approaches, which serve as models to inform state-level efforts elsewhere.

For ZEI in the power and transportation sectors, state-level efforts may include streamlining permitting for electric vehicle charging infrastructure and renewable energy generation, preempting local regulation on certain types of renewable energy and battery storage project siting, designating EV infrastructure as allowable uses in zoning districts, and requiring EV make-ready infrastructure in new buildings. As an example, Michigan's PA 233 creates a state certification process to streamline the deployment of renewable energy generation and storage projects.⁵⁴ This process preempts local regulation of these facilities while also supporting local government authorities where those authorities do not exceed state certification standards. As part of the state's construction certification process, applicants seeking to build renewable energy facilities on undeveloped land must identify feasible alternative developed locations, such as vacant industrial property and brownfields, and indicate why they were not chosen. In Illinois, HB 4412,55 which also preempts local regulation of commercial wind and solar energy facilities as part of facilitating implementation of SB 2408 (the *Climate and Equitable Jobs Act*),⁵⁶ allows local governments to regulate these facilities as long as regulations are not more restrictive than what is outlined in statute. New Jersey's S3223.57 which establishes numerical requirements and zoning standards for the installation of EV supply equipment and make-ready parking spaces, requires municipalities to adopt a model EV zoning ordinance developed by the state.58

States could also streamline permitting approval processes for LED-compatible projects. For example, "by-right" approval processes do not require discretionary review (approval by a public body subject to public hearings and potentially subjective approval criteria) if they strictly conform to zoning or development regulation. By-right can be effective in supporting LED because it lowers development costs by streamlining permitting and increasing the pace of implementation. States can set by-right policies and regulations to establish consistent statewide thresholds and criteria that align with and support state climate mitigation and adaptation priorities. California's AB 2011,⁵⁹ which allows the development of housing projects in areas zoned for office, retail, or parking uses, requires a ministerial review process (not subject to discretionary review) if projects meet specified objective site standards and affordability criteria. Additionally, states may consider other opportunities to streamline permitting for LED-compatible projects, such as in any statespecific environmental review requirements. Washington's SB 5412 authorizes counties and cities to consider infill development or housing development in designated growth areas to be "categorical exemptions" under the State Environmental Policy Act and exempt these projects from completing an environmental review.⁶⁰ States could also set timelines for review, such as California's AB 2221, which requires permitting authorities to complete review of accessory dwelling units within 60 days.61

Policymakers may also consider complementary policy, education, and awareness strategies to address community concerns and increase the likelihood of equitable outcomes using these regulatory and legislative tools. These opportunities help create buy-in in affected communities and can improve or refine policy approaches that accomplish similar goals.

3.1.2

Develop programs and policies to mitigate displacement

While more LED-aligned housing can improve overall housing affordability, it may create displacement pressure on LMI residents and businesses in localized areas, and result in the loss of existing affordable housing stock.⁶² Linking LED efforts with strategies to preserve housing affordability in existing communities can help states avoid these effects and realize more equitable outcomes. States can explore program funding opportunities,

and create guidance and develop resources for regional and local governments to better integrate these considerations into their work. One such example is the Washington State Department of Commerce's *Guidance to Address Racially Disparate Impacts*,⁶³ which provides guidance to communities in implementing new planning requirements in HB 1220,⁶⁴ and helps examine and address racially disparate impacts, displacement risk, and exclusion in housing policies and regulations. Similarly, states can establish and develop frameworks and metrics to assess displacement vulnerability at the state level. A white paper prepared for the California Air Resources Board summarizes the effectiveness of different anti-displacement strategies and offers guidance that other states may implement.⁶⁵ Other opportunities include deeper engagement with community members to inform community change,⁶⁶ along with the stakeholder and partner engagement strategies outlined in section 4.3, Stakeholder Engagement and Partnership, on page 55.

Establishing requirements and incentives for state grant and investment programs or exploring opportunities through other protections for displacement-vulnerable households are approaches states may take. States could establish funding requirements or scoring criteria in grant programs based on local government implementation of measures such as:

- Anti-displacement plans and policies.
- Inclusive zoning practices.
- Training programs that build capacity for local affordable housing developers.
- Data collection and monitoring and tracking systems.
- Rental and business protection programs.
- Tax exemptions for long-time homeowners in areas vulnerable to displacement.
- Support for community land trusts and community land banks.
- Other social support programs.

Tailoring requirements and incentives to target areas with higher displacement risks and challenges can help states protect these communities. States can also consider how to support local government implementation of any of these measures, particularly in lower-resourced areas, to improve access to such funding opportunities.

3.1.3

Encourage siting of infrastructure in ways that minimize land conversion

LED concepts can be applied to renewable energy siting such as wind farms, solar installations, hydroelectric facilities, geothermal plants, and transmission, as well as other infrastructure like carbon capture and storage facilities, through state siting frameworks that minimize negative impacts and maximize benefits for ecosystems and communities. Assessing environmental, social, economic, and technical factors and considerations helps ensure that renewable energy siting and transmission infrastructure supports and aligns with state land use and conservation priorities.

One such strategy involves leveraging existing assets and infrastructure to maximize generation and transmission capacity while minimizing the need to convert NWL. This can include deploying reconductoring, grid-enhancing technologies, co-location of infrastructure in existing rights-of-way, and identifying opportunities to install facilities on previously developed or disturbed lands, such as rooftops, landfills, brownfields, or abandoned mines. The latter set of policies can provide equity benefits by reducing household electricity bills, addressing environmental injustices, providing households with access to on-site energy generation and storage through decentralized solar during power outages, and creating new jobs and economic development opportunities. For example, New Jersey's A3352 requires newly constructed warehouses to be solar-ready buildings.⁶⁷ Pennsylvania's Grid-Scale Solar Siting Policy Statement prioritizes reuse and repurposing of previously impacted lands for hosting grid-scale solar development.⁶⁸ The state's Department of Environmental Protection, which conducted an Assessment of Solar Development on Previously Impacted Mine Lands in Pennsylvania,⁶⁹ has deepened its understanding of the challenges and opportunities associated with solar development on previously mined lands. Massachusetts also published a guide targeted to municipalities on developing solar photovoltaics on landfill sites.⁷⁰ Additionally, the Minnesota Department of Transportation (DOT) constructed a community solar garden on agency property at a former gravel pit site⁷¹ and worked with partner organizations on a feasibility study of co-locating high-voltage direct current transmission lines and broadband in highway rights-of-way.⁷² This feasibility study informed updates to statute to allow the construction, placement, and maintenance of high voltage transmission lines along highway rights-of-way.73,74

Renewable energy technologies — such as offshore wind, solar-over-canal projects, micro hydropower projects in existing man-made waterways, and floating solar on man-made water bodies — may offer feasible alternatives to land-based generation infrastructure. States can also encourage agrivoltaics practices, which co-locate agriculture and solar energy production. These practices can keep active agricultural and farmlands in production, potentially increasing yields for some crops and supporting livestock grazing while increasing solar panel efficiency.⁷⁵ New York State has compiled resources and information on agrivoltaics best practices and applications for different agricultural practices.⁷⁶ Other opportunities include exploring the biodiversity of solar sites, as well as solar site management practices that provide biodiversity benefits. Minnesota's Habitat Friendly Solar Program,⁷⁷ which was initially created through HF 3353,⁷⁸ supports the establishment of habitat for pollinators, songbirds, and other species, in addition to project co-benefits such as water management, grazing, and soil health.

Statewide analytical frameworks can help states identify suitable and unsuitable locations for infrastructure siting to avoid NWL conversion and minimize climate and other impacts. Strategies can include examining where conversion of NWL for ZEI may negatively impact equity and identifying opportunities to avoid NWL conversion unless environmental and equity impacts from these conversions are effectively mitigated. The Nature Conservancy conducted spatial modeling of potential future clean energy developments in a report and found it is possible to achieve net-zero goals nationally when expanding clean energy production while minimizing impacts to the environment and communities.⁷⁹ Their modeling also indicated that substantial clean energy expansion can be achieved with a 70 percent reduction in environmental and community impacts compared to a baseline "business-as-usual" scenario. Their report also found that there is no one-size-fits-all strategy for clean energy expansion, and that regional and state-level analyses are necessary to identify the most appropriate solutions for different regions.

Other opportunities for states to explore include supporting the deployment of networked geothermal systems for interconnected ground-source heat pumps for district and community-scale heating and cooling applications. Massachusetts has established safety guidelines for this type of infrastructure, funded its deployment, and required local gas distribution companies to evaluate non-gas alternatives rather than invest in new natural

gas infrastructure.⁸⁰ Through SB 1699,⁸¹ Illinois convened stakeholders and developed a *Thermal Energy Network Report*,⁸² which includes information on other state efforts and regulatory frameworks on this topic. In Connecticut, the state partnered with a regional nonprofit to explore workforce development approaches to supporting geothermal growth and technology deployment.⁸³

While siting practices offer opportunities to avoid converting NWL, rural residents and other affected communities may oppose efforts to site renewable energy and battery storage infrastructure. Opposition often reflects concerns about impacts to landowners' livelihoods and property values, among other reasons. Incorporating engagement strategies such as those described in Section 4.3 Stakeholder Engagement and Partnership in the "Support models of equitable local engagement and community understanding" section on page 57 can help states better understand and address stakeholder issues and concerns that may arise during this work.

3.1.4

Provide funding and other incentives for location-efficient housing projects and infrastructure

States can support transportation decarbonization by implementing a range of funding programs, incentives, and tools that promote sustainable land use practices and foster community-centric development. Strategies include funding investments in areas with high potential for LED and that support the development of more equitable outcomes for affordable housing and transportation access. One example is Pennsylvania's Department of Community & Economic Development, which manages the Transit Revitalization Investment District program initially established under HB 994.⁸⁴ This program, currently administered through the Municipal Assistance Program,⁸⁵ supports local government planning studies that facilitate TOD and community revitalization efforts. In Vermont, four state agencies^{vi} partner to manage the Better Connections Program, which provides technical assistance and funding to local communities for planning

vi These include the Vermont Agency of Transportation, Department of Housing and Community Development, the Department of Public Health, and the Department of Environmental Conservation.

efforts to increase multimodal transportation options that improve land use, water quality, public health, and economic vitality.⁸⁶ Connecticut's Municipal Redevelopment Authority, empowered through Public Act 23-204,⁸⁷ provides a mechanism for municipalities to receive financial assistance for development projects in housing growth zones or in areas encompassing transit stations or downtowns, if the local zoning regulations facilitate substantial new housing development. Additionally, states could provide funding to communities to support any infrastructure upgrades needed to more easily accommodate compact or infill development, such as the suite of funding opportunities offered through Massachusetts's Community One Stop for Growth application portal.⁸⁸

California's Prohousing Designation Program,⁸⁹ which incentivizes municipalities to pursue housing policy changes that encourage development of housing at all income levels, includes greater location-efficient housing development. Prohousing-designated communities can receive funding under the Prohousing Incentive Pilot program, as well as priority processing or funding points when applying for several state funding programs. Other states could leverage this approach for regional and municipal-level infrastructure investments and grants by providing priority processing or funding points tied to the presence of LED-friendly zoning and land use policies. These incentives may also promote energy-efficient and sustainable development practices, helping ensure that investments further contribute to creating vibrant, resilient, and affordable communities. Alternatively, states may establish requirements for funding programs that make potential applicants ineligible to receive funds if they have policies in place that restrict LED or housing production. As an example, the Massachusetts HousingWorks Infrastructure Program,⁹⁰ established through H.43 and part of the Community One Stop for Growth,⁹¹ limits eligibility for applicants with adopted housing moratoria or other restrictive bylaws that do not allow for at least a five percent increase in housing units over a single year. States may also consider supporting location-efficient housing through incentives or financing oriented toward the private and non-profit sectors. Colorado's HB24-131392 created an affordable housing in transit-oriented communities income tax credit, which is awarded to qualified low-income housing projects located in state-defined transitoriented communities.

For clean and renewable energy deployment, states have opportunities to incentivize siting in areas that avoid the conversion of NWL. Since electricity grids and land ownership vary substantially across the U.S., the best mix of clean energy technologies

will also vary regionally. Analyses like The Nature Conservancy's Power of Place provide a starting point for states to assess which technologies, land protection considerations, and incentives may be most appropriate for their area.⁹³ Illinois's Coal to Solar Energy Storage Grant Program,⁹⁴ created through the *Climate and Equitable* Jobs Act,⁹⁵ incentivizes the installation of energy storage facilities at five former coal plant sites. To support community solar, states may encourage project siting on already disturbed or degraded lands, or on existing development. Maryland's Community Solar Pilot Program,⁹⁶ for example, creates separate program capacity for systems built on brownfields, parking lots, or industrial areas. Incentive programs to support distributed energy resource deployment, such as Minnesota's Battery Storage Incentive Program, which funds battery storage systems that are paired with solar energy systems, are also options.⁹⁷ States could offer incentives to encourage clean energy projects with robust ratepayer benefits and community benefits agreements that increase buy-in for these projects and create more equitable outcomes. The U.S. Department of Energy has created a Community Benefit Agreement Toolkit,98 which provides guidance and resources for interested state and local officials on encouraging and increasing these practices in clean energy project development efforts.

3.1.5

Integrate location efficiency requirements and considerations in local and regional planning

Since states enable local governmental land use and zoning authority,⁹⁹ they play an important role in establishing requirements for local and regional plans and zoning codes through legislation and regulation. States could require or otherwise encourage local and regional governments to integrate LED in their land use and transportation planning processes and documents. Such efforts can include requirements to prioritize development in existing communities, transit-rich areas, or in designated location-efficient areas; requirements to specifically reduce transportation-sector emissions by leveraging integrated transportation and land use planning; and establishing statewide land use goals around renewable energy production that municipalities must consider in their comprehensive planning efforts. States could also enable local government efforts by defining goals, requirements, and implementation starting points, and by offering

regulatory relief and resources such as tools and guidance, model codes and ordinances, and technical assistance to execute this work. For example, Vermont developed a zoning guide to expand housing opportunities in and around designated centers,¹⁰⁰ and provides funds to municipalities through the Bylaw Modernization Grants program, to implement best practices and help address the state's housing crisis.¹⁰¹ See page 44 for additional examples of support for climate action in local and regional planning.

3.1.6

Support and link investments in transportation infrastructure and accessibility with climate and land use

Land use and transportation are intrinsically linked. Changes in land development patterns affect transportation options and demand and can shift travel behavior and patterns. Investments in, and changes to, transportation infrastructure affect land values and influence land use development patterns. Transportation-related LED practices included in this Guide focus on creating conditions for greater multimodal transportation use. Yet including transportation planning considerations in broader climate and land use efforts helps ensure the latter's success. Efforts to support multimodal infrastructure and better link transportation and land use planning, in turn, support LED efforts.

California DOT's *California Transportation Plan 2050* highlights the importance of such integrated planning.¹⁰² The plan notes that by combining more efficient land use strategies with transportation-related strategies, greater VMT reduction benefits can be achieved than by individual VMT reduction strategies. While transportation agencies may not typically have a leading role in land use decisions, their decisions can affect where and how land is used and developed. Minnesota DOT recognized this in its *2022 Statewide Multimodal Transportation Plan* and identified a series of actions to support integrated planning,¹⁰³ as have other state DOTs seeking to support investments in multimodal infrastructure. For example, the Oregon DOT, in partnership with the Department of Land Conservation and Development, manages the Transportation and Growth Management Program to help local governments across Oregon plan long-term, sustainable growth in their transportation systems.¹⁰⁴ The program, primarily funded through federal transportation dollars, provides grants to support planning efforts that link land use and transportation.

Public transportation service in general creates a "land use effect" that can encourage more LED. Research from the Transportation Research Board found that U.S cities would need to consume 37 percent more land area to house their populations if public transportation service was nonexistent.¹⁰⁵ Essentially, public transportation service confers enough accessibility benefits to encourage households and businesses to locate nearby, encouraging more compact development, as noted in a 2009 study by the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, a public benefit corporation of New York State, which evaluated the emissions benefits of the Authority's service.¹⁰⁶ Supporting public transportation through investments in system operations, service improvements, or expansions could create new opportunities for transit-oriented development (TOD) and encourage more efficient use of land and lower carbon mobility options. Additionally, states could consider supporting TOD in conjunction with these investments, improvements, or expansions in public transportation service, such as the coordinated efforts across four different Maryland agenciesvii to help local governments realize their TOD goals,¹⁰⁷ and North Carolina's S-Line TOD Study and ongoing Mobility Hub Plan development for the intercity passenger rail S-Line Project.¹⁰⁸

States could explore opportunities to leverage land use policies to advance transportation safety and reduce the exposure, likelihood, and severity of crashes, such as the integration of a Safer Land Use Planning element in Washington's Safe System Approach to allow people to get where they want to go using any mode of travel, including walking, rolling, and transit.¹⁰⁹ Efforts to promote safe walking and bicycling environments in and around transit station areas can encourage more people to safely access amenities and transit service and reduce car travel between destinations. In smaller and more rural communities that may not have the same high-capacity transit service as larger communities, supporting bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure upgrades and accessibility can complement LED efforts by creating safer and more welcoming environments for people to walk and bike, rather than drive, between destinations. In Delaware, SS 2 for SB 130,¹¹⁰ which created a process for local governments to work with the Delaware DOT (DeIDOT) to establish Complete Community Enterprise Districts that foster more compact development, also required DeIDOT to make transportation improvements in districts to support active and public transportation use.

vii These include the Maryland Department of Housing and Community Development, the Department of Planning, the Department of Transportation, and the Department of Commerce.

Other approaches for consideration include multimodal accessibility analysis or Complete Streets policies and programs to foster transportation networks that better align with LED frameworks. For example, the Washington State DOT (WSDOT) measures multimodal accessibility in its work.¹¹¹ The state's HB 1071 established a Complete Streets Grant Program, administered by WSDOT, that encourages local governments to adopt their own Complete Streets ordinances.¹¹² In addition, SB 5974 requires WSDOT to include Complete Streets elements in all state transportation projects with a budget greater than \$500,000.¹¹³ In 2014, Virginia enacted HB 2,¹¹⁴ which established a new SMART SCALE transportation project prioritization framework for the Virginia DOT that includes criteria around land use coordination.¹¹⁵ These criteria score transportation projects higher if they facilitate pedestrian access to a variety of destinations. Similarly, the California DOT's System Investment Strategy, which updated the department's project evaluation and nomination process to better identify and promote multimodal, climate-friendly projects in funding decisions, includes scoring criteria around land use and NWL that allow projects to score more highly if they facilitate more non-single occupancy vehicle travel in certain jurisdictions or create new high-quality transit areas across the state.¹¹⁶

Multimodal transportation projects can complement LED efforts; however, roadway capacity expansion projects are more complementary to auto-oriented development and run counter to LED efforts, especially since more dispersed settlement patterns generally require more roadways.¹¹⁷ Impacts vary among project types, yet roadway capacity expansions primarily serve cars and generally increase car mobility, consuming more land in the process and making them less aligned with LED frameworks. States can evaluate whether these capacity expansions support LED and climate goals more broadly in relation to the costs they incur and benefits they provide. Colorado's GHG Transportation Planning Standard,¹¹⁸ which implements provisions from SB21-260,¹¹⁹ and Minnesota's Transportation Greenhouse Gas Emissions Impact Assessment Technical Advisory Committee,¹²⁰ which implements provisions from HF 2887 and HF 5247,^{121,122} provide approaches states can consider as part of these efforts.

Case Study

Enabling Transit-Oriented Community Development in Massachusetts



The Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (MBTA) Communities program,¹²³ established through Chapter 358,¹²⁴ created multifamily zoning requirements for "MBTA communities" located near MBTA transit stations. Administered by the Executive Office of Housing and Livable Communities, the program fosters dense, transit-oriented residential development by requiring that MBTA communities establish at least one zoning district that permits multifamily housing by-right within a half-mile of a transit stop, such as commuter rail, subway, ferry, or bus. These districts must also have a minimum density of 15 units per acre, with all housing required to be suitable for families with children (no restrictions on age, number of occupants, number of bedrooms, or bedroom size). Failure to comply can make communities ineligible for funds from the Housing Choice Initiative, the Local Capital Projects Fund, or the MassWorks Infrastructure Program, and may reduce their ability to receive funding under other discretionary grant programs. The Executive Office is currently updating its guidelines and has been working with communities to provide flexibility and alternative pathways for compliance, recognizing that not every community has the same housing supply issues, or the same development needs and capacity.

Case Study

Planning for Climate-Friendly and Equitable Communities in Oregon



In 2022, Oregon's Land Conservation and Development Commission approved the Climate-Friendly and Equitable Communities (CFEC) rulemaking,¹²⁵ which helps realize the directives in Executive Order 20-04,¹²⁶ as well as the state's statutory GHG policy and goals from HB 3543.¹²⁷ Managed by the Department of Land Conservation and Development, CFEC builds on prior regulatory efforts and requires communities in the state's eight most populated metropolitan areas to update their transportation and land use planning processes by requiring the zoning of climate-friendly areas (CFA). In a CFA, residents, workers, and visitors can meet most of their daily needs without having to drive. These areas generally feature mixed-use development that contains a diverse mix of housing, jobs, businesses, and services served by high-quality pedestrian, bicycle, and transit infrastructure. CFEC also includes requirements around reducing parking rules, improving planning for transportation options, and requiring transportation projects to collectively meet climate and equity goals.

CFEC also requires communities to integrate equity considerations into their CFA planning processes through actions such as extensive community engagement and equity analyses to minimize displacement of underserved populations. The Department offers technical assistance and grants to local governments to facilitate implementation and compliance. Assistance for communities beginning this process includes a *CFA Methods Guide*,¹²⁸ as well as an *Anti-Displacement Toolkit*.¹²⁹

Case Study

Balancing Solar Photovoltaic Deployment and NWL Protection in Massachusetts



Photo Credit: National Renewable Energy Lab, DOE InSPIRE

The Massachusetts *Technical Potential of Solar Study*,¹³⁰ released in 2022, established a framework for determining suitable locations for solar photovoltaic deployment while minimizing deployment in NWL. As many as half of existing ground-mounted solar panels in Massachusetts are located on former NWL. With an estimated 27 to 32 gigawatts (GW) of solar energy needed to meet statewide decarbonization targets, continued solar deployment in this manner would result in significant loss of natural carbon sinks and biodiversity.

This study assessed future solar development needs, site selection criteria, and potential impacts on forested lands. Parcels were graded based on stakeholder criteria to determine their suitability for solar development. Considerations included agriculture,

biodiversity, other ecosystem services, embedded carbon dioxide, proximity to electric infrastructure, and slope and aspect. The study found that 152 GW of all technical solar potential is highly suitable, according to site selection criteria. When evaluating potential, 52 GW was identified as the most suitable per selection criteria, indicating that 100 percent of needed solar could potentially be sited on the most suitable parcels.

3.2 Healthy and Resilient Natural and Working Lands

Overview

Healthy NWL provide a variety of key climate mitigation and adaptation services to communities and ecosystems, including carbon storage, flood mitigation, local food, improved air and water quality, habitat support, and more. NWL span a wide range of natural and managed environments, including forests and woodlands, grasslands and shrublands, croplands and rangelands, wetlands, and urban green spaces. NWL are essential to achieving net-zero and other climate goals because they naturally store carbon in plants and soils, provide carbon sinks, and protect and enhance the wellbeing of communities, economies, and ecosystems. According to the United Nations Environment Program, "By working with nature, we have the potential to reduce emissions by more than a third of what is needed by 2030... without nature, we will not be able to achieve 1.5°C... by 2050."¹³¹

Recent patterns of human development are a major threat to NWL — between 2001 and 2017, the U.S. lost an estimated one football field or about 1.32 acres — of natural land to roads, buildings, pipelines, and other development every 30 seconds.¹³² Housing development in the WUI, where houses are in close proximity to undeveloped wildlands, grew by 41 percent from 1990 to 2010 and covered 9.5 percent of the contiguous U.S. land area.¹³³ This development increases the likelihood of human-caused wildfire ignitions and vegetation loss. In addition to development stressors, stress from climate change also directly affects the capacity of NWL to provide benefits such as:

- Sequestered and stored carbon.
- Habitat for native, rare, endangered, and other species of concern.

- Clean water and clean air.
- Protection from extreme weather such as flood and drought.
- Resources such as wood and food.
- Economic, cultural, and recreation opportunities.

Future climate impacts and continued development will affect the ability of NWL to provide ecosystem services, cultural and economic benefits, carbon sequestration and mitigation potential, and to support community resilience. States have an opportunity to evaluate the critical role of NWL and incorporate strategies for their protection and management through land use planning across all sectors. States also have opportunities to enhance collaboration on land use and management with Tribes, the original stewards of U.S. lands, including options for co-management and increased access to ancestral lands. See section 4.3, Stakeholder Engagement and Partnership on page 55 for additional details on partnering with Tribes, Tribal Governments, and Indigenous Peoples.

Land use planning that enhances contributions of NWL to climate goals prioritizes outcomes that maintain, enhance, and restore the ability of NWL to:

- Sequester carbon and reduce emissions and warming.
- Support ecosystem and community resilience.

Policy Options

3.2.1

Incorporate NWL and natural climate solutions into state planning and investments

States could develop NWL strategies that chart a clear, consistent vision of the role of NWL in achieving state climate mitigation and adaptation goals. This vision can guide agencies and sectors on state land use planning and investments. Such strategies may identify and define NWL types, as well as identify key opportunities to facilitate and focus land-specific and targeted goal setting and investments. For example, many Alliance members have established conservation targets of 30 percent by 2030 via legislation or executive order. Some states have begun to set goals as far out as 2040 or 2050, such as the 40 percent conservation by 2040 goal outlined in SB 470, the *Maryland the Beautiful Act*.¹³⁴

Once broad conservation or NWL targets are established, states may consider developing more detailed NWL sector goals tailored for different land types. For example, as part of its AB 1757 implementation,¹³⁵ California recently established 81 NBS climate targets for 2030, 2038, and 2045 for its eight land area types, with actions identified for nearly 45 state agencies to support NWL sector contributions to carbon neutrality.¹³⁶ In Massachusetts, Executive Order 618 directs state agencies to develop biodiversity targets for 2030, 2040, and 2050, including coastal and marine biodiversity conservation.¹³⁷ Several Alliance members have also established numerical tree planting goals and incentive programs.¹³⁸

States can also consider incorporating NWL conservation, restoration, and improved land management goals into state projects, protecting existing carbon stocks and increasing carbon sequestration and storage on NWL while also achieving other state land use planning goals. In North Carolina, Executive Order 305,¹³⁹ which established a "no net loss" policy for forested lands and wetlands and a native plant policy for all state cabinet agencies and state-owned projects, built on recommendations from the state's 2020 *Natural and Working Lands Action Plan*.¹⁴⁰ Several states, such as Maine,¹⁴¹ North Carolina,¹⁴² and Washington,¹⁴³ have established in-lieu fee or

mitigation banking programs that support NWL, including providing grant funding to entities such as municipalities, Tribes, and non-profit organizations for restoration and conservation projects. The Massachusetts Climate Forestry Committee also published a comprehensive work plan, *Response to the Report of the Climate Forestry Committee*,¹⁴⁴ outlining strategies to protect and manage forest lands while prioritizing efforts to address climate change impacts — including through increasing the amount of conserved forest land and prioritizing projects to optimize carbon management. Other strategies are highlighted in a report from the Center for American Progress and the National Caucus of Environmental Legislators,¹⁴⁵ which details state efforts to leverage existing programs, such as the Land for Maine's Future Program and New Mexico's Land of Enchantment Legacy Fund,^{146,147} that provide funding to support conservation initiatives and further reinforce the importance of climate and land use planning to preserve natural and recreational values.

3.2.2

Utilize zoning and nature conservation policies to realize NWL protection and restoration

Beyond dedicated conservation funding and programs, states can consider enabling measures that limit development in NWL, facilitating their protection and conservation. This can include setting urban growth boundaries (UGBs), controls that prevent urbanization of NWL adjacent to existing development. In practice, UGBs demarcate a boundary around an urban area that facilitates development inside the boundary, but limits development outside. UGBs may be amended to accommodate population growth in an area but otherwise discourage the practice of "leapfrog development" in which developers build over vacant land adjacent to existing development, fragmenting NWL and habitat. Oregon's UGB program,¹⁴⁸ initially created under SB 100,¹⁴⁹ is an example of this approach. It requires Oregon cities to develop UGBs that can accommodate 20 years' worth of expected population growth. Other states have taken different approaches to implementing UGBs, such as California, which requires the creation of Local Agency Formation Commissions to establish urban growth requirements at the county level.¹⁵⁰

Another approach states can take to protect NWL is facilitating transfer of development rights (TDR). In practice, TDR creates conservation easements on NWL by allowing developers to buy the development rights from landowners in "sending areas" and use these rights to increase development intensities in "receiving areas." This incentive allows private landowners to earn additional income from their lands without the need to convert them, while also allowing developers to build in urbanized areas more intensely, which may complement LED efforts. States can enable TDR efforts by allowing counties and municipalities to establish their own programs. For example, Maryland enables TDR through its state-level land use codes, and its Department of Planning provides outreach, education, technical assistance, and analysis support to local governments on these programs.¹⁵¹ Delaware, which enables TDR through the Aglands and Forestland Preservation Programs,^{152,153} has permanently preserved over 155,000 acres of farm and forest lands. TDR can also be leveraged for resilience purposes, as discussed in the Climate-Resilient Development section, starting on page 34.

Finally, states could establish statewide requirements mandating the preservation or creation of vegetated buffer zones around riparian, coastal, lake, and wetland areas. These requirements may include setback regulations that restrict construction within specified distances from water bodies, often coupled with clearing restrictions. Additionally, states may consider providing financial incentives to promote the restoration of natural buffers. These measures aim to protect and enhance the ecological integrity of sensitive water-related environments across the state. Examples of development buffers include:

- Delaware's Buffer Incentive Program in the Chesapeake Bay Watershed: This program offers incentives for agricultural and urban landowners in the Chesapeake Bay watershed to install forest buffers.¹⁵⁴
- Maryland's Conservation Buffer Initiative: This effort pays farmers and landowners to plant forest and grass buffers in riparian corridors and limit stream access for livestock.¹⁵⁵
- Minnesota's "Buffer Law,"156 initially established by SF 5: This law requires a 50-foot vegetation buffer along lakes, rivers, and streams.¹⁵⁷
- North Carolina's Riparian Buffer Protection Program: This program and its riparian buffer requirements cover certain watersheds and require undisturbed forest buffers around streams, lakes, and other waters.¹⁵⁸

3.2.3

Incentivize and fund programs to support private landowner and municipal conservation

Tax incentives for local landowners can help conserve land and maintain natural or working landscapes. These incentives often include transferable tax credits for donated properties or easements, which can be sold to benefit landowners immediately. States can also allow landowners to claim property tax reductions or exemptions for lands that provide conservation and open space value. The specifics of these incentives, such as eligibility criteria and benefit levels, vary widely across states. States can adjust these programs to maximize conservation impact while considering potential impacts on local tax revenues. Examples of incentives include:

- Colorado's HB21-1233: This law increased the state's Conservation Easement Credit from 50 percent to up to 90 percent of the donated value of a landowner's easement.¹⁵⁹ As noted in the Center for American Progress and National Caucus of Environmental Legislators report,¹⁶⁰ there was a significant increase in interest from landowners in leveraging the credit on their properties within months of the legislation's enactment.
- Hawai'i's Watershed Partnership Program: This program provides technical and financial support to voluntary alliances of public and private landowners for the implementation of watershed management plans.¹⁶¹ These voluntary alliances are committed to the common value of protecting forested watersheds for water recharge and other ecosystem services through collaborative management. Over 70 public and private landowners and partners, including the state's Department of Land and Natural Resources, are involved in Watershed Partnerships and manage more than two million acres.
- Vermont's Act 146: This act expanded the eligibility of the state's Use Value Appraisal, a "current use" tax incentive for landowners who choose to let forest parcels with ecologically significant traits grow old and remain unharvested.^{162,163} The incentive allows landowners to have their land appraised at its current use value, rather than fair market value, as a way for landowners to receive property tax savings. The allowances recently changed to include working farm and forest land in the incentive program.

• **Wisconsin's Managed Forest Law Program:** This program is open to all private owners of Wisconsin forested land and encourages sustainable forestry on private woodland.¹⁶⁴ In exchange for following sound forest management, the landowner pays reduced property taxes.

States can consider the creation and use of designation programs with commensurate incentives to encourage NWL conservation. For example, Hawai'i's Act 183 established the Important Agricultural Lands designation,¹⁶⁵ which sets up a designation process for important agricultural lands across the state to conserve the state's agricultural land resource base and assure the long-term availability of agricultural lands for agricultural use. The Act notes that certain incentive programs must provide preference to important agricultural lands to enhance their agricultural viability, and provides a process for private landowners to voluntarily designate lands as important agricultural lands.

3.2.4

Promote strategic land management and conservation for multiple climate objectives

Management and conservation of NWL can achieve several objectives that complement emissions goals, such as equity, economic opportunity, carbon sequestration, habitat connectivity, community resilience, sustainable food production, and more. By preserving and enhancing the sustainability of natural resources, strategic land management fosters local economic growth. Jobs in forestry, agriculture, and conservation directly benefit from such practices, while well-managed lands also attract tourism and recreational activities that contribute to the economic vitality of communities. Several Alliance members are prioritizing NBS, leveraging NWL in policies and programs that support community resilience, just transition and equity, renewable energy production, and land use planning.

North Carolina established the NC Resilience Exchange,¹⁶⁶ an interactive online platform to help local and state leaders access location-specific information on climate resilience and NWL. As a full-service tool for North Carolina communities, the Exchange offers funding opportunities, a directory of experts, interactive mapping tools, model ordinances, example projects, success stories, and other resources. The site also

includes a focus on NWL-based solutions that can help communities contribute to realizing the goals identified in Executive Order 305,¹⁶⁷ and in the *Natural and Working Lands Action Plan*.¹⁶⁸ North Carolina's Wildlife Resources Commission has also established the Green Growth Toolbox,¹⁶⁹ a technical assistance tool designed to help communities conserve high-quality habitats as communities and developers build new homes, workplaces, and shopping centers.

In Maryland, a series of legislation has supported the state's forestry efforts. SB 549, the *Sustainable Forestry Act of 2009*,¹⁷⁰ conveyed the importance of Maryland's forests to the environmental and economic well-being of the state. HB 706 subsequently established a net-zero forest loss goal and required Maryland counties to develop regulations mitigating forest loss.¹⁷¹ Updates via SB 526 in 2023 reinforced this legislation and aimed to subsequently improve forest conservation standards for developers and local governments.¹⁷²

Several Alliance states also directly support more equitable access to natural and working landscapes, including farmland, urban and community forests, community greenspace and parks, and working waterfronts, for a variety of uses including work, play, cultural identity, and quality of life. Maryland's Greenspace Equity Program¹⁷³ awards grants to underserved communities to create, preserve, and improve public greenspace, public health, and community livability. Massachusetts's Greening the Gateway Cities Program,¹⁷⁴ a state-led collaboration between multiple Commonwealth agencies, the U.S. Forest Service, and local community organizations, is designed to reduce household heating and cooling energy use by increasing tree canopy cover in urban residential areas. The program targets the parts of communities that have lower tree canopy, older housing stock, higher wind speeds, and a larger renter population. In addition, plantings are concentrated in Environmental Justice neighborhoods to benefit those most in need. Maine established the Working Waterfront Access Protection Program,¹⁷⁵ a grant program that provides strategic funding to assist commercial fisheries businesses, co-ops, municipalities, and other interested parties, to protect access to waterfront areas in the face of rising demand for coastal waterfront properties, through a covenant requiring properties cannot be developed in ways that are not in alignment with commercial fishing activities.

3.2.5

Maximize nature-based solutions in urban areas

Urbanized areas can achieve strong benefits from the inclusion of natural systems, processes, and spaces within their boundaries. This can make communities more livable, enjoyable, and attractive places while addressing systematic inequities such as those related to access to green spaces and tree canopy. Promoting urban agriculture and community gardens helps increase access to healthy outdoor spaces while providing a mechanism to address food insecurity and opportunities to create biodiverse habitats for pollinators and other species. Urban forestry programs also help increase carbon sequestration, improve air quality and human health, increase recreational and educational opportunities, and reduce heat island impacts. Native planting efforts create urban wildlife and pollinator habitat, improve human health, and reduce stormwater runoff. Water quality is enhanced by reducing impervious surfaces and implementing green infrastructure to manage stormwater pollution, protecting drinking water sources and supporting aquatic, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems.

States can consider setting explicit goals to maximize nature-based solutions in urban areas. A key part of Maryland's five million native tree planting goal by 2031 is supporting tree equity through targeted planting of at least 500,000 native trees in underserved urban communities.¹⁷⁶ California established a goal in statute of 10 percent increase in tree canopy cover in urban areas by 2035¹⁷⁷ and incentivizes urban forestry and community greening projects through two hallmark grant programs: CAL FIRE's Urban and Community Forestry Program (including the Green Schoolyards Program)¹⁷⁸ and the California Natural Resources Agency's Urban Greening Program.¹⁷⁹

The U.S. Forest Service's Urban and Community Forestry Program,¹⁸⁰ which received an infusion of \$1.5 billion in Inflation Reduction Act funding in 2022, focuses on tree planting and related activities in urban areas, prioritizing disadvantaged and overburdened communities. Nearly every Alliance state benefited from this funding opportunity, with 100 percent of grant benefits flowing to disadvantaged communities.

3.2.6

Support ecosystem resilience and habitat

Policies focused on conserving, improving, protecting, and restoring wildlife corridors and connections can help promote greater ecosystem connectivity and facilitate wildlife adaptation to environmental changes. Preserving habitats for a wide range of native plant and animal species is critical for promoting biodiversity and maintaining ecosystem health. By prioritizing wildlife corridors and connectivity, states can ensure the survival of species that rely on these fragile ecosystems. This focus on biodiversity is essential for sustaining the balance of natural resources that communities and economies depend on. States can consider the approaches outlined in a Wildlands Network and National Caucus of Environmental Legislators report outlining different state approaches toward improving and maintaining habitat connectivity.¹⁸¹

The Land for Maine's Future conservation grant program awards bonus points for projects that increase the resiliency of plant and wildlife communities to persist in a changing climate.¹⁸² States can protect connectivity where habitat remains intact through permanent conservation and adaptive management and by minimizing or mediating existing connectivity barriers by avoiding further habitat fragmentation. States may also consider planning and programming that uses economic calculations to justify preserving high-quality farm and forest land for continued production of forest and food.

3.3 Climate-Resilient Development

Overview

Communities in every Alliance state experience increasingly frequent climate-related disasters that can outstrip the pace of proactive hazard mitigation and resilience planning.¹⁸³ Settlement patterns, location-inefficient development, affordable housing shortages, and expanding climate hazard areas are among the land use factors that contribute to people living in or being unable to move away from high-risk areas such as floodplains, coastal zones, and the WUI. Resilience and disaster policy, planning, and recovery occurs at the nexus of complex state, federal, Tribal, and local decision-making processes. Developing stakeholder and decision-making processes that encourage collaboration among all levels of government can foster more coordinated, equitable, and climate-resilient development (CRD) in local communities.

CRD is the process of planning, designing, and implementing policies, strategies, and projects that enhance the ability of communities and infrastructure to withstand and adapt to the impacts of climate change and maximize the resilience of NWL ecosystems. CRD integrates climate resilience considerations and requirements into various aspects of development, including urban planning, infrastructure development, natural resource management, and long-term disaster recovery. Climate resilience looks different in different contexts since every state — and regions within each state — face different climate hazards, risks, vulnerabilities, and opportunities.

Policy Options

3.3.1

Leverage land use policy and building codes to support climate resilience and preparedness

Vulnerability to climate change is shaped by social, economic, historical, and political factors, creating uneven impacts on populations. Climate change is a force multiplier, exacerbating existing inequities and often disproportionately impacting communities and populations with the least capacity to prepare for, respond to, and recover from climate change impacts.

States could better prepare communities for extreme weather events and climate impacts through land use policy. For example, *Arizona's Extreme Heat Preparedness Plan*,¹⁸⁴ resulting from Executive Order 2023-16,¹⁸⁵ discusses the role of re-greening public spaces with natural and artificial shade as part of reducing vulnerability. Additionally, Vermont enacted Act 121 (*Flood Safety Act*) to reduce development in flood hazard areas in river corridors and establish a net gain policy for wetlands in the state through protection and restoration of existing or previous wetlands.¹⁸⁶ The legislation addresses NWL goals by requiring the amendment of Vermont Wetland Rules by July 2025; changes will require activities that disturb wetlands to achieve a 2:1 ratio of restoration, enhancement, or creation of new wetlands to wetland loss. The Flood Safety Act also establishes outreach requirements with environmental justice populations in developing these rules.

Building codes can play an important role in preparing communities for extreme weather events and climate impacts. California requires property owners living in a "State Responsibility Area" to follow defensible space requirements to protect buildings from igniting during wildfire events.¹⁸⁷ To support these efforts, the California Wildfire Mitigation Program enhances community resilience to wildfires by providing financial assistance to homeowners for home hardening and mitigation strategies.¹⁸⁸ The Program uses a scoring methodology that considers applicants' present wildfire risk, likely future wildfire risk when taking into account the effects of climate change, and vulnerability to wildfires due to health or socioeconomic conditions. Oregon created maps of wildfire hazard zones and the WUI,¹⁸⁹ which designate all of Oregon's 1.9 million property tax lots into wildfire hazard zones, to help protect these communities from wildfire. Developed after a two-year community engagement process, the maps are intended to educate Oregon residents and property owners about their wildfire hazard, assist in prioritizing fire adaptation and mitigation resources for the most vulnerable locations, and identify where defensible space standards and home hardening codes will apply. Property owners with tax lots designated as both high wildfire hazard and within the WUI received a packet of information about their property's designation and an appeals process. (See section 4.3, Stakeholder Engagement and Partnership on page 55 for more information about stakeholder engagement practices.) Exploring opportunities to support hazard mitigation efforts through building codes for other climate risks could increase climate resilience and preparedness.

Improved social equity can be a primary outcome of land use development and protection of NWL, especially if state and local planners pursue community input and support. This includes drawing upon the knowledge of those with lived experience of climate impacts, including communities historically excluded from, and negatively impacted by, land use decisions. For example, states can encourage strategic conversations about various tactics — including land acquisition, restrictive zoning, and establishment of conservation easements of floodplains — to avoid unnecessary economic and human costs of frequently flooded areas, enhance access to outdoor recreation, and reduce heat exposure. They can also foster climate-resilient recovery plans to institute new zoning and building standards that begin after a certain disaster threshold is met. Additionally, states can identify and acknowledge future vulnerabilities, as did Maine's LD 1572,¹⁹⁰ which recognized how sea level rise (SLR) will disrupt livelihoods and the need to measure future SLR impacts in state, regional, and local planning efforts.

3.3.2

Reduce disparate outcomes of disaster recovery systems

Underlying socioeconomic factors that contribute to climate vulnerability in land use decisions and planning also affect disaster response and recovery processes and programs. As administrators of disaster-recovery funding and technical assistance programs, states have an opportunity to play a key role in reducing inequitable impacts and outcomes after disasters. States can work with federal partners at the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and the Department of Housing and Urban Development to continue FEMA's adjustments to cost-benefit analysis.¹⁹¹ These adjustments can yield more benefits for mitigation projects in underserved communities, such as rural and communities of color that have traditionally received less FEMA funding pre- or post-disaster.

States could also support communities with pre-disaster planning and preparedness - including providing financial and technical assistance to better align long-range land use and emergency response and recovery plans with climate resilience, adaptation, and mitigation strategies. Rural communities with less local government or institutional capacity may have fewer resources to work with state and federal funders to obtain predisaster mitigation funding, disaster aid, and post-disaster recovery-related services. For example, Maine's Community Resilience Partnership,¹⁹² through its Community Action Grant program,¹⁹³ assists communities with climate planning and implementation projects and directs technical assistance. The grant program does not require a local match for activities that contribute toward goals in the state's climate action plan and requires less match for towns with smaller populations for other community-defined climate and energy implementation priorities. The Partnership also provides direct technical assistance to towns through regional coordinators who help to identify and apply for grant funding to support community resilience projects, which is particularly beneficial to smaller, rural communities. Additionally, Wisconsin recently created a Pre-Disaster Flood Resilience program¹⁹⁴ aimed at identifying flood vulnerabilities and options to improve flood resiliency, as well as specifically restore hydrology to reduce flood risk and damages in flood-prone communities.

3.3.3

Limit new development and siting of buildings and assets in high-risk areas

States are taking a range of approaches to limit development in areas at high risk of climate impacts. For example, New Jersey's Inland Flood Protection Rule defines areas at most significant risk for inland flooding, ensuring that new and reconstructed assets in these areas are designed and constructed using the best available climate-informed precipitation data.¹⁹⁵ Maine has established a statutory requirement to consider future sea level rise projections, also established by statute, in environmental permitting for proposed development and solid waste facilities.¹⁹⁶ Vermont's Flood Safety Act amends multiple provisions related to river corridors, flood hazard areas, wetlands, and dams to provide general protections to river corridors throughout the state, as opposed to the previous municipality-centered structure.¹⁹⁷ The Act aims to protect communities from worsening precipitation and floods by preventing development in meander pathways and floodplains, strategically removing derelict dams, and increasing floodwater storage via floodplains and wetlands along rivers.

States could also explore ways to support local efforts to limit development in highrisk areas by providing tools and resources to municipalities, such as guidance or model laws to limit new development in sensitive areas. For example, the New York Department of State's *Basic Land Use Tools for Resiliency* provides local governments with a suite of model laws they can adopt to address resilience through land use, subdivision ordinances for flood-prone areas, and ways to limit impermeable surface and protect woodlands, among other tools.¹⁹⁸ States can establish similar requirements for projects undertaken by a state agency, or for projects otherwise funded using state financing. Puerto Rico's executive order OE-2023-009 directs the state to develop a plan to locate new infrastructure works not dependent on or for the enjoyment of the sea outside of coastal zones to the extent that this is possible, feasible, and fiscally viable.¹⁹⁹ States could also leverage TDR, as illustrated by Maryland's HB 233 and Hawai'i's HB 1436,^{200,201} to support efforts that direct more development away from higher-risk areas to lower-risk areas.

3.3.4

Consider community-centered relocation and managed retreat tools, policies, and programs to support high-risk communities

A changing climate creates major challenges for communities and key infrastructure directly or repeatedly affected by extreme weather; in some instances, voluntary community-driven relocation programs can support those highly exposed to climate risk.

Initial steps may involve consideration of policies that mitigate future needs for relocation by limiting development in high-risk areas. Longer-term, states can consider supporting relocation to minimize potential future displacement of communities and infrastructure located in or near high-risk areas such as along coastlines, floodplains, or the WUI.

While community relocation to less exposed areas could mitigate property loss, loss of life, and other bodily and physical harm, considerations include:

- Fiscal impacts to highly exposed communities in the process of relocation, along with social, psychological, and economic impacts to moving individuals and receiving communities.
- Land acquisition costs associated with purchasing highly exposed land from landowners.
- Engagement processes that increase community understanding of impacts from future climate risks, alongside processes for new community siting, design, or relocation.

To advance social equity outcomes through strategic relocation, states could use clear social equity principles, policies, and metrics in program design, as well as form partnerships with regional and local entities to ensure application of equity-first approaches. The U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit,²⁰² managed by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, includes a Managed Retreat Toolkit that states can leverage when evaluating approaches to relocation.²⁰³ Hawai'i' has also assessed the feasibility and implications of relocation strategies for vulnerable coastal areas.²⁰⁴ Massachusetts launched the ResilientCoasts Initiative in 2023, a state-municipal
collaboration and multipronged approach to identify regulatory, policy, and funding mechanisms in addressing coastal resilience issues, including SLR through NBS. The Initiative notes the role of relocation as part of this effort.²⁰⁵

North Carolina, working in partnership with the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and North Carolina State University,²⁰⁶ provided technical and funding support to local communities through the Hurricane Matthew Disaster Recovery and Resilience Initiative (HMDRRI).²⁰⁷ The HMDRRI team assembled and deployed an interdisciplinary group of university faculty, students, and other experts to address both community and state-level recovery needs. The town of Princeville, the oldest community in the U.S. founded by formerly enslaved people, worked with HMDRRI on a three-part relocation approach to comprehensively evaluate opportunities for facilitating the transition of residents and critical infrastructure and services out of the 100-year floodplain by making investments in higher ground receiving areas.

3.3.5

Leverage nature-based solutions for adaptation benefits

According to FEMA, NBS "are sustainable planning, design, environmental management and engineering practices that weave natural features or processes into the built environment to promote adaptation and resilience."²⁰⁸ In some cases, NBS can be more cost effective than traditional engineered approaches because they mitigate the need for infrastructure upgrades or repairs and other human interventions. Prioritizing these solutions in land use planning at different scales can help states realize resilience benefits, ranging from site-specific interventions in more urban communities to landscape-wide approaches across all areas. For example, with inland flooding and urban heat islands, low-impact development interventions like green infrastructure applied in a variety of contexts can be particularly effective in urbanized areas to create more pervious cover that absorbs and slowly releases runoff and create more natural areas that decrease outdoor air temperature. Delaware recently partnered with the University of Delaware and a local community nonprofit to conduct a neighborhoodscale urban heat mapping study in Wilmington to identify the impacts of land cover on local temperatures and develop a predictive temperature and heat index model.²⁰⁹ The state will use the results of this study, part of a larger federally-funded urban heat island mapping campaign,²¹⁰ for existing programs and planning processes, including initiatives in land use planning, public health, energy efficiency, resilience, climate change mitigation, climate preparedness, emergency management, urban forest management, equity and social justice, and community partnerships and engagement. At the landscape level, protection of wetlands and riverine landscapes can realize similar benefits at a larger scale. For island communities in particular, natural buffers along coasts improve ecosystems on land and in the ocean and can help protect infrastructure and reduce disaster recovery costs.

Leveraging funding through the Clean Water, Clean Air and Green Jobs Environmental Bond Act,²¹¹ New York provides support to flood-prone communities under the Green Resiliency Grant program to improve stormwater infrastructure largely through NBS at both local and regional scales.²¹² The program supports stormwater retention and urban forestry programs locally, including through "street trees" — trees planted within street and road rights-of-way — among other activities, along with efforts to restore natural landscape features such as floodplains, riparian buffers, streams, and wetlands that improve water quality and mitigate climate change effects.

In North Carolina, HB 1087 created the Natural Infrastructure Flood Mitigation Program to address chronic flooding in the state using NBS, including wetland creation and stream restoration.^{213,214} The program is currently in a pilot phase and, once expanded, will focus on NBS to protect critical infrastructure from flooding at the watershed scale. The state DOT also partners with nongovernmental organizations to build living shorelines as a NBS to protect transportation infrastructure and create salt marsh habitat and corridors.²¹⁵

Additionally, leveraging NBS for resilience provides co-benefits and contributes to other climate efforts. These can be similarly leveraged to protect NWL for their ability to naturally sequester carbon and create habitat for biodiversity. NBS also create opportunities for active recreation, particularly bicycle paths and waterfront public parks, that can improve quality of life in communities and facilitate the use of lower-carbon transportation modes.

3.3.6 Integrate climate resilience in local and regional planning

While zoning and land use decisions are often controlled at the local level, states have legislative and regulatory authorities to set requirements for local and regional plans and zoning codes through regulation. States can require or otherwise encourage local and regional governments to integrate CRD in their planning processes and documents. They can also activate local government efforts by defining goals, requirements, and starting points for implementation, and by offering regulatory relief and resources in the form of tools and guidance, financial incentives in state grant programs, model codes and ordinances, or technical assistance to execute this work. These may include:

- Requirements for integrating climate adaptation into existing planning processes, including local government comprehensive plans, metropolitan planning organization (MPO) long- range transportation plans, and hazard mitigation plans.
- Requirements for developing climate vulnerability assessments and their use in designating growth areas.
- Financial incentives or reduced match requirements for infrastructure proposed outside of risk-prone areas.
- Establishment of design standards or adaptation goals, policies, and objectives in planning documents.
- Requirements to use certain datasets, tools, or processes to evaluate the exposure of future development or infrastructure to long-term climate risk.

New Jersey's SB 2607 establishes land use planning requirements for municipalities to include a climate change-related hazard vulnerability assessment as part of their comprehensive planning efforts, along with measures that mitigate reasonably anticipated natural hazards.²¹⁶ The legislation also requires the state's Department of Environmental Protection to provide technical assistance to municipalities in preparing these vulnerability assessments upon request.

See page 44 for additional examples of support for climate action in local and regional planning.

Case Study

Supporting Community-Centered Relocation through the New Jersey Blue Acres Program



New Jersey's Blue Acres program is an example of a state-level program that supports relocation efforts.²¹⁷ Established in 1995, Blue Acres identifies and acquires residential properties prone to persistent and routine flooding from owners who are willing to voluntarily sell their property to the state. Blue Acres expanded in response to Hurricane Sandy in 2012 and has resulted in the purchase of over 1,200 properties since its inception. It also provides resources to local governments to transform vacant flood-prone properties into community amenities and optimize floodplain functionality. The program focuses on local government partnership to prioritize comprehensive neighborhood-scale buyouts, rather than working with individual property owners on a case-by-case basis. This helps create more equitable outcomes for low-income property owners in these areas.

The program also encourages local governments to transform vacant flood-prone lands into community assets while enhancing floodplain functionality. Blue Acres emphasizes cooperative efforts, bringing together flood-impacted homeowners and local governments to prioritize climate resilience planning that includes neighborhood-level buyouts, rather than focusing solely on buyouts as an episodic, post-flood recovery tool. This collaborative approach fosters more meaningful community resilience and leads to more equitable outcomes for low-income property owners in flood-prone areas.

Case Study

Weaving Climate Adaptation into Vermont's Community Investment Program



Vermont's Community Investment Program (formerly the State Designation Programs),²¹⁸ originally established by Act 120 in 1998 and built upon through subsequent legislation,²¹⁹ aims to revitalize communities by promoting compact development patterns, reducing car dependency, and protecting surrounding forests and working lands. The program guides development toward LED in and around historic centers by offering benefits to municipalities and property owners, such as tax credits, grant funding, priority consideration for state investments, and easier permitting for housing. In turn, those benefits fund and fuel revitalization, growth, livability, infrastructure, and other essential work.

The Program has evolved over the years to address different community needs and challenges across the state. Act 182, passed in 2022,²²⁰ tasked the state with proposing

recommendations on how to reform the program to even more explicitly address equity, climate action, and other efforts to better support program goals around NWL protection through compact development. The effort, Designation 2050, resulted in a report detailing these recommendations and reforms, which aim to more directly align program offerings and benefits with climate adaptation by offering technical assistance, grants, and other incentives for resilient community design.²²¹ Act 181, enacted in 2024,²²² implemented these recommendations with key reforms, including improved compatibility of designation boundaries with local and regional plans, lower-barrier access for lower-capacity communities, and a revised board with greater focus on cross-government and cross-agency collaboration in housing, infrastructure, and administrative capacity.



4. Governance Strategies

Governance Strategies are different approaches that governors' offices and other executive branch entities can use to realize climate and land use outcomes. They include tools and engagement frameworks states can consider using to facilitate interagency collaboration, stakeholder engagement, and decision-making around climate and land use planning.

4.1	Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning	43
4.2	Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making	50
4.3	Stakeholder Engagement and Partnership	55



For each Governance Strategy, this Guide provides:

Overview: A high-level overview of what each strategy seeks to accomplish.

Strategies: Options states can consider adopting and implementing to advance climate and land use planning efforts. These universally applicable strategies can help states advance a range of sectoral decarbonization and resilience efforts as described in the Policy Outcomes section. Each strategy highlights examples of state implementation and identifies potential practices states can consider implementing to help realize climate and land use outcomes.

State-Enabled Municipal Authority on Land Use Planning and Zoning

States delegate some of their powers to municipalities and counties to enable effective governance at the local level. Since these powers, including zoning and land use planning, are state-enabled, states have an interest in ensuring local governments use these tools in ways that align with statewide goals and do not impose externalities on other jurisdictions in the state.²²³ States similarly grant municipalities the power to regulate land use at the local level, typically through zoning enabling acts. How states delegate power, including in land use, varies by state, but is typically generalized by:

- **Dillon Rule:** Municipalities have only powers expressly delegated to them by the state.
- Home Rule: Municipalities can exercise any power so long as it does not conflict with federal or state laws, or with the terms of their charter.

States often use a mixture of these two rules, where aspects of Home Rule may apply in one context, but Dillon Rule applies in another. Neither rule necessarily limits or enhances a state's or local government's ability to align land use planning and zoning decisions with climate and land use goals, but each may require different approaches.²²⁴ Given this complexity, states should consider determining the extent to which Dillon Rule or Home Rule applies to local governments around zoning and land use regulation as part of determining how best to collaborate with them in realizing climate and land use outcomes.

4.1 Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning

Overview

Cross-sectoral planning involves building capacity and fostering collaboration between different state government agencies and staff, each of whom may have distinct sets of sectoral and subject matter expertise. Intergovernmental planning helps foster collaboration between state and local or regional governments. Both cross-sectoral and intergovernmental planning enable better alignment across government entities around climate and land use planning. Each also leverages respective areas of expertise and authority to help realize climate and land use policy outcomes.

Strategies

4.1.1

Develop an actionable framework around climate and land use at the state level

Establishing actionable climate and land use frameworks at the state level guides alignment and collaboration across government and sectors. Such frameworks define the strategies, goals, actions, and authorities needed to effectively achieve goals. Examples of actionable frameworks include: **Colorado's Executive Order D 2023 014:** This framework, established through executive action, defines strategic growth goals for the state, including a goal to incentivize efficient development patterns that align with the state's climate and air quality goals.²²⁵ It directs a wide range of agencies to inventory their policies, plans, procedures, and rules for programs that support growth-related activities. It further directs these agencies to report to the governor's office on how these programs can best support the state's strategic growth goals. Finally, it directs the creation of a cross-department working group to facilitate best practices and discussion on identifying and aligning programs with the strategic growth goals of the state.

Maryland's Sustainable Growth Subcabinet: This entity implements the state's Sustainable Growth Policy (SGP),²²⁶ recommending changes in state law, regulations, and procedures to the governor that are needed to support the SGP.²²⁷ Initially created in 1998 through Executive Order 01.01.1998.04,²²⁸ the Smart Growth Subcabinet, as it was then known, was subsequently enacted in statute in 2002 through SB 204.²²⁹ Updated through legislation during the interim years, the Subcabinet is led by the state's Planning Secretary and comprised of several senior agency and governor's office representatives. It provides a forum for state agencies to coordinate activities and work with local jurisdictions in realization of the SGP. The Subcabinet is also responsible for developing annual reports to the governor on its progress in implementing the SGP, and for ensuring progress in meeting other legislative requirements, such as the land conservation goals outlined in the Maryland the Beautiful Act.²³⁰

States could establish similar frameworks for more specific policy areas within climate and land use planning. For example, Hawai'i's Transit-Oriented Development Council,²³¹ established by Act 130,²³² is an interagency council that coordinates effective and efficient TOD planning statewide. It includes representation from a range of state agencies and all counties, aiming to facilitate consultation and collaboration between the state and counties on smart growth and TOD initiatives.

4.1.2 Support climate action in local and regional planning

Incentivizing or legislating the inclusion of climate change and land use considerations into local and regional planning efforts may benefit states. Such incentive programs can include direct technical assistance or training, funding, and establishing public climate data and planning tools. Legislative approaches can help establish clear but flexible requirements that local and regional governments must incorporate climate mitigation and adaptation policies, strategies, and actions as part of their long-range comprehensive planning efforts.

Massachusetts established the Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness Program (MVP),²³³ part of Executive Order 569, *Establishing an Integrated Climate Change Strategy for the Commonwealth*.²³⁴ The MVP Program supports cities and towns in Massachusetts in beginning the process of planning for climate change resiliency and implementing priority projects. The state awards communities with funding to complete vulnerability assessments and develop action-oriented resiliency plans. Communities that complete the MVP program are certified as MVP communities and are eligible for MVP Action Grant funding and other opportunities. To help achieve the resilience goals of its four-year climate action plan, Maine established the Community Resilience Partnership,²³⁵ which provides grants and technical assistance with fundraising and project development to municipal and Tribal governments and unorganized territories. The Partnership helps incentivize community planning and actions that reduce carbon emissions, transition to clean energy, and increase community resilience to climate impacts. Communities must identify priority climate action areas to enroll in the Partnership and, once enrolled, must report on progress every two years to remain enrolled.

California's SB 1035,²³⁶ which helps ensure consideration of climate change at the local level, requires local governments to incorporate climate adaptation into existing comprehensive planning processes. Local governments have flexibility on which local planning process or document to use to meet these requirements,^{viii} but they must conduct climate vulnerability assessments, develop a set of adaptation goals, policies and objectives, and include a set of feasible implementation measures. Minnesota's HF 2887 updated comprehensive planning requirements for local government land use plans, which are required to include a GHG emissions and VMT inventory and projections. This inventory and projections must include emissions sources from transportation, land use, energy use, solid waste, and — where available and applicable — livestock and agriculture.²³⁷ These plans must also include the estimated impact of strategies, including efficient land use and compact growth, that reduce or naturally sequester GHG emissions across sectors.

The American Planning Association publication, *2022 Survey of State Planning Laws*,²³⁸ provides a framework for understanding approaches to state-level hazard mitigation planning, climate action planning, and resilience planning activities and requirements. While it may no longer reflect current practice and statute in the states surveyed, it provides a starting point to help states understand their own activities and requirements, reference practices in other states, and identify opportunities for additional activities and requirements they could implement.

4.1.3

Build in flexibilities and opportunities for customizable local and regional government programs and requirements

States may choose to design programs and requirements that set a floor for statewide action, while also providing local and regional governments with the flexibility to exceed minimums with local requirements — or to customize program elements to better meet unique needs in their jurisdictions. Vermont's HOME Act requires multifamily housing of

viii Including through a comprehensive plan, local hazard mitigation plan, or a standalone climate adaptation plan or an integrated approach where the local hazard mitigation plan addresses climate adaptation and is referenced in the comprehensive plan's safety and land use elements.

up to four units as a permitted use on residential lots serviced by municipal sewer and water infrastructure.²³⁹ However, the HOME Act also allows for more intense housing development if a municipality specifically requires multifamily housing to have more than four units. This flexibility allows for a gentler level of housing development that could be better suited to a smaller, more rural municipality, but does not override the needs of more urbanized municipalities where greater levels of development intensity are already permitted.

Regarding LED, the Massachusetts Community One Stop for Growth,²⁴⁰ an application portal, provides an example of a state program that facilitates access to state funding. With one application, the portal allows eligible applicants to apply for 12 separate grant programs that make targeted investments based on a development continuum.²⁴¹ This flexibility helps save communities time and research in developing and preparing applications and offers opportunities for the state to support local governments in their applications through guidance and partnerships, helping to streamline efforts to advance climate and land use planning.

4.1.4

Provide technical assistance and support to local and regional planning organizations and elevate regional programs

By working closely with regional governments, including MPOs and regional planning organizations, states can align efforts and funding, and provide clear guidance and financial resources that support local governments and facilitate collaboration on land use planning and decision-making. States can also emphasize the importance of regional climate resilience programs, encouraging regions that are not represented by a MPO or other formal government entity to self-organize and collaborate to define and address their unique climate and land use challenges and opportunities. Working with local and regional governments, states have opportunities to illuminate the economic and fiscal cobenefits of climate and land use, tying climate considerations to economic opportunities to generate support and understanding.

For example, Michigan's Economic Development Corporation, through its Community Development unit (MiPlace),²⁴² provides economic development services and programs to attract and retain talent in Michigan communities. MiPlace provides technical assistance through its Redevelopment Ready Communities program,²⁴³ which supports LED efforts like zoning reforms and has regional community development managers who provide personalized support and guidance to communities across 10 regions. Another MiPlace resource,²⁴⁴ which helps communities evaluate how their zoning codes may be limiting development opportunities, also includes recommendations on streamlining processes for housing development and construction, including schematic designs for duplexes and fourplexes that municipalities can adopt and offer as pre-approved for developer use.

Additionally, Pennsylvania DOT provides free planning assistance through Connects Assistance,²⁴⁵ its program to help local governments better integrate land use and transportation planning. This effort supports the agency's efforts to improve multimodal coordination and complementary development as part of better managing transportation costs.²⁴⁶ Other states can also consider developing guidance and model codes or ordinances to help in their work. As noted in the Climate-Resilient Development section on page 36, "Limit new development and siting of buildings and assets in high-risk areas," the New York Department of State offers *Basic Land Use Tools for Resiliency*,²⁴⁷ which provides local governments with a suite of model laws they can adopt to address resilience through land use.

State university systems can be particularly effective in supporting climate and land use efforts with technical expertise and staff resources. Also noted in the Climate-Resilient Development section on page 36, "Consider community-centered relocation and managed retreat tools, programs, and policies to support high-risk communities," North Carolina partnered with the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and North Carolina State University to provide technical and funding support to local communities through the HMDRRI, which facilitated disaster recovery and resilience planning efforts.²⁴⁸ Similarly, Delaware's DOT provides support to the University of Delaware to manage the Delaware Complete Communities Toolbox,²⁴⁹ which builds local government capacity around practices that can better realize integrated transportation and land use planning.

Lastly, states can establish local-level board and commission education requirements to provide greater capacity to understand and address land use issues in communities. For example, Rhode Island's H7023 established training and education requirements for local planning board or commission members on the effects of development in floodplains and the effects of SLR.²⁵⁰ Additionally, Connecticut's Public Act 21-29 established training requirements for planning and zoning commission members, including affordable and fair housing policies and the impact of zoning on the environment, agriculture, and historic resources.²⁵¹

4.1.5

Integrate and coordinate climate and land use with housing policies

LED and CRD are complementary in providing climate benefits and addressing housing shortages. States have an opportunity to closely integrate and coordinate climate and housing policies. As noted in the Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning section on page 43, "Develop an actionable framework around climate and land use at the state level," Colorado's Executive Order D 2023 14,²⁵² which orients state agencies toward more climate-aligned decision-making around land use, also creates a cross-department working group to facilitate best practices around identifying and aligning programs that support the state's strategic growth goals and efforts to increase statewide housing availability and affordability. Arizona's *Extreme Heat Preparedness Plan*,²⁵³ which established longer-term recommendations for extreme heat preparedness in the state, includes five recommendations related to addressing extreme heat risk and vulnerability through safe and affordable housing policy.

States can consider opportunities to link or establish formal collaborative frameworks across state agencies and programs around climate, land use, and housing. For example, Maryland's Memorandum of Understanding between its state DOT and Department of Housing and Community Development to accelerate the construction of development that catalyzes dense, mixed-use, and mixed-income development within a half-mile of transit stations.²⁵⁴ It specifies areas for collaboration between the two departments, including legislative proposals, application development and funding consideration, housing and

transit advocacy, and partner outreach. It also gives priority to transit-adjacent sites and state DOT joint development projects in funding programs that the Department of Housing and Community Development oversees.

Additionally, states can consider efforts to link residential building weatherization and decarbonization, affordable housing development that is accessible to affordable and convenient transit service, and housing resilience as part of comprehensively promoting housing affordability and security through climate programs. For example, H.4997 in Massachusetts authorized funding for a wide range of programs to counter rising housing costs caused by high demand and limited supply, including efforts that not only advance LED outcomes, but support increased housing resilience and the construction, rehabilitation, and modernization of housing, including energy efficiency and electrification decarbonization measures.²⁵⁵

4.1.6

Establish forums for consensus building and collaboration with interdisciplinary and intergovernmental partners

State governments have opportunities to leverage their unique convening ability to bring together a wide range of intergovernmental and interdisciplinary actors, including those from outside government, to facilitate greater collaboration and consensus-building opportunities on climate and land use topics. States could consider how they can raise awareness of climate and land use, and begin and continue conversations on these topics. These approaches can help states identify solutions and demonstrate support to decision-makers on which actions to implement in advancing climate and land use goals.

Establishing commissions and task forces to study land use issues, propose policy recommendations, and facilitate dialogue among stakeholders can help states work through complex topics. These commissions and task forces may include experts and representatives from state and local government agencies, civil society, the private sector, and individuals and groups with an interest in specific land use issues. States can draw inspiration from existing jurisdictional and cross-sectoral climate and land use

planning processes to establish new comprehensive processes that are transparent to stakeholders and the public.

For example, Maine's LD 609, passed in 2021,²⁵⁶ established a commission to study how zoning and land use restrictions affect the state's ability to increase housing opportunities. The commission, which represented a wide range of stakeholders engaged in zoning and land use decision-making, held several public meetings and issued a final report with its recommendations to the state legislature. The report tallied votes from commission members to indicate their approval of the recommendations, which provided the legislature with context regarding consensus on specific issues. Nearly all recommendations received unanimous or near unanimous consent,²⁵⁷ and formed the basis of LD 2003 (2022),²⁵⁸ which reformed the state's zoning and land use policy to help realize more opportunities for housing development and LED.

States could identify opportunities for continuous engagement with local and regional governments on climate and land use programs. After enacting a suite of land use and housing-related legislation in 2024, Colorado developed a website,²⁵⁹ which shared updates and provided notifications for future engagement opportunities on land use and housing legislation. Given the role of local government in implementing legislative requirements, the website helped local governments more easily track engagement opportunities and comment opportunities on draft materials to help shape and inform state efforts.

Additionally, by partnering with their public university systems and private universities, states can convene local and regional governments around climate and land use planning efforts. In Maryland, the executive director of the University of Maryland's National Center for Smart Growth,²⁶⁰ who serves as an ex-officio member of the state's Sustainable Growth Subcabinet, works with the state to organize sustainable growth programs and educational activities, such as the Smart Growth Summit.²⁶¹ The Summit provides opportunities for the state to engage with local governments on growth policy and creates a forum for state and local officials to discuss how the state can better realize its growth goals and objectives. Additionally, Connecticut partners with the University of Connecticut on the Connecticut Institute for Resilience and Climate Adaptation to increase the resilience and sustainability of communities vulnerable to the growing impacts of climate change on the natural, built, and human environments.²⁶²

Case Study

Integrating Climate Considerations in Local Comprehensive Planning in Washington



In 2023, Washington enacted HB 1181,²⁶³ an amendment to the Growth Management Act of 1990.²⁶⁴ This series of state statutes requires fast-growing cities and counties to develop a comprehensive plan to manage population growth. Today, the Growth Management Act outlines 15 planning goals to act as the basis of all comprehensive plans, and requires local comprehensive plans for counties and cities with populations greater than 6,000 to include sub-elements with climate resilience and GHG emissions reduction actions.

These two sub-elements must maximize economic, environmental, and social cobenefits and prioritize environmental justice to avoid worsening environmental health disparities. Additionally, HB 1181 introduces guidance for identifying locations of green infrastructure and urban and community forests, integrating strategies for reducing wildfire risks, and addressing the impact of SLR and increased storm severity. HB 1181 highlights equity by emphasizing the need for development that does not create or worsen environmental health disparities. It also stresses the importance of involving historically overburdened communities in developing climate policies. Compensation and increased accessibility for authentic participation is highly encouraged in the form of paid stipends, food, childcare, and translation services. Intermediate Climate Element Planning Guidance,²⁶⁵ along with a Climate Menu of Measures,²⁶⁶ are available to help cities and counties address climate change in their comprehensive plans.

Case Study

Leveraging Local Planning to Grow Housing, Promote LED, and Protect NWL in Colorado



The Colorado Housing Needs Assessment, enacted through SB24-174,²⁶⁷ aims to create a structured approach for statewide, regional, and local housing needs assessments to address the state's rapid population growth, inadequate housing supply, and housing affordability challenges. It mandates that municipalities follow planning requirements that encourage infill development, facilitate diverse housing types, and promote housing development near transit stations. This approach not only recognizes how LED can support state housing and climate goals, but also protects NWL and supports local government and MPOs in maintaining connectivity to open space, wildlife habitat, and other priority landscapes.

Key elements of this approach include methodologies for municipalities to conduct housing needs assessments and create action plans, technical assistance to facilitate compliance, and incentives to governments that are fully compliant with assessment and planning requirements. The bill also provides local governments with access to datasets and web-based platforms to facilitate assessment and planning efforts, along with other resources and guidance to mitigate displacement.

4.2 Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making

Overview

Data and decision-making tools can help states measure and evaluate the impacts of potential land use policy interventions and identify which approaches to consider. This process may involve quantifying impacts and benefits such as GHG emissions and non-GHG emissions, applying data in decision-making processes, managing and maintaining accurate data, and tracking progress over time to ensure success.

Strategies

4.2.1

Foster a culture of data-driven policy development and decision-making

States can help create a culture of data-driven policy development and decision-making within their agencies. One approach is to require state use and application of datasets generated from climate and land use planning activities to inform decision-making. For example, Delaware's Executive Order 42,²⁶⁸ which requires state department and agency use of accompanying maps from its *2020 Strategies for State Policies and Spending* document,²⁶⁹ helps inform state policy around land use and guide relevant policy and infrastructure decisions.

States could use analytical frameworks that weigh the climate benefits of different land uses across sectors, including scenario planning to evaluate different policy options and outcomes. Such efforts can inform the development of actionable frameworks around climate and land use at the state level. The *Oregon Statewide Transportation Strategy*,²⁷⁰ which leveraged scenario planning to identify a variety of effective GHG emissions reduction strategies in transportation, also accounted for urban land use patterns. States could leverage approaches like these in market analyses that evaluate how LED policies encourage greater infill housing development and discourage greenfield development. A study prepared for the Colorado Energy Office found that land use policies similar to those adopted in 2024 by the state legislature, plus additional policies that could be considered, would significantly impact the type and location of new housing in ways that reduce the GHG pollution associated with new development, both from buildings and transportation, while also avoiding development in the WUI.²⁷¹

Creating land use-related data frameworks can also provide states with a consistent foundation for tracking progress toward goals. Many Alliance members already track data and progress toward wider climate mitigation and resilience goals via publicly accessible tools or regular reports.²⁷² Such tools and reports can provide a model for land use data frameworks. These frameworks can be designed to minimize reporting and tracking efforts by local jurisdictions, making it easier to monitor and evaluate progress. Establishing processes for regularly updating and maintaining data helps ensure its accuracy and relevance over time. These processes may involve periodic reviews, data quality checks, and mechanisms for feedback and corrections from users.

As part of creating frameworks for land use data, states could incorporate data collection and reporting from local and regional governments to better facilitate planning efforts and collaboration to improve data quality and reporting for state use. For example, Maryland's Department of Planning works closely with local governments around data collection efforts to help implement various aspects of the state's SGP,²⁷³ including tracking progress toward an aspirational compact development goal (see the Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making section on page 54, "Identify metrics and establish performance targets around climate, land use, and equity," for information about this goal) and working with local governments to ensure that regular dataset updates occur to help the state better track progress toward meeting its goals.²⁷⁴

4.2.2

Prioritize comprehensive emissions quantification methods and approaches, including for carbon sequestration

When seeking to effectively and comprehensively quantify GHG emissions impacts associated with climate and land use efforts, states could adopt approaches that consider the contexts of land development. These considerations are particularly relevant when evaluating NWL impacts, as these can vary by lands' ecosystem contexts and prior uses. Land development has varied impacts on emissions across sectors, as outlined in the Foundational Principle section on page 12, "Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Sequester Carbon, and Improve Climate Resilience," with more LED-aligned land use patterns making more efficient use of land, reducing VMT, reducing material and resource consumption, and creating more efficient development.

States could prioritize developing and using tools that holistically capture these GHG impacts. Ideally, quantification efforts will support scenario planning to allow for informed decision-making that compares trade-offs associated with different land use scenarios and facilitates communication of benefits. The California Air Pollution Control Officers Association created a *Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health and Equity*.²⁷⁵ This Handbook is a sketch-planning tool that provides policymakers with the magnitude of emissions reductions associated with implementing different climate and land use practices at

the project level. Most of the Handbook's measures leverage generalizable elasticities that can be applied in other communities. It also includes a method to assess potential benefits of different climate vulnerability reduction measures, as well as measures that can be implemented to improve health and equity, that can be applied in other analyses (see Section 4.2.3, "Leverage cost-benefit analyses and other impact quantification approaches").

Another approach states can reference in their GHG quantification methods is an analysis conducted by RMI in its *Why State Land Use Reform Should Be a Priority Climate Lever for America* publication.²⁷⁶ This analysis estimated the avoided emissions associated with encouraging more development in the 10 percent of neighborhoods in each state that currently have the lowest VMT per capita. It quantified these avoided emissions in the context of direct reductions from reduced driving, indirect reductions from vehicle lifecycle production, and non-transportation sector pollution avoidance, including building energy efficiency, fewer construction materials, and the preservation of natural land sinks otherwise lost to development. Such a comprehensive lens can provide states with a potential framework for approaches to assessing GHG impacts of different climate and land use efforts.

Another approach states can reference is Oregon's *Opportunities to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions Caused by Oregon's Consumption*,²⁷⁷ which used a consumption-based emission inventorying approach to evaluate the global emissions Oregonians caused via consumption of materials, energy, and services. This report discusses smart growth, including how more walkable neighborhoods can help reduce consumption-based emissions by reducing transportation emissions, embodied carbon in infrastructure and buildings, operational energy use, and household consumption.

4.2.3

Leverage cost-benefit analyses and other impact quantification approaches

States can quantify the larger suite of impacts associated with climate and land use policies and practice beyond GHG emissions. Developing new — or leveraging existing

 modeling frameworks that comprehensively quantify all costs and benefits associated with land development and conversion enables informed decision-making and effective climate action. Cost-benefit analyses, for example, help establish financial justification for protecting NWL, given their ecosystem services. These analyses also help justify advancing LED and CRD efforts, versus less efficient and protective development patterns, and inform policy approaches states can take to better realize climate and land use outcomes. Developing cost-benefit analyses that account for these benefits, particularly against baseline business-as-usual scenarios that do not account for regulatory or programmatic changes, communicates the value of climate and land use planning beyond GHG emissions reduction benefits to a wide range of stakeholders. During development of its 2020 state climate action plan,²⁷⁸ Maine conducted a suite of analyses that quantified GHG emissions reduction estimates for a range of transportation, buildings, and energy sector policies; economic analysis of potential GHG mitigation and climate adaptation policies; and a "cost of doing nothing" analysis of economic impacts, job losses, and ecosystem services losses in NWL if the state took no action to reduce GHG emissions or improve climate resilience.279

Development of NWL can lead to losses of soil carbon, flood protection, and habitat. These lands provide critical ecosystem services, the value of which can be quantified and integrated into investment decisions. Preservation and restoration of NWL can be cost-effective approaches to reduce carbon emissions and the risks associated with natural hazards and adaptation. Tracking the Benefits of Natural and Working Lands in the United States: Dataset Evaluation and Readiness Assessment, a joint publication of the U.S. Department of Agriculture, A Community on Ecosystem Services, and Duke University's Nicholas Institute,²⁸⁰ presents datasets states can leverage, to help quantify these benefits in a climate and land use context. The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration also published a resource to provide guidance on approaches for measuring the value of ecosystem services in a coastal management context.²⁸¹ Additionally, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Green Infrastructure Cost Benefit Resources website has tools for evaluating investments that facilitate green infrastructure deployment.²⁸² Cost-benefit analyses help inform community discussions, including quantifying how communities are protected from both short-term and long-term losses when they move out of a hazard zone, and how ecosystem services and natural resource assets may expand.

Numerous non-GHG emissions benefits are associated with pursuing more compact development patterns and climate and land use efforts generally. The Victoria Transportation Policy Institute's white paper, *Understanding Smart Growth Savings*,²⁸³ provides an overview of these benefits, including but not limited to fiscal, public health, and economic benefits. While this white paper is largely focused on impacts resulting from implementation of more LED-oriented policies, states can consider these impacts to inform their own cost-benefit analyses across a range of climate and land use efforts. States can also work with other subject matter experts and economists to identify ways to build robust analytical frameworks that account for the multiple impacts and benefits associated with climate and land use programs. For example, a report prepared for the Vermont Agency of Transportation found that focusing future growth in areas with low VMT and following smart growth development principles could not only be effective in reducing GHG emissions, but also realize several co-benefits such as improved traffic safety, improved public health, reduced maintenance costs, and avoided infrastructure development.²⁸⁴

States can also consider ways to account for costs and benefits as part of local government planning efforts. For example, Maryland explored fiscal implications of new road development in different growth scenarios, finding that more LED-oriented growth patterns could provide cost savings across the state.²⁸⁵ Colorado's SB24-174 established a requirement to account for long-term fiscal impacts associated with providing infrastructure to new development as part of comprehensive planning efforts for local and county governments.²⁸⁶ The *Rationale for Smart Growth Fiscal Impact Assessment Guide and Model Fiscal Impact Assessment Ordinance*,²⁸⁷ produced by Smart Growth America, provides a framework to help illustrate fiscal impacts and presents a model ordinance for local governments to adopt. States may also consider approaches to quantify other impacts and benefits, such as in public health, equity, and addressing climate vulnerability, as outlined in the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association's Handbook.²⁸⁸

Leveraging the social cost of greenhouse gases (SC-GHG) in this quantification can help states calculate the economic benefit of GHG emissions reductions that result from climate and land use efforts. States can find guidance in the U.S. Climate Alliance's *Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases: A Guide for State Officials*,²⁸⁹ which includes approaches for SC-GHG implementation in a land use context. Regarding LED, the guide specifically notes: "Insofar as these sorts of land use decisions' emissions impacts are quantifiable, then the SC-GHG can help inform relevant decision-makers. Monetizing those emissions' harms using the SC-GHG renders the harms comparable to other impacts that bear on the decision, like the degree of economic stimulation, consumer benefit, or tax revenue a decision would generate. In that sense, the SC-GHG can help enable apples-to-apples comparisons of a decision's harms and benefits."

Using the guidance outlined in the *Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases: A Guide for State Officials,* states can highlight the avoided emissions that may result from avoided NWL conversion and other emissions reductions associated with climate and land use efforts.

4.2.4

Incentivize or require data-driven land use decision-making at the local level

As part of local and regional planning requirements, states can incentivize or require the use of state datasets, methodologies, or tools, allowing the use of locally available data as appropriate. For example, as part of the implementation of HB 1181 in Washington, the state's Department of Commerce provided GHG emissions inventories for the 11 counties required to create a GHG sub-element as part of their comprehensive plans, which helps these counties identify appropriate measures to help reduce their GHG emissions in compliance with the law.²⁹⁰

Exploring opportunities to require the use of maps or mapping resources can help states ensure that local land use decisions assess more accurately the regional implications — including impacts and benefits — of growth, development, and conservation. Requiring the use of regional and state datasets and mapping tools also creates alignment and consistency across jurisdictions in their analyses. Several states have provided accessible data and decision-support tools,²⁹¹ which help identify the drivers of vulnerability in their states and draw from national climate risk and vulnerability indexes, such as the FEMA National Risk Index.²⁹²

4.2.5

Establish or contribute to centralized, public open-source data platforms to promote transparency and accessibility

Data platforms that aggregate land use data across sectors can be valuable tools to help states understand the extent of issues or challenges at the state level and can help local and regional governments and other groups in their own climate and land use efforts. To provide relevant information for land use policy development and decision-making, states could develop centralized land use data platforms that detail general land use data across all jurisdictions. Many Alliance members already offer access to state-hosted geospatial data on state agency websites or centralized geographic information systems platforms, which provide states opportunities to build on existing platforms to make relevant data available for land use planning. One such example is Vermont's Open Geodata Portal,²⁹³ which includes spatial information on land cover, transportation, utilities, demographics, and climate hazards. Additionally, agencies from Maine, Michigan, New York, and Vermont have collaborated with the National Zoning Atlas to compile and map zoning data across jurisdictions to foster understanding of how lands are zoned,²⁹⁴ which states could leverage as part of their own efforts.

Standardized and internally consistent data collection methods, formats, and metadata can help states facilitate land use data sharing and interoperability for all data and data platforms they create. Collaboration with stakeholders, including local and regional governments, academic institutions, non-governmental organizations, and community groups, can help ensure that land use data collection efforts align with the needs of various sectors and user groups, especially in communities often undercounted or underrepresented in national and state datasets. These efforts can improve the collection, management, and dissemination of data on climate policies and land use planning, facilitating informed decision-making and promoting transparency and accountability in project and program planning, implementation, and evaluation.

States could also consider investing in the development and maintenance of data platforms, as well as in the training and hiring of staff to update and manage them. Efforts to promote accuracy at all scales, including the project level, help facilitate more informed decision-making. For states with smaller data teams and limited budgets, the costs of

building, maintaining, and staffing robust data platforms may be prohibitive. However, states can explore partnerships with academic institutions or research groups to help fill gaps. The U.S. Department of Agriculture's Hatch Multistate Research Fund,²⁹⁵ for example, supports universities and state agencies across the western U.S. in producing directly comparable data, collected with standardized techniques, at a regional scale to inform climate and land use policies. These data have been used to support drought mitigation planning by the Navajo, Hopi, and White Mountain Apache Tribal governments, storm hazard reduction through modeling by California universities and state and local governments, and wildfire management and real-time response by Nevada fire managers.²⁹⁶

4.2.6

Identify metrics and establish performance targets around climate, land use, and equity

States can advance social equity outcomes in land use planning, development, and conservation decisions by integrating equity-based metrics and performance targets in the evaluation of climate and land use policies. Setting metrics using a "SMART" format — specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time-bound — to advance social equity outcomes in land use planning, development, and conservation decisions can aid this effort. Such metrics provide a framework to drive alignment and consistency across all scales of governments, especially with Tribal, regional, and local governments. These frameworks also can help guide investments, including equipping, monitoring, and evaluating programs to address landscape-scale management questions. Examples of such frameworks include:

California Natural and Working Lands Climate Smart Strategy: This strategy
outlines a clear state roadmap for monitoring and tracking nature-based climate
solutions, including those around social equity outcomes of NWL conservation,
restoration, and protection of NWL activities and efforts.²⁹⁷ These encompass
social justice and equity indicators such as the number of acres managed, comanaged, transferred to, and owned by California Native American Tribes; acres
of community co-managed or owned properties managed for climate benefits;
and number of NBS implemented in climate-vulnerable communities.

- Guam Green Growth Initiative: Established through Executive Order 2019-23,²⁹⁸ the Guam Green Growth Initiative aims to cultivate an ecosystem for transformative action to achieve a more sustainable, prosperous, and equitable future for the island.²⁹⁹ The Initiative's action framework identifies goals, objectives, metrics, and other actions to help achieve the goals of the Executive Order. The Framework identified a series of objectives leveraging the "SMART" format to address topics such as land conservation, relocation of critical infrastructure away from flood or low-lying areas, and housing resilience, and reports on progress to the public via a dashboard website.
- **Maryland Compact Development Statistic:** Maryland established and realized an aspirational compact development goal of 75 percent between 2011 and 2020 and seeks to maintain this performance between 2024 and 2045.³⁰⁰ Using the formula, the Statistic prioritizes more multifamily housing development and more single-family housing development on smaller lots in the state's designated growth areas.
- Oregon Transportation Emissions Website: As noted in the section on page 50, "Foster a culture of data-driven policy development and decision-making," Oregon developed a Statewide Transportation Study as a roadmap for decarbonizing the transportation sector.³⁰¹ To continue this effort, the state developed the Oregon Transportation Emissions website to communicate the performance management approach the state developed to measure progress in meeting emissions reduction goals, including those related to land use, such as compact mixed-use areas and parking reform and management.³⁰² The website reports on progress and provides transparency.

To elevate resilience, states can consider leveraging the recommended indicators and metrics, along with an approach for developing these recommendations, in the University of Minnesota's *Tracking for Impact: Development of Climate Resilience Metrics for Minnesota*, a report for the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency.³⁰³ The state partnered with the university to develop metrics and indicators the state can use to monitor and assess its progress in increasing community and landscape resilience. These recommendations reflect the initiatives of the Minnesota Climate Action Framework's resilient communities goal,³⁰⁴ and provide approaches to measure and track progress in building capacity for climate-smart communities, expanding and protecting healthy community green spaces and water resources, and creating more resilient buildings, infrastructure, and business.

4.3 Stakeholder Engagement and Partnership

Overview

The cross-cutting and multisectoral nature of land use planning and climate work requires collaborative action in developing and implementing climate-informed land use policy. Collaboration across state government agencies, local and regional governments, and other stakeholders can result in workable policy solutions that achieve complementary climate-aligned goals.

Stakeholder engagement and partnership requires working with communities, businesses, and other groups and individuals engaged in, or impacted by, climate and land use decision-making. Given the complexities of this work, this Guide will not offer strategies for engaging every stakeholder type; rather, the Guide provides general approaches states can use to engage and partner with various stakeholders. Since communities are most familiar with the challenges they face and have extensive local knowledge, state engagement with communities is critical to identifying effective and implementable solutions. The strategies in this Guide can help states involve stakeholders in climate and land use efforts, work through and address stakeholder concerns, and develop effective partnerships with communities and other groups.

Strategies

4.3.1 Partner with Tribes, Tribal Governments, and Indigenous Peoples

As the original stewards of the land that is now the U.S., Tribal nations and communities are critical partners for states seeking to enact ambitious climate action. Many Tribal nations and communities are leading climate adaptation and mitigation actions, guided by Indigenous Knowledge and values,³⁰⁵ including protecting natural lands and waters from pollution and degradation, preserving biodiversity through the revitalization of endangered species, and developing resilience to climate change.

Strong partnerships with Tribes, Tribal Governments, and Indigenous Peoples on greenhouse gas mitigation and climate resilience offer states opportunities to respectfully incorporate Tribal and Indigenous science, Traditional Ecological Knowledge, and Tribal expertise into climate and land use policies, programs, and investments. Shared actions around land use and conservation, natural resource management, and stewardship also encourage Tribes and Tribal communities to co-own climate and land use decisions. States can leverage official visits to Tribes and Tribal ancestral lands to illustrate and recognize the application of Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Indigenous land management practices: Governor Tim Walz was the first governor in state history to visit all federally recognized Tribal Nations who share geography with Minnesota on their lands,³⁰⁶ and in 2024, Governor Tina Kotek visited all of Oregon's

nine federally recognized sovereign Tribal nations, including a visit with the Cow Creek Band of Umpqua Tribe of Indians that highlighted the tribe's ecocultural forest and fish management.³⁰⁷

California's EO N-15-19,³⁰⁸ which established the Truth and Healing Council,³⁰⁹ provides an avenue for California Native Americans to clarify historical records and provide their historical perspective on the troubled relationship between Tribes and the state. As part of collaborative and consultative work with the Council, the state has developed several programs and initiatives, such as the Tribal Nature-Based Solutions Grant Program,³¹⁰ which supports the return of ancestral land to Tribal stewardship and Tribal initiatives that benefit communities while helping to achieve the state's climate and conservation goals. California also created a grant program, the Tribal Capacity Building Pilot Program, to provide funding and technical assistance to California Native American Tribes, enhancing their staff capacity to advance Tribes' climate-related work.³¹¹ Washington's Tribal Climate Resilience Grant Program, co-designed with Tribes in the state, provides flexible funding through the Climate Commitment Act to address Tribes' climate resilience needs across all stages of project development and implementation.³¹²

Additionally, Michigan, Minnesota, and Wisconsin have explored and initiated efforts to work with Tribes to support Manoomin^{ix} cultivation and preservation, which is threatened by climate change and also provides several ecosystem services that enhance NWL health. Two Minnesota Executive Orders, 18-08 and 18-09,^{313,314} established a Governor's Task Force on Wild Rice, which published recommendations on addressing challenges associated with protecting wild rice.³¹⁵ Michigan state agencies are partners in the Michigan Wild Rice Initiative,³¹⁶ which is developing a Statewide Tribal-State Manoomin Stewardship Plan.³¹⁷ The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources is partnering with Tribal Nations and the Great Lakes Indian Fish & Wildlife Commission to expand and accelerate research and resilient strategies for Manoomin beds in Wisconsin waters, and develop educational and awareness materials for Wisconsinites using lakes and ponds with Manoomin beds to better protect this resource.³¹⁸

Recent federal uniform standards on consultation with Tribes and Native Hawai'ian communities — as well as co-stewardship agreements and expanded grant programs — that support Nation-to-Nation cross-sectoral collaboration on transportation, renewable energy, infrastructure, land management, and climate-ready workforce development can serve as models for states' work.³¹⁹ The U.S. Departments of the Interior and Agriculture have also established the Tribal Homelands Initiative, which focuses on improving federal stewardship of public lands, waters, and wildlife through bolstering the role of Tribal communities in federal land management.³²⁰ Through this initiative, the U.S. Forest Service has established an action plan for implementing more than 140 co-stewardship agreements, established policy adjustments to incorporate Indigenous Knowledge in management of forest lands, and several other policy changes to support greater Tribal capacity and co-stewardship of public lands.

4.3.2 Empower communities and build capacity

States could support community-based organizations through capacity building and technical assistance programs that enable community-led efforts and cross-sectoral partnerships to help realize climate and land use outcomes. One example of such support involves establishing criteria in state land use planning and grant programs, as does California's Transformative Climate Communities grant program,³²¹ which requires strong partnerships with local community groups as part of grant scoring criteria. Another mechanism includes enabling community-based organizations to support climate and land use efforts, whether through financing or other approaches that remove barriers to community-led projects. For example, states can evaluate whether the support they provide to organizations, such as community development corporations, enables them to leverage their community-based expertise in advancing climate and land use planning. The New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection's Community Collaborative Initiative.³²² a collaborative effort between the department, local governments, and community organizations to transform New Jersey's environmental justice communities into centers for environmental endeavors, economic progress, and sustainable development, has embedded liaisons in 12 underserved communities. They help find and leverage resources and facilitate innovative and multiple-use solutions to better support communities.

ix The Ojibwe word for what is commonly known as wild rice. See: <u>https://seagrant.wisc.edu/manoomin/background/</u>. Given the common use and spelling of Manoomin by the state agencies referenced in this paragraph, the Guide also uses Manoomin. The Dakota word for wild rice, Psin, is sometimes used by other state and government agencies such as those in Minnesota where appropriate. See: <u>https://www.eqb.state.mn.us/sites/eqb/files/documents/FINAL%20Governor%27s%20Task%20Force%20on%20Wild%20Rice%20</u> Report%20January%203%202019.pdf.

States may also support land trusts to provide communities and organizations with mechanisms to develop permanently affordable housing and conserve lands. A working paper from the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy,³²³ for example, explores how community land trusts traditionally oriented around affordable housing and conservation land trusts — traditionally oriented around land conservation — could collaborate to support each other's goals. The paper also discusses various state programs facilitating collaborative land trust efforts, highlighting the approach of the Vermont Housing & Conservation Board.³²⁴

Additionally, state financing mechanisms can facilitate other types of communitybased development. Michigan's PA 264, the Michigan Invests Locally Exemption Act,³²⁵ enables crowdfunding of projects and businesses from nonaccredited investors in the state, capped at \$10,000 per investor. The Act's provisions were credited in enabling community-based financing for the construction of a cooperatively owned 47,000-square foot mixed-use building featuring affordable housing units in downtown Traverse City, a popular tourist destination experiencing development pressure and loss of affordable housing.³²⁶

4.3.3

Support models of equitable local engagement and community understanding

States can help increase participation in climate and land use processes from lowincome populations and communities of color who have most often been historically marginalized by land use policies, whether in state-led efforts or in projects that states fund. When engaging communities on climate and land use efforts, states could scope and implement strategies that recognize and acknowledge the community's time and expertise through stipends or other support during community engagement exercises, such as childcare and meals. By exploring these engagement models, states can create robust and coordinated approaches to advancing state climate and land use vision and strategies, support regional and local implementation, and invest in and create enabling conditions to gain community support for land use planning, development, and conservation decisions. For example, Colorado's HB22-1304,³²⁷ which established the state's Strong Communities Grant Program,³²⁸ incentivizes the adoption of transformational practices, programs, and policies to support sustainable development patterns and affordable housing. One of the program's core objectives is to remedy historical and persistent inequities in housing choice. The Department of Local Affairs, which manages the program, developed guidance for potential applicants on how the Department would evaluate considerations like inclusive engagement in applications.³²⁹ This guidance includes details about elements of equitable meetings, including holding community meetings in locations that are welcoming, promoting meetings in multiple languages, offering language interpretation, providing childcare upon request, and compensating attendees. It also acknowledges the value of working with community navigators and cultural brokers in engagement processes.

States could explore ways to support models of authentic engagement with local communities around climate and land use efforts. These models help create shared understanding of benefits and impacts to communities, respond to and address community concerns, refine approaches to address impacts and concerns, and potentially increase stakeholder support throughout the process. These engagement models may include:

- Early and frequent engagement with impacted communities and stakeholders.
- New opportunities for communities and stakeholders to provide feedback, and for officials to show how feedback has been integrated into policies, programs, and projects.
- Increased direct engagement and relationship building, including through popup engagement events where appropriate.
- Leveraging multiple types of media to disseminate and receive information, including opportunities for virtual engagement.

While not a climate and land use-specific resource, the Minnesota Department of Administration's Office of Collaboration and Dispute Resolution assists state and local governments in designing and delivering meaningful public engagement, offering a Public Engagement Resource Library to aid in this effort.³³⁰ The office also developed a *Deliberative Public Engagement Handbook* to assist in its engagement efforts.³³¹ States can leverage this or similar resources for climate and land use efforts.

Regarding solar, wind, or battery storage infrastructure deployment, states can explore the following resources for ways to support, implement, or advance recommendations:

- Assessment of Renewable Energy Siting and Permitting Policies from the Clean Air Task Force, NRDC, and The Nature Conservancy: See the section on "Recommended Best Practices During Renewable Permitting Process."³³²
- Community Centered Solar Development (CCSD) Study Interviews from the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory: See findings outlined in RQ3 and RQ4.³³³
- Lessons Learned: Community Engagement for Wind Energy Development in Michigan from the Wind Energy Stakeholder Committee, Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy: See the full document for recommendations and best practices.³³⁴
- SOLAR@SCALE: A Local Government Guidebook for Improving Large-Scale Solar Development Outcomes from the American Planning Association and the International City/County Management Association: See discussion on "Fostering Authentic Public Participation."³³⁵

Leveraging these and other engagement practices helps create understanding in communities around issues that could impact subsequent climate and land use efforts. For example, states can foster conversations with communities around rebuilding transportation assets after recurring flooding events to engage on concepts such as climate risk, land use planning, and resilience. These opportunities can also provide a way for states to discuss adaptation strategies — such as NBS — that can be applied in other contexts, including in more intensely developed or populated communities to mitigate flood risk there.

Finally, states can leverage storytelling and visual media, such as photos and videos of communities, facilities, and landscapes, to illustrate climate and land use outcomes in practice and help assuage concerns regarding policy impacts. For example, Washington's EZview tool provides links to photo libraries of LED-compatible housing typologies that local governments can use as part of their Housing Action Plan development efforts.³³⁶ Vermont's Homes for All Toolkit,³³⁷ which provides guidance to housing developers, investors, and local governments in supporting location-efficient housing development, offers visual examples of infill housing where design complements Vermont's existing

architectural styles. Tools such as these can help states respond to community concerns about visual impacts resulting from these and other climate and land use efforts. Using similar practices, such as visual renderings or images of actions taken elsewhere, helps illustrate what climate resilience, NWL practices, or ZEI infrastructure deployment efforts may look like in communities to help mitigate concerns.

4.3.4

Communicate the benefits of climate and land use planning outcomes to broad audiences

States play a crucial communications role in helping stakeholders outside of government understand the long-term implications of climate and land use planning. Leveraging costbenefit analyses (see section 4.2 on page 50, Data-Driven Planning and Decision-Making) can provide states with a starting point for quantifying and communicating the benefits of climate and land use planning for a wide range of audiences. States can also consider using language presented in the Policy Outcomes chapter to help frame the benefits of implementing climate and land use policy to different stakeholder and community groups. These efforts can also emphasize the role climate and land use planning can play in supporting state efforts to address the climate crisis and other state policy challenges.

Providing simple messaging resources for local decision-makers to help communicate the rationale and need for implementing climate and land use policies and to address community concerns and questions about these policies can help states strengthen engagement. Colorado's *Land Use and Climate Fact Sheet* helps communicate these benefits through multiple lenses, describing how the state's strategic growth efforts support improved climate, public health, environmental, economic, and equity outcomes.³³⁸ States can also design and compile resources that local decision-makers and other stakeholders can leverage in their own benefits communication work. In addition to providing guidance on implementation, Oregon's CFEC program,³³⁹ which provides resources about climate and land use planning to local governments, helps describe how regulations will facilitate state efforts to meet climate and equity goals. Resources also explain the benefits of different CFEC elements — particularly around parking — using plain language text,³⁴⁰ case studies,³⁴¹ and storytelling.³⁴²

Different framing approaches to communicate climate and land use planning co-benefits to audiences who may not respond as readily to climate-oriented framings may also be used. These approaches can be particularly effective when they discuss guality-of-life benefits for communities. The Wisconsin Department of Health Services' former Livable Communities grant program,³⁴³ for example, discussed LED benefits through a public health lens, noting ways in which communities that employ LED practices support social connection, make communities more livable for older adults and people with disabilities, enhance personal independence, and facilitate aging in place. Regarding economic development, the MiPlace program, established through Michigan's Economic Development Corporation,³⁴⁴ provides technical assistance to help communities become more attractive for development projects that create places where people want to live, work, and invest (as discussed in the Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning section on page 45, "Provide technical assistance and support to local and regional planning organizations and elevate regional programs"). Many of the MiPlace resources leverage LED practices to support economic development and placemaking^x activities, helping to communicate their value and benefits to communities across the state. Additionally, North Carolina's Natural and Working Lands Action Plan recognizes how NWL create economic opportunities for agri-business, recreation, and tourism.³⁴⁵

When communicating about LED, using language focused on expanding transportation and housing choice can help states communicate a need for climate and land use policies and address consumer and public demand for expanded choices. For example, the National Association of Realtors found that Americans largely prefer walkable communities over those that require driving for commuting and meeting other daily needs in its 2023 *National Community and Transportation Preferences* survey.³⁴⁶ Yet Smart Growth America's 2023 *Foot Traffic Ahead* report found that such walkable communities are in short supply.³⁴⁷ The Pew Charitable Trusts also found that a large majority of Americans favor policies to enable more housing, particularly near public transportation, job centers, schools, and other amenities.³⁴⁸ Appendix E of California's *2022 Scoping Plan* uses a policy framework to make this connection to advancing sustainable and equitable communities by noting public interest in changes to land use and transportation planning to help people drive less.³⁴⁹ States can consider leveraging these and other similar findings to illustrate the need for LED-compatible policies that help close this gap and increase access to more affordable and lower-cost housing and multimodal transportation choices in communities.

As discussed in the Cross-Sectoral and Intergovernmental Planning section on page 46, "Integrate and coordinate climate and land use with housing policies," linking housing and climate policy is a highly complementary approach, particularly when doing so helps address the nation's housing shortage and the increasing costs of housing. Communicating the role of more energy-efficient housing in promoting housing affordability and reducing climate vulnerability to extreme weather events can also be a sound strategy; for example, as in the case of extreme heat as outlined in Arizona's Extreme Heat Preparedness Plan.³⁵⁰ Leveraging these benefits when communicating with stakeholders can help create additional momentum and support for such efforts. Framing energy-efficient housing can create support across a wide range of stakeholders for climate and land use efforts.

NWL messaging can focus on how efforts to support healthy NWL create opportunities for outdoor recreation that can improve public health outcomes and support economic development activities in communities. Individuals who hunt, fish, or forage for sport or subsistence may be receptive to messages around NWL efforts that protect and improve habitat health for wildlife and help preserve cultural practices. Farmers and ranchers may be receptive to messages around NWL efforts that help protect their lands and livelihoods from urbanization, helping to minimize conflicts that may stem from the urban-rural divide. Oregon's SB 100,³⁵¹ along with Vermont's Act 250 Program,³⁵² grew from recognition of the need to protect each respective state's agricultural lands and the natural and cultural value of its landscapes.

x Per the Project for Public Spaces, "Placemaking inspires people to collectively reimagine and reinvent public spaces as the heart of every community. Strengthening the connection between people and the places they share, placemaking refers to a collaborative process by which we can shape our public realm in order to maximize shared value. More than just promoting better urban design, placemaking facilitates creative patterns of use, paying particular attention to the physical, cultural, and social identities that define a place and support its ongoing evolution." See: https://www.pps.org/category/placemaking



Conclusion

Land use planning is a powerful tool to help states meet their GHG emissions targets and become more climate resilient. Lands and land use patterns play a significant role in managing GHG emissions and carbon sequestration, as well as in the ability of communities to prevent, reduce, withstand, and recover from climate-related impacts. The complex, intersectional, and interdisciplinary nature of land use policy requires similarly intersectional and interdisciplinary approaches to address climate change challenges.

Addressing these challenges holistically through land use also provides an opportunity to focus on other policy concerns such as housing affordability, public health, economic development, access to open space and recreational opportunities, and social equity. Climate and land use planning can provide significant co-benefits that can improve the quality of life and well-being of communities and of ecosystems. While approaches to address climate impacts through land use policy must be tailored to the unique challenges and opportunities that exist in each state, states have multiple policy levers available to address climate change and realize these co-benefits.

State policymakers can begin to map out how to help advance their climate goals through land use by considering the recommendations provided in this Guide. The highlighted Policy Outcomes of realizing more location-efficient development, healthy NWL, and climate-resilient development, along with the Governance Strategies recommendations, can help states achieve effective and inclusive transformations. With growing interest in land use across the country, states are in a prime position to help accelerate climate action through land use. There is no time to waste.

References

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). "Climate Change 2022 Mitigation of Climate Change: Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change." Cambridge, UK and New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, August 17, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.
- 2 American Public Health Association. *Active Transportation: Benefitting Health, Safety and Equity.* 2010. https://www.apha.org/-/media/files/pdf/topics/transport/apha_active_transportation_fact_sheet_2010.pdf.
- 3 Litman, Todd. Urban Sanity: Understanding Urban Mental Health Impacts and How to Create Saner, Happier Cities. Victoria, BC, Canada: Victoria Transport Policy Institute. August 29, 2024. https://www.vtpi.org/urban-sanity.pdf.
- 4 Mouratidis, Kostas. "Urban Planning and Quality of Life: A Review of Pathways Linking the Built Environment to Subjective Well-Being." Cities 115 (2021): 103229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2021.103229</u>.
- 5 Poupinha, Carolina, and Jan Dornoff. The Bigger the Better? How Battery Size Affects Real-World Energy Consumption, Cost of Ownership, and Life-Cycle Emissions of Electric Vehicles. The International Council on Clean Transportation. April 2024. <u>https://theicct.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2024/04/ID-80-%E2%80%93-BEVs-size-Report-A4-70138-v8.pdf.
- 6 Riofrancos, Thea, Alissa Kendall, Kristi K. Dayemo, Matthew Haugen, Kira McDonald, Batul Hassan, Margaret Slattery, and Xan Lillehei. *Achieving Zero Emissions with More Mobility and Less Mining.* Climate and Community Project, UC Davis. January 2023. <u>https://climate-andcommunity.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/23_03_08_ENG-Lithium.pdf</u>.
- 7 Walter, Daan, Will Atkinson, Sudeshna Mohanty, Kingsmill Bond, Chiara Gulli, and Amory Lovins. *The Battery Mineral Loop: The Path from Extraction to Circularity.* RMI. July 2024. <u>https://rmi.org/wp-content/uploads/dlm_uploads/2024/07/the_battery_mineral_loop_report_July.pdf</u>.
- Li, Eyal, Georg Bieker, and Arjit Sen. *Electrifying road transportation with less mining: A glob-al and regional battery material outlook*. The International Council on Clean Transportation.
 December 2024. <u>https://theicct.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/ID-206-%E2%80%93-Battery-outlook_report_final.pdf</u>.
- 9 EPRI, Natural Resources Defense Council. Valuing Improvements in Electric Vehicle Efficiency. Palo Alto, CA: ERPI, Natural Resources Defense Council. April 2024. <u>https://www.epri.</u> com/research/products/00000003002030215.

- 10 Litman, Todd. Urban Sanity: Understanding Urban Mental Health Impacts and How to Create Saner, Happier Cities. Victoria, BC, Canada: Victoria Transport Policy Institute. August 29, 2024. https://www.vtpi.org/urban-sanity.pdf.
- 11 Mouratidis, Kostas. "Urban Planning and Quality of Life: A Review of Pathways Linking the Built Environment to Subjective Well-Being." Cities 115 (2021): 103229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2021.103229</u>.
- 12 Zhu, Manman, N.N. Sze, and Sharon Newnam. "Effect of Urban Street Trees on Pedestrian Safety: A Micro-Level Pedestrian Casualty Model Using Multivariate Bayesian Spatial Approach." Accident Analysis & Prevention 176 (2022): 106818. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> aap.2022.106818.
- 13 Litman, Todd. Understanding Smart Growth Savings Evaluating the Savings and Benefits of Compact Development. Victoria, BC, Canada: Victoria Transport Policy Institute. December 3, 2024. <u>https://vtpi.org/sg_save.pdf</u>.
- 14 Choi, Kenneth, and Christopher A. Fricke. Fiscal Impact Analysis: Analyzing the Effects of Smart Growth on Projected Road Development in 2030. Baltimore, MD: Maryland Department of Planning. 2010. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20150909182252/http://www.mdp.</u> state.md.us/PDF/OurWork/FiscalImpact_RoadProjection.pdf.
- 15 Guerra, Erick, Gilles Duranton, and Xinyu Ma. "Urban Roadway in America: The Amount, Extent, and Value." *Journal of the American Planning Association*, August 5, 2024, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2024.2368260.
- 16 U.S. Climate Alliance. Enabling Industrial Decarbonization: A Policy Guidebook for U.S. States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Climate Alliance. December 2022. <u>https://usclimatealliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/USClimateAlliance_Guide_IndustrialDecarbonization-StatePolicyGuidebook_2022_EditedAug2023.pdf</u>.
- 17 Stark, Melissa and Gregory Claes. *Why industrial clusters are key to unlocking the potential of carbon capture solutions*. World Economic Forum. August 16, 2023. <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2023/08/industrial-clusters-carbon-capture-belgium-uk/</u>.
- 18 Guerra, Erick, Gilles Duranton, and Xinyu Ma. "Urban Roadway in America: The Amount, Extent, and Value." *Journal of the American Planning Association*, August 5, 2024, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2024.2368260</u>.

- 19 Litman, Todd. Urban Sanity: Understanding Urban Mental Health Impacts and How to Create Saner, Happier Cities. Victoria, BC, Canada: Victoria Transport Policy Institute. August 29, 2024. https://www.vtpi.org/urban-sanity.pdf.
- 20 Mouratidis, Kostas. "Urban Planning and Quality of Life: A Review of Pathways Linking the Built Environment to Subjective Well-Being." Cities 115 (2021): 103229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2021.103229</u>.
- 21 Berrill, Peter, and Edgar G. Hertwich. "Material Flows and GHG Emissions from Housing Stock Evolution in US Counties, 2020–60." *Buildings & Cities* 2, no. 1 (July 2, 2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/bc.126</u>.
- Ewing, Reid, and Fang Rong. "The Impact of Urban Form on U.S. Residential Energy Use." *Housing Policy Debate* 19, no. 1 (January 1, 2008): 1–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.</u> 2008.9521624.
- U.S. Climate Alliance. "U.S. Climate Alliance Announces New Commitments to Decarbonize Buildings Across America, Quadruple Heat Pump Installations by 2030." September 21, 2023. https://usclimatealliance.org/press-releases/decarbonizing-americas-buildings-sep-2023/.
- Liu, Xiaobing, Jonathan Ho, Jeff Winick, Sean Porse, Jamie Lian, Xiaofei Wang, Weijia Liu, Mini Malhotra, Yanfei Li, and Jyothis Anand. "Grid Cost and Total Emissions Reductions Through Mass Deployment of Geothermal Heat Pumps for Building Heating and Cooling Electrification in the United States." Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL), Oak Ridge, TN (United States), November 1, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.2172/2224191</u>.
- 25 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Growing Toward More Efficient Water Use: Linking Development, Infrastructure, and Drinking Water Policies. January 2006. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20240929121008/https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2014-01/documents/grow-ing_water_use_efficiency.pdf</u>.
- 26 Radeloff, Volker C., Miranda H. Mockrin, David Helmers, Amanda Carlson, Todd J. Hawbaker, Sebastian Martinuzzi, Franz Schug, Patricia M. Alexandre, H. Anu Kramer, and Anna M. Pidgeon. "Rising Wildfire Risk to Houses in the United States, Especially in Grasslands and Shrublands." *Science* 382, no. 6671 (November 10, 2023): 702–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.ade9223</u>.
- 27 Stone, Brian, Jeremy J. Hess, and Howard Frumkin. "Urban Form and Extreme Heat Events: Are Sprawling Cities More Vulnerable to Climate Change Than Compact Cities?" *Environmental Health Perspectives* 118, no. 10 (October 2010): 1425–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/</u> <u>ehp.0901879</u>.

- 28 US Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. "Coastal and Waterfront Smart Growth: ELEMENT 2." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://web.</u> archive.org/web/20241127180100/https://coastalsmartgrowth.noaa.gov/elements/design.html.
- 29 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Protecting Water Resources with Higher-Density Development. January 2006. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250102042945/https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2014-03/documents/protect_water_higher_density1.pdf</u>.
- 30 Anjomshoaa, Amin, Fabio Duarte, Ricardo Alvarez, Rex Britter, and Carlo Ratti. "Quantifying the Anthropogenic Heat in Urban Areas Using Thermal Images." In 2016 International Conference on Computational Science and Computational Intelligence (CSCI), 647–52, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1109/CSCI.2016.0128.
- 31 Kolbe, Karin. "Mitigating Urban Heat Island Effect and Carbon Dioxide Emissions through Different Mobility Concepts: Comparison of Conventional Vehicles with Electric Vehicles, Hydrogen Vehicles and Public Transportation." *Transport Policy* 80 (August 1, 2019): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2019.05.007.
- 32 Bogardus Drew, Rachel, and Andrew Jakabovics. *Housing Markets and Climate Migration.* Washington, D.C.: Urban Institute. February 2023. <u>https://www.urban.org/sites/default/</u> files/2023-02/Housing%20Markets%20and%20Climate%20Migration.pdf.
- 33 Wilson, Kea. When Car Dependency Meets Climate Disaster (Sara McTarnaghan and Will Curran-Groome). The Brake. Accessed December 8, 2024. <u>https://directory.libsyn.com/episode/index/show/c6996bab-7d65-40aa-9d55-25a5764b8343/id/33409002</u>.
- 34 Anderson, M.J., D.A.F. Kiddle, and T.M. Logan. "The Underestimated Role of the Transportation Network: Improving Disaster & Community Resilience." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 106 (2022): 103218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2022.103218.
- 35 Espeland, Sierra, and Dana Rowangould. "Rural Travel Burdens in the United States: Unmet Need and Travel Costs." *Journal of Transport Geography* 121 (2024): 104016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2024.104016</u>.
- 36 Rothwell, Jonathan. 2016. Housing Costs, Zoning, and Access to High-Scoring Schools: Brookings Institution. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/0419_school_inequality_rothwell.pdf</u>.
- 37 U.S. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics. "Transportation Economic Trends: Transportation Spending - Average Household." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://data.bts.gov/stories/s/Transportation-Economic-Trends-Transportation-Spen/ida7k95k/.</u>

- 38 Raitt, Jennifer M. "Ending Zoning's Racist Legacy." American Planning Association Zoning Practice no. 1 (January 2022): 2-7. <u>https://planning-org-uploaded-media.s3.amazonaws.</u> com/publication/download_pdf/Zoning-Practice-2022-01.pdf.
- 39 Gray, M. Nolan. "Where Zoning Comes From." In *Arbitrary Lines: How Zoning Broke the American City and How to Fix It*, 11–30. Washington, D.C.: Island Press, 2022.
- 40 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Office of Policy Development and Research. Ensuring Equitable Neighborhood Change: Gentrification Pressures on Housing Affordability. December 2016. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20241129031627/https://www.</u> huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Insights-Ensuring-Equitable-Growth.pdf.
- 41 U.S. Climate Alliance. "U.S. Climate Alliance Members Collectively Secure Nearly \$3 Billion to Deploy Residential Solar Energy in Low-Income Communities Across America." April 22, 2024. <u>https://usclimatealliance.org/press-releases/epa-solar-for-all-apr-2024/</u>.
- 42 Jimenez, Marcia P., Nicole V. DeVille, Elise G. Elliott, Jessica E. Schiff, Grete E. Wilt, Jaime E. Hart, and Peter James. "Associations between Nature Exposure and Health: A Review of the Evidence." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 18, no. 9 (April 30, 2021): 4790. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094790</u>.
- 43 Rowland-Shea, Jenny, Sahir Doshi, Shanna Edberg, and Robert Fanger. *The Nature Gap:* Confronting Racial and Economic Disparities in the Destruction and Protection of Nature in America. Washington, D.C.: Center for American Progress. July 21, 2020. <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/07/The-Nature-Gap4.pdf</u>.
- 44 Locke, Dexter H., Billy Hall, J. Morgan Grove, Steward T. A. Pickett, Laura A. Ogden, Carissa Aoki, Christopher G. Boone, and Jarlath P. M. O'Neil-Dunne. "Residential Housing Segregation and Urban Tree Canopy in 37 US Cities." *Npj Urban Sustainability* 1, no. 1 (March 25, 2021): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42949-021-00022-0.
- 45 Great Outdoors Colorado. "Equity Commitment." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://goco.</u> <u>org/about/equity-commitment</u>.
- 46 California State Parks. "Outdoor Equity Grants Program." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=30443</u>.
- 47 New Mexico Outdoor Recreation Division. Outdoor Equity Fund: 2022 Program Guide. 2022. https://edd.newmexico.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/2022-Outdoor-Equity-Fund-Program-Guide-ENGLISH.pdf.
- Howell, Junia, and James R Elliott. "Damages Done: The Longitudinal Impacts of Natural Hazards on Wealth Inequality in the United States." *Social Problems* 66, no. 3 (August 1, 2019): 448–67. https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spy016.

- 49 Transportation & Climate Initiative. *Summary of Policy Options in State Climate Action Plans*. Washington, D.C.: Georgetown Climate Center. 2010. <u>https://www.georgetownclimate.org/files/report/TCI-SummaryofPolicyOptionsinClimateAction(1).PDF</u>.
- 50 American Planning Association. Equity in Zoning Policy Guide. Chicago, IL: American Planning Association. December 20, 2022. <u>https://planning-org-uploaded-media.s3.amazonaws.com/publication/download_pdf/Equity-in-Zoning-Policy-Guidev2.pdf</u>
- 51 Vermont General Assembly. S.100: *An act relating to housing opportunities made for everyone.* June 5, 2023. <u>https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2024/S.100</u>.
- 52 Smith, Stephen, and Eduardo Mendoza. "Point Access Block Building Design: Options for Building More Single-Stair Apartment Buildings in North America." *Cityscape* 26, no. 1 (2024): 431–47. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250101105250/https://www.huduser.gov/portal/periodicals/cityscape/vol26num1/ch25.pdf</u>.
- 53 Thomas, Toccara Nicole, et al. *Eliminating Zoning Barriers to Affordable Housing*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. September 30, 2024. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250117222053/https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Eliminating-Zoning-Barriers-to-Affordable-Housing-Guidebook.pdf</u>.
- 54 Michigan Legislature. PA 233. December 31, 2023. <u>https://www.legislature.mi.gov/Bills/Bill?-</u> ObjectName=2023-HB-5120.
- 55 Illinois General Assembly. HB 4412. January 27, 2023. <u>https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/Bill-Status.asp?DocNum=4412&GAID=16&DocTypeID=HB&LegId=137757&SessionID=110&-GA=102.</u>
- 56 Illinois General Assembly. SB 2408. September 15, 2021. <u>https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/</u> BillStatus.asp?DocNum=2408&GAID=16&DocTypeID=SB&SessionID=110&GA=102.
- 57 New Jersey Legislature. Bill S3223. July 9, 2021. <u>https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/bill-search/2020/S3223</u>.
- 58 New Jersey Department of Community Affairs. "DCA Model Statewide Municipal EV Ordinance." Accessed January 6, 2025. <u>https://www.nj.gov/dca/dlps/home/modelEVordinance.</u> <u>shtml</u>.
- 59 California State Legislature. AB-2011: Affordable Housing and High Road Jobs Act of 2022. September 28, 2022. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_ id=202120220AB2011.
- 60 Washington State Legislature. SB 5412: *Reducing local governments' land use permitting workloads*. May 9, 2023. <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=5412&-</u> <u>Year=2023&Initiative=false</u>.

- 61 California State Legislature. AB-2221: Accessory dwelling units. September 28, 2022. <u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2221</u>.
- 62 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Office of Policy Development and Research. *Ensuring Equitable Neighborhood Change: Gentrification Pressures on Housing Affordability*. December 2016. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250104121634/https://www.</u> huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Insights-Ensuring-Equitable-Growth.pdf.
- 63 Washington State Department of Commerce. *Guidance to Address Racially Disparate Impacts*. April 2023. https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/1l217l98jattb87gobtw63pkplzhxege.
- 64 Washington State Legislature. HB 1220: Supporting emergency shelters and housing through local planning and development regulations. May 12, 2021. <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsum-</u> mary?Year=2021&BillNumber=1220.
- 65 Chapple, Karen, and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. *White Paper on Anti-Displacement Strategy Effectiveness*. Sacramento, CA: California Air Resources Board. February 28, 2021. <u>https://</u> ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2021-04/19RD018%20-%20Anti-Displacement%20Strategy%20Effectiveness.pdf
- U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Office of Policy Development and Research. *Ensuring Equitable Neighborhood Change: Gentrification Pressures on Housing Affordability*. December 2016. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250104121634/https://www.</u> huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Insights-Ensuring-Equitable-Growth.pdf.
- 67 New Jersey Legislature. Bill A3352. November 8, 2021. <u>https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/bill-search/2020/A3352</u>.
- 68 Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection. "Solar Siting Policy." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.dep.pa.gov:443/Citizens/solar/Pages/Solar-Siting-Policy.aspx</u>.
- 69 Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection. "Assessment of Solar Development on Previously Impacted Mine Lands in Pennsylvania." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://files.</u> <u>dep.state.pa.us/Energy/Solar/ASDPIMLPA_ES.pdf</u>.
- 70 Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources. *The Guide to Developing Solar Photovoltaics at Massachusetts Landfills*. 2012. <u>https://archives.lib.state.ma.us/server/api/core/</u> bitstreams/db17f24c-d798-4411-9a48-a58d78b294fc/content.
- 71 Simons, Siri, Jessica Oh, and David Scott. "Addressing Climate Change: A Look inside Minnesota Clean Energy and Connectivity Projects." Public Roads, Summer 2022. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20241007082100/https://highways.dot.gov/public-roads/summer-2022/04</u>.
- 72 Putnam, Morgan, and Laura Rogers. NextGen Highways Feasibility Study for the Minnesota Department of Transportation: Buried High-Voltage Direct Current Transmission. NGI Con-

sulting, The Ray, Great Plains Institute, Satterfield Consulting, Tracy Warren, 5 Lakes Energy. April 13, 2022. <u>https://nextgenhighways.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/NexGen-Highways-Analysis-Report-2.1.24.pdf</u>.

- 73 Minnesota Legislature. HF 5247. May 24, 2024. <u>https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/bill.php?b=-</u> House&f=HF5247&y=2024&ssn=0.
- 74 Sec. 161.45 Minnesota Statutes. Accessed January 6, 2025. <u>https://www.revisor.mn.gov/stat-utes/cite/161.45</u>.
- 75 U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. *Solar Futures Study*. September 2021. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20241118105854/https://www.energy.gov/</u> <u>sites/default/files/2021-09/Solar%20Futures%20Study.pdf</u>.
- 76 New York State Energy Research and Development Authority. "Combining Solar Photovoltaic Energy and Agriculture Production." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.nyserda.</u> <u>ny.gov/PutEnergyToWork/Industry-Energy-Solutions/Agriculture/Agrivoltaics.</u>
- 77 Minnesota Board of Water and Soil Resources. "Minnesota Habitat Friendly Solar Program." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://bwsr.state.mn.us/minnesota-habitat-friendly-solar-pro-gram.</u>
- 78 Minnesota Legislature. HF 3353. May 31, 2016. <u>https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/bill.php?b=-</u> House&f=HF3353&ssn=0&y=2016.
- 79 The Nature Conservancy. "Power of Place: Clean Energy Solutions That Protect People and Nature." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.nature.org/en-us/what-we-do/our-priorities/tackle-climate-change/climate-change-stories/power-of-place/</u>.
- 80 Massachusetts Department of Public Utility. "DPU Establishes Network Geothermal Guidelines." July 31, 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/news/dpu-establishes-network-geother-</u> <u>mal-guidelines.</u>
- 81 Illinois General Assembly. SB 1699. December 8, 2023. <u>https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/</u> BillStatus.asp?DocNum=1699&GAID=17&DocTypeID=SB&LegId=146489&SessionID=112&-GA=103.
- 82 Illinois Commerce Commission. *Thermal Energy Network Report*. February 2024. <u>https://</u> icc.illinois.gov/api/web-management/documents/downloads/public/TEN/Thermal%20Energy%20Network%20Report%202024.pdf.
- 83 He, Yiran, Chase Macpherson, and Kelly O'Connell. *Connecticut Geothermal Industry* Workforce Needs Assessment. Woburn, MA: Northeast Energy Efficiency Partnerships. May 2024. <u>https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/deep/energy/ulbrich-geothermal/neep-2024-geother-mal_workface_needs_assessment_review3.pdf</u>

- 84 Pennsylvania General Assembly. HB 994. December 8, 2004. <u>https://www.legis.state.pa.us/</u> cfdocs/billinfo/billinfo.cfm?syear=2003&sind=0&body=H&type=B&bn=994.
- 85 Pennsylvania Department of Community & Economic Development. "Municipal Assistance Program (MAP)." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://dced.pa.gov/programs/municipal-assistance-program-map/</u>.
- 86 Vermont Agency of Transportation. "Better Connections Program." Accessed December 6, 2024. https://vtrans.vermont.gov/planning/projects-programs/better-connections.
- 87 Connecticut General Assembly. Public Act 23-204. June 12, 2023. <u>https://cga.ct.gov/asp/cga-billstatus/cgabillstatus.asp?selBillType=Bill&which_year=2023&bill_num=6941</u>.
- 88 Massachusetts Executive Office of Economic Development. "Community One Stop for Growth." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/guides/community-one-stopfor-growth</u>.
- 89 California Department of Housing and Community Development. "Prohousing Designation Program." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-communi-</u> ty-development/prohousing-designation-program.
- 90 Massachusetts Executive Office of Housing and Livable Communities. "HousingWorks Infrastructure Program." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/how-to/housingworks-infrastructure-program</u>.
- 91 Massachusetts Legislature. H.43: An Act to create the executive office of housing and livable communities and to rename the Executive Office of Economic Development. May 4, 2023. https://malegislature.gov/Bills/193/H43.
- 92 Colorado General Assembly. HB 24-1313: *Housing in Transit-Oriented Communities*. May 13, 2024. <u>https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/hb24-1313</u>.
- 93 The Nature Conservancy. "Power of Place: Clean Energy Solutions That Protect People and Nature." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.nature.org/en-us/what-we-do/our-priori-</u> ties/tackle-climate-change/climate-change-stories/power-of-place/.
- 94 Illinois Department of Commerce & Economic Opportunity. "Other CEJA Programs." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://dceo.illinois.gov/ceja/other-ceja-programs.html</u>.
- 95 Illinois General Assembly. SB 2408. September 15, 2021. <u>https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/</u> BillStatus.asp?DocNum=2408&GAID=16&DocTypeID=SB&SessionID=110&GA=102.
- 96 Maryland Public Service Commission. "Community Solar Program." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.psc.state.md.us/electricity/community-solar-pilot-program/</u>.
- 97 Minnesota Department of Commerce. "Energy Storage Incentives." Accessed December 6, 2024. https://mn.gov/commerce/energy/consumer/energy-programs/on-site-energy-storage-systems.jsp.

- 98 U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Justice and Equity. "Community Benefit Agreement (CBA) Toolkit. Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://web.archive.org/</u> web/20250122101441/https://www.energy.gov/justice/community-benefit-agreement-cba-toolkit.
- 99 American Planning Association. "Standard State Zoning Enabling Act and Standard City Planning Enabling Act." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.planning.org/growingsmart/enablingacts/</u>.
- 100 Vermont Agency of Commerce & Community Development. Enabling Better Places: A Zoning Guide for Vermont Neighborhoods. August 2020. <u>https://outside.vermont.gov/agency/ACCD/ACCD_Web_Docs/CD/CPR/Planning-Your-Towns-Future/CPR-Z4GN-Guide-Final-web.pdf</u>.
- 101 Vermont Agency of Commerce & Community Development. Bylaw Modernization Grants. 2024. https://outside.vermont.gov/agency/ACCD/ACCD_Web_Docs/CD/CPR/Funding-and-Incentives/CPR-BMG-Annual-Report.pdf.
- 102 California Department of Transportation. *California Transportation Plan 2050*. February 2021. https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/transportation-planning/documents/ctp-2050-v3-a11y.pdf
- 103 Minnesota GO. "Statewide Multimodal Transportation Plan: Minnesota's highest level policy plan for transportation." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://minnesotago.org/final-plans/</u> <u>smtp-final-plan-2022</u>.
- 104 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. "About the Transportation Growth Management Program." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/</u> <u>TGM/Pages/About.aspx</u>.
- Gallivan, Frank, Eliot Rose, Reid Ewing, Shima Hamidi, and Thomas Brown. Quantifying Transit's Impact on GHG Emissions and Energy Use: The Land Use Component. Washington, D.C.: Transportation Research Board, 2015. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/22203</u>.
- 106 New York Metropolitan Transportation Authority Blue Ribbon Commission on Sustainability. Impact of Public Transportation on GHG in the MTA Area. May 28, 2009. <u>https://new.mta.info/document/12246</u>.
- 107 Maryland Department of Information Technology. "Transit-Oriented Development in Maryland." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://data-maryland.opendata.arcgis.com/pages/tod</u>.
- 108 North Carolina Department of Transportation. "S-Line Projects." Accessed December 6, 2024. https://www.ncdot.gov/divisions/rail/s-line-projects/Pages/default.aspx.

- 109 Washington Traffic Safety Commission. Washington State Strategic Highway Safety Plan 2024. October 31, 2024. <u>https://targetzero.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Washington_Tar-</u> get Zero Plan FINAL 11-04-2024 Accessible.pdf.
- 110 Delaware General Assembly. SS2 for SB 130: *An Act to Amend Title 2, Title 9 and Title 22 of the Delaware Code Relating to Transportation and Land Use.* May 5, 2016. <u>https://legis.delaware.gov/BillDetail/24116</u>
- 111 Washington State Department of Transportation. "Multimodal Accessibility." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://wsdot.wa.gov/engineering-standards/planning-guidance/multimodal-accessibility</u>.
- 112 Washington State Legislature. HB 1071: Creating a complete streets grant program. May 5, 2011. <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1071&Year=2011&Initiative=false</u>
- 113 Washington State Legislature. SB 5974: Addressing transportation resources. March 25, 2022. <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?Year=2021&BillNumber=5974</u>
- 114 Virginia General Assembly. HB 2: Commonwealth Transportation Board; statewide prioritization process for project selection. April 6, 2014. <u>https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.</u> <u>exe?141+sum+HB2.</u>
- 115 Virginia Secretary of Transportation. "SMART SCALE." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://</u> smartscale.virginia.gov/.
- 116 California Department of Transportation. "Caltrans System Investment Strategy (CSIS)." Accessed December 9, 2024. <u>https://dot.ca.gov/programs/transportation-planning/division-of-transportation-planning/corridor-and-system-planning/csis</u>.
- 117 Guerra, Erick, Gilles Duranton, and Xinyu Ma. "Urban Roadway in America: The Amount, Extent, and Value." *Journal of the American Planning Association*, August 5, 2024, 1–15. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2024.2368260</u>.
- 118 Colorado Secretary of State. "Code of Colorado Regulations: 2 CCR 601-22 Rules Governing Statewide Transportation Planning Process and Transportation Planning Regions." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.sos.state.co.us/CCR/DisplayRule.do?action=ruleinfo&ruleId=3156&deptID=21&agencyID=124&deptName=600%20Transportation&agencyName=601%20Transportation%20Commission&seriesNum=2%20CCR%20601-22.</u>
- 119 Colorado General Assembly. SB21-260: *Sustainability of the Transportation System.* June 17, 2021. <u>https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/sb21-260.</u>
- 120 Minnesota Department of Transportation. "Transportation Greenhouse Gas Emissions Impact Assessment Technical Advisory Committee." Accessed December 20, 2024. <u>https://www.dot.state.mn.us/sustainability/ghg-tac.html</u>.

- 121 Minnesota Legislature. HF 2887. May 24, 2023. <u>https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/bill.php?b=-house&f=hf2887&ssn=0&y=2023.</u>
- 122 Minnesota Legislature. HF 5247. May 24, 2024. <u>https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/bill.php?b=-</u> House&f=HF5247&y=2024&ssn=0.
- 123 Massachusetts Executive Office of Housing and Livable Communities. "Multi-Family Zoning Requirement for MBTA Communities." Accessed December 8, 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/</u> info-details/multi-family-zoning-requirement-for-mbta-communities.
- 124 Massachusetts Legislature. Chapter 358: An Act Enabling Partnerships for Growth. January 14, 2021. <u>https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2020/Chapter358</u>.
- 125 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. "Climate Friendly and Equitable Communities." Accessed December 8, 2024. https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/cl/pages/cfec.aspx.
- 126 State of Oregon, Office of Governor Brown. EO 20-04: *Directing State Agencies to Take* Actions to Reduce and Regulate Greenhouse Gas Emissions. March 10, 2020. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/gov/eo/eo_20-04.pdf</u>.
- 127 Oregon Legislative Assembly. HB 3543: *Relating to climate change; appropriating money; and declaring an emergency*. August 7, 2007. <u>https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2007R1/</u> Measures/Overview/HB3543.
- 128 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. *Climate-Friendly Areas Methods Guide: Version 4*. August 2024. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/CL/Documents/Climate-FriendlyAreasMethodsGuide.pdf.</u>
- 129 Bates, Lisa K., Marisa A. Zapata, and Seyoung Sung. Anti-Displacement and Gentrification Toolkit Project. Salem, OR: Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. June 30, 2020. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/AttachmentA_PSU%20Toolkit.</u> pdf.
- 130 Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources. "Technical Potential of Solar Study." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/info-details/technical-potential-of-so-lar-study</u>.
- 131 United Nations Environment Programme. "The UN Environment Programme and Nature-Based Solutions." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.unep.org/unga/our-position/</u> <u>unep-and-nature-based-solutions</u>.
- 132 Conservation Science Partners. Executive Summary for the project entitled: Loss and fragmentation of natural lands in the conterminous U.S. from 2001 to 2017. January 18, 2019. https://www.csp-inc.org/public/CSP%20Disappearing%20US%20Exec%20Summary%20 011819.pdf.

- 133 Radeloff, Volker C., David P. Helmers, H. Anu Kramer, Miranda H. Mockrin, Patricia M. Alexandre, Avi Bar-Massada, Van Butsic, et al. "Rapid Growth of the US Wildland-Urban Interface Raises Wildfire Risk." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115, no. 13 (March 27, 2018): 3314–19. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1718850115.
- 134 Maryland General Assembly. SB0470: Budget and Taxation and Education, Energy, and the Environment/Environment and Transportation. May 8, 2023. <u>https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/</u> mgawebsite/Legislation/Details/sb0470/?ys=2023rs.
- 135 California State Legislature. AB No. 1757: *An act to add Section 38561.5 to the Health and Safety Code, relating to greenhouse gases.* September 16, 2022. <u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB1757.</u>
- 136 California Department of Natural Resources. *California's Nature-Based Solutions Climate Targets*. April 22, 2024. <u>https://resources.ca.gov/-/media/CNRA-Website/Files/Initiatives/Expanding-Nature-Based-Solutions/Californias-NBS-Climate-Targets-2024.pdf</u>.
- Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Office of Governor Maura Healey. Executive Order No.
 1506: *Biodiversity Conservation in Massachusetts*. September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.mass.gov/executive-orders/no-618-biodiversity-conservation-in-massachusetts</u>.
- 138 U.S. Climate Alliance. "Climate Policy Database Sector: Natural and Working Lands; Tag: NWL conservation/restoration goal." Accessed December 8, 2024. <u>https://data.usclimatealliance.org/climate-policy-database?sectors=natural_and_working_lands&tags=NWL conservation/restoration_goal.</u>
- 139 State of North Carolina, Office of Governor Cooper. Executive Order No. 305: An Order to Protect and Restore North Carolina's Critical Natural and Working Lands." February 12, 2024. <u>https://governor.nc.gov/executive-order-no-305/open.</u>
- 140 North Carolina Natural Heritage Program. "Natural and Working Lands Action Plan." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.ncnhp.org/nwl/natural-and-working-lands</u>.
- 141 Maine Department of Environmental Protection. "Maine In Lieu Fee Compensation Program (ILF) and Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program (MNRCP)." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.maine.gov/dep/land/nrpa/ILF_and_NRCP/index.html</u>.
- 142 North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality. "DMS Programs." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/mitigation-services/about-dms/dms-programs</u>.
- 143 Washington State Department of Ecology. "Wetland Mitigation Banking." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://ecology.wa.gov/water-shorelines/wetlands/mitigation/wetland-mitigation-banking.

- 144 Commonwealth of Massachusetts. *Response to the Report of the Climate Forestry Committee.* 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/forests-as-climate-solution-response-to-cfc-report/</u> <u>download</u>.
- 145 McConville, Kate Burgess, and Mariel Lutz. State Policy Leadership To Conserve Nature. Center for American Progress and National Caucus of Environmental Legislators. April 11, 2024. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/state-policy-leadership-to-conserve-nature/.
- 146 Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. "Land for Maine's Future." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.maine.gov/dacf/lmf/</u>.
- 147 State of New Mexico, Office of Governor Lujan Grisham. "Governor signs bill to create state's first-ever dedicated source of recurring funding for conservation – Governor also signs SB 72, Wildlife Corridors Funding Act." March 23, 2023. <u>https://www.governor.state.</u> <u>nm.us/2023/03/23/governor-signs-bill-to-create-states-first-ever-dedicated-source-of-recurring-funding-for-conservation-governor-also-signs-sb-72-wildlife-corridors-funding-act/.</u>
- 148 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. "UGBs and Urban/Rural Reserves." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/up/pages/ugbs-and-urbanrural-reserves.aspx</u>.
- 149 Oregon Legislative Assembly. SB 100. May 29, 1973. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Docu-ments/sb100.pdf.</u>
- 150 California Association of Local Agency Formation Commissions. "About LACFOs." Accessed December 8, 2024. <u>https://calafco.org/About_LAFCOs</u>.
- 151 Maryland Department of Planning. "Transfer of Development Rights Programs." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://planning.maryland.gov/Pages/OurWork/RRP/envr-planning/trans-fer-dev-rights.aspx</u>.
- 152 Delaware Department of Agriculture. "Aglands Preservation Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://agriculture.delaware.gov/agland-preservation-planning/the-preservation-program/.
- 153 Delaware Department of Agriculture. "Conservation Programs." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://agriculture.delaware.gov/forest-service/forest-conservation-programs/.
- 154 Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control. "Buffer Incentive Program in the Chesapeake Bay Watershed." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://dnrec.</u> <u>delaware.gov/watershed-stewardship/chesapeake/buffer-incentives/</u>.
- 155 Maryland Department of Agriculture. "Maryland's Conservation Buffer Initiative." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://mda.maryland.gov/resource_conservation/Pages/conservation-buf-fer-initiative.aspx</u>.

- 156 Minnesota Board of Water and Soil Resources. "Minnesota Buffer Law." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://bwsr.state.mn.us/minnesota-buffer-law</u>.
- 157 Minnesota Legislature. SF 5. June 13, 2015. https://www.revisor.mn.gov/laws/2015/1/4/.
- 158 North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality. "Riparian Buffer Protection Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/water-resources/per-mitting/401-buffer-permitting-branch/riparian-buffer-protection-program</u>.
- 159 Colorado General Assembly. HB21-1233: *Conservation Easement Tax Credit Modifications*. June 30, 2021. <u>https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/hb21-1233</u>.
- McConville, Drew, Kate Burgess, and Mariel Lutz. State Policy Leadership To Conserve Nature. Center for American Progress and National Caucus of Environmental Legislators. April 11, 2024. <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/article/state-policy-leadership-to-conserve-nature/</u>.
- 161 Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources. "Watershed Partnerships Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://dlnr.hawaii.gov/ecosystems/wpp/</u>.
- 162 Vermont General Assembly. H.697 (Act 146): An act relating to eligibility of reserve forestland for enrollment in the Use Value Appraisal Program. May 27, 2022. <u>https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2022/H.697.</u>
- 163 Vermont Agency of Administration, Department of Taxes. "Current Use." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://tax.vermont.gov/property/current-use</u>.
- 164 Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. "Managed Forest Law." Accessed December 13, 2024. <u>https://dnr.wisconsin.gov/topic/forestlandowners/mfl.</u>
- 165 Hawai'i State Legislature. Act 183: *A Bill for an Act Relating to Important Agricultural Lands*. July 1, 2005. https://www.capitol.hawaii.gov/slh/Years/SLH2005/SLH2005_Act183.pdf.
- 166 North Carolina Office of Recovery and Resiliency. "NC Resilience Exchange." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.resilienceexchange.nc.gov/</u>.
- 167 State of North Carolina, Office of Governor Cooper. Executive Order No. 305: An Order to Protect and Restore North Carolina's Critical Natural and Working Lands." February 12, 2024. <u>https://governor.nc.gov/executive-order-no-305/open.</u>
- 168 North Carolina Natural Heritage Program. "Natural and Working Lands Action Plan." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.ncnhp.org/nwl/natural-and-working-lands</u>.
- 169 North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission. "Green Growth Toolbox." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.ncwildlife.org/wildlife-habitat/conservation-restoration-programs/greengrowth-toolbox.</u>
- 170 Maryland General Assembly. SB 549: Sustainable Forestry Act of 2009. October 1, 2009. https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/2009rs/bills/sb/sb0549f.pdf.

- 171 Maryland General Assembly. HB 706: *Forest Preservation Act of 2013*. May 2, 2013. <u>https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/mgawebsite/Legislation/Details/HB0706?ys=2013rs</u>.
- 172 Maryland General Assembly. SB 526: Natural Resources Forest Preservation and Retention. July 1, 2023. <u>https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/2023RS/bills/sb/sb0526T.pdf.</u>
- 173 Maryland Department of Natural Resources. "Greenspace Equity Program." Accessed January 3, 2025. <u>https://dnr.maryland.gov/land/Pages/Greenspace-Equity-Program.aspx.</u>
- 174 Massachusetts Department of Conservation and Recreation. "Greening the Gateway Cities Program." Accessed January 3, 2025. <u>https://www.mass.gov/info-details/greening-the-gate-way-cities-program</u>
- 175 Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. "Working Waterfront Access Protection Program." Accessed January 3, 2025. <u>https://www.maine.gov/dacf/lmf/funds/wwapp.</u> <u>shtml</u>
- 176 Maryland General Assembly. HB 991: *Tree Solutions Now Act of 2021.* May 30, 2021. <u>https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/mgawebsite/Legislation/Details/hb0991?ys=2021RS</u>.
- 177 California Legislature. AB-2251: Urban forestry: statewide strategic plan. August 26, 2022. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2251
- 178 California Department of Forestry & Fire Protection. "Urban and Community Forestry Grants." Accessed January 9, 2025. <u>https://www.fire.ca.gov/what-we-do/grants/urban-and-commu-nity-forestry-grants</u>
- 179 California Natural Resources Agency. "Urban Greening Program." Accessed January 9, 2025. https://resources.ca.gov/grants/urban-greening
- 180 U.S. Department of Agriculture. "Urban and Community Forestry Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250117225637/https://www.fs.usda.gov/manag-ing-land/urban-forests/ucf.</u>
- 181 Sito, Erin, and Logan Christian. State of the States: A look at how far U.S. state habitat connectivity legislation has advanced and what is working. Wildlands Network and National Caucus of Environmental Legislators. May 14, 2024. <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static /60b7e4e41506593f7f926fe7/t/6643a116b84aa32e721356ad/1715708201864/SoS+Master+Report+FINAL+5.14+1pm+EST.pdf.</u>
- 182 Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. "Land for Maine's Future." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.maine.gov/dacf/lmf/</u>.
- 183 Smith, Adam B. "U.S. Billion-Dollar Weather and Climate Disasters, 1980 Present (NCEI Accession 0209268)." NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information, 2020. <u>https:// doi.org/10.25921/STKW-7W73</u>.

- Arizona Office of the Governor Katie Hobbs. *Arizona's Extreme Heat Preparedness Plan*.
 March 1, 2024. <u>https://mcusercontent.com/44a5186aac69c13c570fca36a/files/ada1d47f-83f5-4189-d835-1eec1552aeea/2024.03.01</u>
- 185 State of Arizona, Office of Governor Hobbs. Executive Order 2023-16: *Extreme Heat Planning* and Preparedness. August 11, 2023. <u>https://azgovernor.gov/sites/default/files/2023.08.11</u> executive_order_2023_16.pdf.
- 186 Vermont General Assembly. S.213 (Act 121): An act relating to the regulation of wetlands, river corridor development, and dam safety. May 30, 2024. <u>https://legislature.vermont.gov/</u> bill/status/2024/S.213.
- 187 California Department of Forestry & Fire Protection. "Fire Safety Laws." Ready for Wildfire. Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://readyforwildfire.org/fire-safety-laws/</u>.
- 188 California Governor's Office of Emergency Services. "California Wildfire Mitigation Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.caloes.ca.gov/office-of-the-director/operations/</u> recovery-directorate/hazard-mitigation/california-wildfire-mitigation-program/.
- 189 State of Oregon Department of Forestry. "Wildfire Hazard." Accessed January 8, 2025. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/odf/fire/Pages/wildfire-hazard.aspx</u>
- 190 Maine Legislature. LD 1572: *Resolve, To Analyze the Impact of Sea Level Rise.* June 16, 2021. https://legislature.maine.gov/bills/display_ps.asp?snum=130&paper=HP1169PID=1456.
- 191 U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency. "Benefit-Cost Analysis." September 11, 2024. https://www.fema.gov/grants/tools/benefit-cost-analysis.
- 192 Maine Governor's Office of Policy Innovation and the Future. "Community Resilience Partnership." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>http://www.maine.gov/future/climate/community-resilience-partnership</u>.
- 193 Maine Governor's Office of Policy Innovation and the Future. "Grant & Technical Assistance Opportunities." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.maine.gov/future/climate/community-resilience-partnership/grants</u>.
- 194 Wisconsin Emergency Management. "Pre-Disaster Flood Resilience Grant: Fact Sheet." Accessed December 13, 2024. <u>https://wem.wi.gov/pre-disaster-flood-resilience-grant-fact-sheet/</u>.
- 195 New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. "Inland Flood Protection Rule." September 18, 2023. <u>https://dep.nj.gov/inland-flood-protection-rule/</u>.
- Maine Legislature. LD 1970: An Act To Implement Agency Recommendations Relating to Sea Level Rise and Climate Resilience Provided Pursuant to Resolve 2021, Chapter 67. April 12, 2022. <u>https://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/bills/display_ps.asp?ld=1970&PID=1456&s-num=130</u>.

- 197 Vermont General Assembly. S.213 (Act 121): *An act relating to the regulation of wetlands, river corridor development, and dam safety.* May 30, 2024. <u>https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2024/S.213.</u>
- 198 New York State Department of State. "Basic Land Use Tools for Resiliency." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://dos.ny.gov/basic-land-use-tools-resiliency-0.
- 199 Puerto Rico, Office of Governor Pierluisi. Executive Order 2023-009. April 11, 2023. <u>https://docs.pr.gov/files/Estado/OrdenesEjecutivas/2023/OE-2023-009%20English.pdf.</u>
- 200 Maryland General Assembly. HB 233: Chesapeake and Atlantic Coastal Bays Critical Area Protection Program – Climate, Equity, and Administrative Provisions. October 1, 2023. https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/mgawebsite/Legislation/Details/HB0233?ys=2024rs.
- 201 Hawai'i State Legislature. HB 1436: *Relating to Development Rights.* June 27, 2022. https://lrb.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022_Acts.pdf.
- 202 U.S. Global Change Research Program. "U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250118191759/https://toolkit.climate.gov/</u>.
- 203 Georgetown Climate Center. "Managed Retreat Toolkit." Accessed January 30, 2025. <u>https://www.georgetownclimate.org/adaptation/toolkits/managed-retreat-toolkit/introduction.html</u>.
- 204 State of Hawai'i Department of Business Economic Development & Tourism, Office of Planning, Coastal Zone Management Program. Assessing the Feasibility and Implications of Managed Retreat Strategies for Vulnerable Costal Areas in Hawai'i. February 2019. <u>https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/op/czm/ormp/assessing_the_feasibility_and_implications_of_managed_retreat_strategies_for_vulnerable_coastal_areas_in_hawaii.pdf</u>
- 205 Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Office of Governor Healey. "Healey-Driscoll Administration Launches Statewide Coastal Resiliency Strategy." November 28, 2023. <u>https://www.mass.gov/news/healey-driscoll-administration-launches-statewide-coastal-resiliency-strategy.</u>
- 206 Smith, Gavin, and Mai T. Nguyen. "University-Public Partnerships for Disaster Recovery: Promoting Community Resilience Through Research, Teaching, and Engagement." *Journal of Community Engagement and Scholarship* 14, no. 1 (2021): 10.54656/npfv8067. <u>https://doi.org/10.54656/npfv8067</u>.
- 207 Coastal Resilience Center of Excellence. "Hurricane Matthew Recovery." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://coastalresiliencecenter.unc.edu/crc-projects/hurricane-matthew-recovery/</u>.
- 208 U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency. "Nature-Based Solutions." January 17, 2025. https://web.archive.org/web/20250124095002/https://www.fema.gov/emergency-managers/ risk-management/future-conditions/nature-based-solutions.
- 209 University of Delaware Climate Change Hub. "WiST Heat Watch 2023." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://sites.udel.edu/climatechangehub/events-oldversion/wist-heat-watch-2023/.

- 210 U.S. National Integrated Heat Health Information System. "Urban Heat Island Mapping Campaign." Accessed January 16, 2025. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250119012754/https://www. heat.gov/pages/mapping-campaigns/</u>.
- 211 State of New York. "Clean Water, Clean Air and Green Jobs Environmental Bond Act." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://environmentalbondact.ny.gov/</u>.
- 212 New York State Environmental Facilities Corporation. "Green Resiliency Grants." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://efc.ny.gov/grg</u>.
- 213 North Carolina General Assembly. HB 1087: Water/Wastewater Public Enterprise Reform. July 1, 2020. <u>https://www.ncleg.gov/BillLookup/2019/H1087</u>.
- 214 North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality. "Natural Infrastructure Flood Mitigation Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.deq.nc.gov/about/divisions/mitiga-</u> tion-services/natural-infrastructure-flood-mitigation-program.
- 215 Allen, Jennifer. "NCDOT Nears Completion on Its First Living Shoreline Project." *CoastalReview.Org*, March 23, 2023. <u>https://coastalreview.org/2023/03/ncdot-nears-completion-on-its-</u> <u>first-living-shoreline-project/</u>.
- 216 New Jersey Legislature. S2607: Requires land use plan element of municipal master plan to include climate change-related hazard vulnerability assessment. February 2, 2021. <u>https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/bill-search/2020/S2607.</u>
- 217 New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. "Blue Acres." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://dep.nj.gov/blueacres/.
- 218 Vermont Agency of Commerce and Community Development. "State Designation Programs." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://accd.vermont.gov/community-development/designa-tion-programs</u>.
- 219 Vermont General Assembly. H.0278: Downtown Community Development. April 28, 1998. http://www.leg.state.vt.us/database/status/summary.cfm?Bill=H%2E0278&Session=1998
- 220 Vermont General Assembly. Act 182: An act relating to expanding access to safe and affordable housing. June 7, 2022. https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2022/S.226
- 221 Vermont Agency of Commerce and Community Development. "Designation 2050: Design the Future of Vermont." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://accd.vermont.gov/community-de-velopment/designation-programs/designation-2050-design-future-vermont.</u>
- 222 Vermont General Assembly. Act 181: *An act relating to community resilience and biodiversity protection through land use.* June 17, 2024. <u>https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/sta-</u> <u>tus/2024/H.687.</u>

- 223 "State Preemption of Local Zoning Laws as Intersectional Climate Policy." *Harvard Law Review* 136, no. 6 (April 11, 2022): 1592–1613. <u>https://harvardlawreview.org/print/vol-135/</u> state-preemption-of-local-zoning-laws-as-intersectional-climate-policy/.
- 224 Richardson, Jr., Jesse J., Megan Zimmerman Gough, and Robert Puentes. 2003. *Is Home Rule the Answer? Clarifying the Influence of Dillon's Rule on Growth Management*. Brookings Institution. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/dillonsrule.pdf</u>.
- 225 State of Colorado, Office of Governor Polis. Executive Order D 2023 014: *Concerning State Programs that Support Strategic Growth.* August 21, 2023. <u>https://spl.cde.state.co.us/arte-mis/goserials/go4312internet/go43122023014internet.pdf.</u>
- 226 State of Maryland Code § 5–7A–01. Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://mgaleg.maryland.</u> gov/mgawebsite/Laws/StatuteText?article=gsf§ion=5-7A-01&enactments=false.
- 227 Maryland Department of Planning. "The Maryland Sustainable Growth Subcabinet." Accessed January 16, 2025. <u>https://planning.maryland.gov/Pages/OurEngagement/SGSubcabinet/</u> <u>smart-growth-subcabinet.aspx</u>.
- 228 State of Maryland, Office of Governor Glendening. Executive Order 01.01.1998.04: *Smart Growth and Neighborhood Conservation Policy.* January 23, 1998. <u>https://dsd.maryland.gov/</u> <u>executiveorders/Pages/01.01.1998.04.aspx.</u>
- 229 Maryland General Assembly. SB 204. May 18, 2001. <u>https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/mgaweb-</u> site/Search/Legislation?target=/2001rs/billfile/sb0204.htm.
- 230 Maryland General Assembly. SB0470: Natural Resources Land Conservation Establishment of Goals and Programs (*Maryland the Beautiful Act*). <u>https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/</u> mgawebsite/Legislation/Details/sb0470/?ys=2023rs.
- 231 Hawai'i Office of Planning and Sustainable Development. "State Transit-Oriented Development Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://planning.hawaii.gov/lud/state-tod/</u>.
- 232 Hawai'i State Legislature. SB 3077: Relating to Statewide Community Planning. June 29, 2016. <u>https://www.capitol.hawaii.gov/session/archives/measure_indiv_Archives.aspx?bill-type=SB&billnumber=3077&year=2016</u>.
- 233 Massachusetts Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs. "Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://resilient.mass.gov/mvp/</u>.
- 234 Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Office of Governor Baker. Executive Order 569: Establishing an Integrated Climate Change Strategy for the Commonwealth. <u>https://www.mass.gov/</u> <u>executive-orders/no-569-establishing-an-integrated-climate-change-strategy-for-the-commonwealth.</u>

- 235 Maine Governor's Office of Policy Innovation and the Future. "Community Resilience Partnership." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>http://www.maine.gov/future/climate/community-resilience-partnership</u>.
- 236 California State Legislature. SB 1035: *An act to amend Section 65302 of the Government Code, relating to land use.* September 23, 2018. <u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/bill-TextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB1035</u>.
- 237 Minnesota Legislature. HF 2887. May 24, 2023. <u>https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/bill.php?b=-house&f=hf2887&ssn=0&y=2023.</u>
- 238 American Planning Association. "2022 Survey of State Planning Laws." September 26, 2022. https://www.planning.org/research/2022-survey-of-state-planning-laws/.
- 239 Vermont General Assembly. S.100: An act relating to housing opportunities made for everyone. June 5, 2023. <u>https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2024/S.100</u>.
- 240 Massachusetts Executive Office of Economic Development. "Community One Stop for Growth." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/guides/community-one-stop-for-growth</u>.
- 241 Massachusetts Executive Office of Economic Development. "One Stop for Growth Development Continuum." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.mass.gov/info-details/ one-stop-for-growth-development-continuum</u>.
- 242 Michigan Economic Development Corporation, Community Development Unit. "MiPlace." Accessed December, 7, 2024. <u>https://www.miplace.org/</u>.
- 243 Michigan Economic Development Corporation, Community Development Unit. "Redevelopment Ready Communities." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.miplace.org/programs/</u> redevelopment-ready-communities/.
- 244 Michigan Economic Development Corporation, Community Development Unit. *This Used to Be Normal: Pattern Book Homes for 21st Century Michigan*. 2022. <u>https://www.miplace.org/4a72c5/globalassets/documents/rrc/rrc-library/mml-pattern-book_this-used-to-be-normal.pdf</u>.
- 245 Pennsylvania Department of Transportation. "Request Land Use and Transportation Planning Assistance or Training from PennDOT." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.penndot.</u> pa.gov/ProjectAndPrograms/Planning/Pages/Land-Use-and-Transportation-Planning.aspx.
- 246 Pennsylvania Department of Transportation. *Pennsylvania 2045 Long Range Plan*. December 2021. <u>https://www.dot.state.pa.us/public/PubsForms/Publications/Pub%20394.pdf</u>.
- 247 New York State Department of State. "Basic Land Use Tools for Resiliency." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://dos.ny.gov/basic-land-use-tools-resiliency-0.

- 248 Smith, Gavin, and Mai T. Nguyen. "University-Public Partnerships for Disaster Recovery: Promoting Community Resilience Through Research, Teaching, and Engagement." *Journal of Community Engagement and Scholarship* 14, no. 1 (2021): 10.54656/npfv8067. <u>https://doi.org/10.54656/npfv8067</u>.
- 249 University of Delaware, Institute for Public Administration. "Complete Communities Toolbox." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.completecommunitiesde.org/</u>.
- 250 State of Rhode Island General Assembly. H 7023: *Relating to Towns and Cities Local Planning Board or Commission.* January 10, 2022. <u>https://webserver.rilegislature.gov/BillText/</u> <u>BillText22/HouseText22/H7023B.pdf</u>
- 251 Connecticut General Assembly. Public Act No. 21-29: An Act Concerning the Zoning Enabling Accessory Apartments, Training for Certain Land Use Officials, Municipal Affordable Housing Plans and Commission on Connecticut's Development and Future. <u>https://www.cga.ct.gov/</u> asp/cgabillstatus/cgabillstatus.asp?bill_num=HB06107&selBillType=Bill&which_year=2021.
- 252 State of Colorado, Office of Governor Polis. Executive Order D 2023 014: Concerning State Programs that Support Strategic Growth. August 21, 2023. <u>https://spl.cde.state.co.us/arte-mis/goserials/go4312internet/go43122023014internet.pdf</u>.
- 253 Arizona Office of the Governor Katie Hobbs. Arizona's Extreme Heat Preparedness Plan. March 1, 2024. <u>https://mcusercontent.com/44a5186aac69c13c570fca36a/files/ada1d47f-83f5-4189-d835-1eec1552aeea/2024.03.01_Extreme_Heat_Preparedness_Plan.pdf</u>.
- 254 State of Maryland. Interagency Agreement Between the Maryland Department of Transportation and the Maryland Department of Housing and Community Development. October 21, 2024. <u>https://dhcd.maryland.gov/Documents/PressReleases/Interagency-Agree-</u> ment-MDOT-DHCD.pdf.
- 255 Massachusetts Legislature. H.4997: An Act Relative to the Affordable Homes Act. August 6, 2024. <u>https://malegislature.gov/Bills/193/H4977</u>.
- 256 Maine Legislature. LD 609: *Resolve, To Establish a Commission To Increase Housing Opportunities in Maine by Studying Zoning and Land Use Restrictions.* March 1, 2021. <u>https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/bills/display_ps.asp?LD=609&snum=130.</u>
- 257 130th Maine Legislature, Office of Policy and Legal Analysis. *Commission to Increase Housing Opportunities in Maine by Studying Land Use Regulations and Short-term Rentals.* November 2022. <u>https://legislature.maine.gov/doc/9239</u>.
- 258 Maine Legislature. LD 2003: An Act to Implement the Recommendations of the Commission To Increase Housing Opportunities in Maine by Studying Zoning and Land Use Restrictions. April 27, 2022. <u>https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/bills/display_ps.asp?PID=1456&snum=130&paper=&paperId=l&Id=2003.</u>

- 259 Colorado Department of Local Affairs. "Land Use and Housing Legislation Implementation." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://engagedola.org/land-use-and-housing</u>.
- 260 National Center for Smart Growth Research and Education. "Welcome to the National Center for Smart Growth." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.umdsmartgrowth.org/</u>.
- 261 National Center for Smart Growth Research and Education. "Smart Growth Summit 2024." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.umdsmartgrowth.org/smart-growth-summit-2024/</u>.
- 262 University of Connecticut. "Connecticut Institute for Resilience & Climate Adaptation (CIRCA)." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://circa.uconn.edu/</u>.
- 263 Washington State Legislature. HB 1181: *Improving the state's response to climate change by updating the state's planning framework.* May 3, 2023. <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?-BillNumber=1181&Chamber=House&Year=2023.</u>
- 264 Washington State Legislature. Substitute HB 2929: *An Act Relating to growth*. April 24, 1990. https://leg.wa.gov/CodeReviser/documents/sessionlaw/1990ex1c17.pdf.
- 265 Washington State Department of Commerce. Intermediate Climate Element Planning Guidance. December 2023. https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/fpg3h0lbwln2ctqjg7jg802h54ie-19jx.
- 266 Washington State Department of Commerce. "Climate Menu of Measures." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/n34kivgzn9rfe74jfz2vvzxqlrv7j9m9</u>.
- 267 Colorado General Assembly. SB24-174: Sustainable Affordable Housing Assistance. May 30, 2024. <u>https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/sb24-174</u>.
- 268 State of Delaware, Office of Governor Carney. Executive Order 42: Delaware Strategies for State Policies and Spending. July 23, 2020. https://strategies.stateplanning.delaware.gov/.
- 269 Delaware Office of State Planning Coordination. 2020 Delaware Strategies for State Policies and Spending. July 23, 2020. https://stateplanning.delaware.gov/strategies/documents/2020-state-strategies.pdf?ver=0806.
- 270 Oregon Department of Transportation. *Oregon Statewide Transportation Study: A 2050 Vision* for GHG Emissions Reduction. March 20, 2013. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/odot/climate/Docu-</u> ments/Oregon_Statewide_Transportation_Strategy.pdf.
- 271 ECOnorthwest. Colorado Land Use Policy & Greenhouse Gas Co-benefits Study. November 2024. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1dJtE7IXoDvIUzLmqXFIVDtwKg-UhuWg7/view.
- 272 U.S. Climate Alliance. Tools and reports can be accessed by sector and state in the U.S. Climate Alliance's "Climate Policy Database." Accessed February 6, 2025. <u>https://data.uscli-matealliance.org/.</u>
- 273 Maryland Department of Planning. FY 2023 Annual Report on the Status of Maryland Department of Planning Programs that Support the State's Greenhouse Gas Reduction Efforts or

Address Climate Change. 2023. <u>https://dlslibrary.state.md.us/publications/Exec/MDP/EN2-1305(c)_2023.pdf</u>.

- 274 Maryland Department of the Environment. 2030 GGRA Plan. February 19, 2021. https://mde. maryland.gov/programs/Air/ClimateChange/Documents/2030%20GGRA%20Plan/THE%20 2030%20GGRA%20PLAN.pdf.
- 275 California Air Pollution Control Officers Association. Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health and Equity. December 2021. <u>https://www.caleemod.com/handbook/index.html</u>.
- 276 Korn, Jacob, Jackie Lombardi, Raghav Muralidharan, Zack Subin, Anna Zetkulic, Heather House, and Rushad Nanavatty. Why State Land Use Reform Should Be a Priority Climate Lever for America. RMI. February 16, 2024. <u>https://rmi.org/why-state-land-use-reform-shouldbe-a-priority-climate-lever-for-america/</u>.
- 277 Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. *Opportunities to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions Caused by Oregon's Consumption.* September 12, 2024. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/</u> <u>deq/mm/Documents/HB3409Sec52CBEReport.pdf.</u>
- 278 Maine Governor's Office of Policy Innovation and the Future. "Maine Won't Wait: Inspiring Climate Action for Maine." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.maine.gov/climateplan/</u>
- 279 Maine Governor's Office of Policy Innovation and the Future. "Maine Climate Council Reports." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.maine.gov/future/climate/reports?q=climate/</u> <u>ts#AssessingtheImpactsClimateChangeMayHaveontheStatesEconomyRevenuesandInvest-</u> <u>mentDecisions</u>.
- 280 Warnell, Katie, Sara Manson, and Lydia Olander. *Tracking the Benefits of Natural and Working Lands in the United States: Dataset Evaluation and Readiness Assessment*. Duke Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions. April 2022. <u>https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/</u> <u>sites/default/files/publications/Tracking-the-Benefits-of-Natural-and-Working-Lands-in-the-</u> <u>United-States.pdf.</u>
- 281 U.S. Department of Commerce National Atmospheric and Oceanic Administration. Economic Tools For Costal Management: Measuring the Value of Ecosystem Services. April 2019. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20241213232019/https://coast.noaa.gov/data/digitalcoast/pdf/</u> measuring-value-ecosystem-services.pdf.
- 282 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. "Economic Benefits of Green Infrastructure." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250124191015/https://www.epa.gov/</u> <u>green-infrastructure/economic-benefits-green-infrastructure.</u>
- 283 Litman, Todd. Understanding Smart Growth Savings Evaluating the Savings and Benefits of Compact Development. Victoria, BC, Canada: Victoria Transport Policy Institute. December 3, 2024. https://vtpi.org/sg_save.pdf.
- 284 Sentoff, Karen, and Theodore Mansfield. *Vermont Smart Growth, Vehicle Miles Traveled, and Greenhouse Gas Research*. August 12, 2024. <u>https://vtrans.vermont.gov/sites/aot/files/Research/VTrans_SmartGrowth_FINAL_v3_0.pdf</u>.
- 285 Choi, Kenneth, and Christopher A. Fricke. Fiscal Impact Analysis: Analyzing the Effects of Smart Growth on Projected Road Development in 2030. Baltimore, MD: Maryland Department of Planning. 2010. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20150909182252/http://www.mdp.state.</u> md.us/PDF/OurWork/FiscalImpact_RoadProjection.pdf.
- 286 Colorado General Assembly. SB24-174: Sustainable Affordable Housing Assistance. May 30, 2024. <u>https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/sb24-174</u>.
- 287 Nelson, Arthur, James Nicholas, and Julian Juergensmeyer. Rationale for Smart Growth Fiscal Impact Analysis and Model Fiscal Impact Assessment Ordinance. Washington,
 D.C.: Smart Growth America. June 2022. <u>https://smartgrowthamerica.org/resources/rationale-model-fiscal-ordinance/</u>.
- 288 California Air Pollution Control Officers Association. Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health and Equity. December 2021. <u>https://www.caleemod.com/handbook/index.html</u>.
- 289 U.S. Climate Alliance and the Institute for Policy Integrity. *The Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases.* August 2022. <u>https://usclimatealliance.org/guide/sc-ghg-state-guide-aug-2022/</u>.
- 290 Washington State Legislature. HB 1181: *Improving the state's response to climate change by updating the state's planning framework.* May 3, 2023. <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?-BillNumber=1181&Chamber=House&Year=2023.</u>
- 291 U.S. Climate Alliance. "Policy Tracking Database." Accessed September 27, 2024. <u>https://</u> <u>data.usclimatealliance.org/climate-policy-database?sectors=resilience&states=ME,M-</u> <u>D,MA,MI,MN,NJ,NY,NC,PA,PR,RI,VT,WA,WI,OR,AZ,CT,NM,CA,CO,DE,GU,HI,IL</u>.
- 292 Federal Emergency Management Agency. "The National Risk Index." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://web.archive.org/web/20250130002404/https://hazards.fema.gov/nri/.
- 293 State of Vermont. "Vermont Open Geodata Portal." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://geo-data.vermont.gov/</u>.
- 294 National Zoning Atlas. "Explore the Atlas." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.zoningat-las.org/atlas</u>.

- 295 U.S. Department of Agriculture. "The Hatch Act of 1887 (Multistate Research Fund)." Accessed January 16, 2025. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250114170431/https://www.nifa.usda.gov/grants/programs/capacity-grants/hatch-act-1887-multistate-research-fund</u>.
- 296 U.S. Department of Agriculture. "Multi State Research Efforts Focus on Climate Data & Monitoring." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20241128065052/https://</u> www.nifa.usda.gov/about-nifa/impacts/multi-state-research-efforts-focus-climate-data-monitoring.
- 297 California Natural Resources Agency. *Natural and Working Lands Climate Smart Strategy.* April 22, 2022. <u>https://resources.ca.gov/-/media/CNRA-Website/Files/Initiatives/Expand-ing-Nature-Based-Solutions/CNRA-Report-2022---Final_Accessible.pdf</u>
- 298 Territory of Guam, Office of Governor Leon Guerrero. Executive Order 2019-23: Relative to Creating the Guam Green Growth Working Group. September 25, 2019. <u>https://www.guam.gov/wpdev-content/uploads/2019/10/EXECUTIVE-ORDER-2019-23-Relative-to-Creating-the-Guam-Green-Growth-Working-Group.pdf.</u>
- 299 Guam Green Growth Initiative. "G3 Dashboard." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://g3dash-board.guam.gov/.</u>
- 300 Maryland Department of Planning. FY 2023 Annual Report on the Status of Maryland Department of Planning Programs that Support the State's Greenhouse Gas Reduction Efforts or Address Climate Change. 2024. <u>https://dlslibrary.state.md.us/publications/Exec/MDP/EN2-1305(c) 2023.pdf</u>.
- 301 Oregon Department of Transportation. Oregon Statewide Transportation Study: A 2050 Vision for GHG Emissions Reduction. March 20, 2013. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/odot/climate/Documents/Oregon_Statewide_Transportation_Strategy.pdf</u>.
- 302 Oregon Transportation Emissions. "Oregon Transportation Emissions." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.oregontransportationemissions.com/.</u>
- 303 University of Minnesota. "Developing climate resilience metrics for the State of MN." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://climate.umn.edu/MN_resilience_metrics.</u>
- 304 Minnesota Climate Change Subcabinet. Minnesota Climate Action Framework. September 2022. https://climate.state.mn.us/sites/climate-action/files/Climate%20Action%20Framework.pdf
- 305 U.S. Global Change Research Program. Fifth National Climate Assessment. "16. Tribes and Indigenous Peoples." 2023. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20250124212650/https://nca2023.</u> globalchange.gov/chapter/16/.

- 306 State of Minnesota Governor's Office. "Governor Walz Becomes First Governor in State History to Visit All 11 Tribal Nations in Minnesota." November 30, 2023. <u>https://mn.gov/governor/</u> <u>newsroom/press-releases/?id=1055-602015.</u>
- 307 State of Oregon Governor's Office. "Governor Kotek Visits the Cow Creek Band of Umpqua Tribe of Indians." September 24, 2024. <u>https://apps.oregon.gov/oregon-newsroom/OR/GOV/</u> Posts/Post/governor-kotek-visits-the-cow-creek-band-of-umpqua-tribe-of-indians.
- 308 State of California, Office of Governor Newsom. Executive Order N-15-19. June 18, 2019. https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/6.18.19-Executive-Order.pdf.
- 309 California Governor's Office of Tribal Affairs. "California Truth and Healing Council." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://tribalaffairs.ca.gov/cthc/.</u>
- 310 California Natural Resources Agency. "Tribal Nature-Based Solutions Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://resources.ca.gov/Tribal-Nature-Based-Solutions-Program</u>.
- 311 California Strategic Growth Council. "Tribal Capacity Building Pilot Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://sgc.ca.gov/grant-programs/tribal/.</u>
- 312 Washington State Department of Commerce. "Tribal Climate Resilience Program." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://www.commerce.wa.gov/growth-management/climate-planning/ tribal-climate-resilience/.
- 313 State of Minnesota, Office of Governor Dayton. Executive Order 18-08: *Establishing the Governor's Task Force on Wild Rice.* May 30, 2018. <u>https://www.leg.mn.gov/archive/execord-ers/18-08.pdf.</u>
- 314 State of Minnesota, Office of Governor Dayton. Executive Order 18-09: Amending Executive Order 18-08: Establishing the Governor's Task Force on Wild Rice. June 28, 2018. <u>https://</u> www.leg.mn.gov/archive/execorders/18-09.pdf.
- 315 Minnesota Environmental Quality Board. *Governor's Task Force on Wild Rice.* January 2019. https://www.eqb.state.mn.us/sites/eqb/files/documents/FINAL%20Governor%27s%20 Task%20Force%20on%20Wild%20Rice%20Report%20January%203%202019.pdf.
- 316 Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy. "Environmental Justice Projects, Initiatives, and Past Actions." Accessed January 16, 2025. <u>https://www.michigan.gov/</u> egle/about/organization/environmental-justice/projects-initiatives-and-actions.
- 317 Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy. "Michigan Wild Rice Initiative works toward Statewide Tribal-State Manoomin Stewardship Plan as nation's first 'native grain' designation is bestowed." November 20, 2023. https://www.michigan.gov/egle/newsroom/ mi-environment/2023/11/20/michigan-wild-rice-initiative-works-toward-statewide-tribal-state-manoomin-stewardship-plan

- 318 National Fish and Wildlife Foundation. "NFWF Grant Profile." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://www.nfwf.org/grants/grants-library/profile?egid=80251.
- 319 White House Domestic Policy Council. 2023 Progress Report for Tribal Nations. December 2023. https://web.archive.org/web/20241225182644/https://www.bia.gov/sites/default/files/media_document/2023.12.04-tns-progress-report.pdf.
- 320 U.S. Department of Agriculture. *Annual Report on Tribal Co-Stewardship*. December 2023. https://web.archive.org/web/20250117222248/https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/co-stewardship-authorities-november-508.pdf.
- 321 California Strategic Growth Council. "Transformative Climate Communities." Accessed December 7, 2024. https://sgc.ca.gov/grant-programs/tcc/.
- 322 New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. "Community Collaborative Initiative." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://dep.nj.gov/cci/.</u>
- 323 Michaels, Katie and David A. Hindin. 2023. *Building Collaboration among Community Land Trusts Providing Affordable Housing and Conservation Land Trusts Protecting Land for Ecological Value.* Lincoln Institute of Land Policy. <u>https://www.lincolninst.edu/publications/</u> working-papers/building-collaboration-among-community-land-trusts-providing-affordable
- 324 Vermont Housing and Conservation Board. "Building and Conserving Vermont's Future." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://vhcb.org/.</u>
- 325 Michigan Legislature. PA 264. December 30, 2013. <u>https://www.legislature.mi.gov/Bills/Bill?-</u> ObjectName=2013-HB-4996.
- 326 Schneider, Keith. "Priced Out of Housing, Communities Take Development into Their Own Hands." *New York Times*. May 13, 2024. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2024/05/13/business/gen-</u> trifying-neighborhoods-community-coops.html.
- 327 Colorado General Assembly. HB22-1304: State Grants Investments Local Affordable Housing. June 1, 2022. <u>https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/hb22-1304</u>.
- 328 Colorado Department of Local Affairs Division of Local Government "Strong Communities." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://dlg.colorado.gov/strong-communities.</u>
- 329 Colorado Department of Local Affairs Division of Local Government "How to Incorporate Equity, Diversity and Inclusion." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://dlg.colorado.gov/how-to-incorporate-equity-diversity-and-inclusion</u>.
- 330 Minnesota Department of Administration, Office of Collaboration and Dispute Resolution. "Public Engagement." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://mn.gov/admin/ocdr/toolkit/pub-lic-engagement/</u>.

- 331 Minnesota Department of Administration Office of Collaboration and Dispute Resolution. Deliberative Public Engagement Handbook. 2020. <u>https://mn.gov/admin/assets/Delibera-tive%20Public%20Engagement%20Handbook%207-23-2020_tcm36-433979.pdf</u>
- 332 Alagappan, Lakshmi, Sierra Spencer, Jordan Shenhar, Edita Danielyan, Paula Charles. Assessment of Renewable Energy Siting. Energy+Environmental Economics. April 11, 2023. https://www.ethree.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Renewable-Siting-and-Permitting-Policies-E3-04.16.2024.pdf.
- 333 Bassette, Doug, Joseph Rand, Ben Hoen, et. al. 2023. Community Centered Solar Development Case Study Interviews. CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1kc6q6cp</u>.
- 334 Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy. Lessons Learned Community Engagement for Wind Energy Development in Michigan. January 2018. <u>https://www.michigan.gov/egle/-/media/Project/Websites/egle/Documents/Programs/MMD/Energy/communities/Lessons_Learned_WESC_Report_Final.pdf?rev=f14779e351264adf810a5a410748b95f.</u>
- 335 Gomez, Alexsandra and David Morley. 2023. Solar@Scale: A Local Government Guidebook for Improving Large-Scale Solar Development Outcomes. American Planning Association. https://www.planning.org/publications/document/9222548/.
- 336 Washington Governor's Office for Regulatory Innovation and Assistance. "EZView: Housing Images." Accessed December 8, 2024. <u>https://www.ezview.wa.gov/site/alias_1976/37660/</u> housing_images.aspx.
- 337 Vermont Agency of Commerce and Community Development. Vermont Homes for All Toolkit:
 A 'Design & Do' Toolkit for Small-scale Home Builders, Investors, and Community Leaders.
 March 2024. <u>https://outside.vermont.gov/agency/ACCD/ACCD Web Docs/CD/CPR/Planning-Your-Towns-Future/CPR-HOMES-FOR-ALL-TOOLKIT.pdf.</u>
- 338 Colorado Energy Office. *Land Use and Climate Fact Sheet.* 2024. <u>https://drive.google.com/</u> file/d/1LGTFrLTZrpze-Q6WEiQAdXrT3xjJVhT3/view.
- 339 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. "Climate-Friendly and Equitable Communities." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/cl/pages/cfec.aspx</u>.
- 340 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. *Improved Parking Management* and Electric Vehicle Charging. August 5, 2022. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/CL/Documents/</u> <u>OnePagerParkingEVs.pdf.</u>
- 341 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. *More Housing, More business, Lower Costs and Parking Still Supplied: What Happens When Parking Mandates are Reduced.* October 4, 2022. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/CL/Documents/WhatHappensWhen-</u> ParkingMandatesAreReduced.pdf.

- 342 Saint Paul Planning and Economic Development. *Parking Study*. March 19, 2021. <u>https://www.stpaul.gov/sites/default/files/2021-04/Saint-Paul-Parking-Study-Presentation.pdf</u>.
- 343 Wisconsin Department of Health Services. "American Rescue Plan Act: Social Connection." Accessed December 6, 2024. <u>https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/arpa/hcbs-socialconnection.</u> <u>htm.</u>
- 344 Michigan Economic Development Corporation, Community Development Unit. "MiPlace." Accessed December, 7, 2024. <u>https://www.miplace.org/</u>.
- 345 North Carolina Natural Heritage Program. "Natural and Working Lands Action Plan." Accessed December 7, 2024. <u>https://www.ncnhp.org/nwl/natural-and-working-lands</u>.
- 346 National Association of Realtors. National Community and Transportation Preferences Survey. April 2023. <u>https://cdn.nar.realtor//sites/default/files/documents/2023-community-and-trans-portation-preferences-survey-slides-06-20-2023.pdf</u>.
- 347 Rodriguez, Michael A., and Christopher B. Leinberger. Foot Traffic Ahead: Ranking Walkable Urbanism in America's Largest Metros 2023. Washington, D.C.: Smart Growth America and Places Platform, LLC. <u>https://smartgrowthamerica.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Foot-Traffic-Ahead-2023.pdf</u>.
- 348 Horowitz, Alex, and Tushar Kansal. Survey Finds Large Majorities Favor Policies to Enable More Housing. Washington, D.C.: The Pew Charitable Trusts. November 30, 2023. <u>https://pew.org/46CDNxl</u>.
- 349 California Air Resources Board. *2022 Scoping Plan.* "Appendix E Sustainable and Equitable Communities." November 2022. <u>https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/</u> files/2022-11/2022-sp-appendix-e-sustainable-and-equitable-communities.pdf.
- 350 Arizona Office of the Governor Katie Hobbs. Arizona's Extreme Heat Preparedness Plan. March 1, 2024. <u>https://mcusercontent.com/44a5186aac69c13c570fca36a/files/ada1d47f-83f5-4189-d835-1eec1552aeea/2024.03.01</u> Extreme Heat Preparedness Plan.pdf.
- 351 Oregon Legislative Assembly. SB 100. May 29, 1973. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Docu-ments/sb100.pdf.</u>
- 352 State of Vermont. "Act 250 Program & History | Act 250." Accessed December 6, 2024. https:// act250.vermont.gov/act250-program.

